## **Annual Trends Report**

## **GLOBAL DYNAMICS IN A YEAR OF DOMESTIC CONTESTATIONS AND POLITICAL SHIFTS**

foreword by Karim El Aynaoui, Paolo Magri, Samir Saran









Annual Trends Report

## **GLOBAL DYNAMICS** IN A YEAR OF DOMESTIC **CONTESTATIONS AND POLITICAL SHIFTS**







Annual Trends Report Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestations and Political Shifts

ISBN Paperback: 978-81-19656-93-6 ISBN Digital: 978-81-19656-53-0

Edited by ISPI, ORF, and PCNS

Second Edition: December 2024

The opinions expressed herein are strictly personal and do not necessarily reflect the position of ISPI, ORF, and PCNS. This Report is written and published in accordance with the Italian Institute for International Political Studies', the Observer Research Foundation's and the Policy Center for the New South's intellectual property rights.

## **CONTENTS**

Foreword	
Karim El Aynaoui (PCNS), Paolo Magri (ISPI), Samir Saran (ORF)	7
GLOBAL GOVERNANCE	
An Institutional Void in the Era of Global Fragmentation Harsh V Pant (ORF) and Vivek Mishra (ORF)	10
The Universal Benefits of Global Cooperation Antonio Villafranca (ISPI)	13
The Democracy-Autocracy Divide Versus a Global North-Global South Framework Filippo Fasulo (ISPI)	17
The Rise of the Right and a Multilateralism in Flux Shairee Malhotra (ORF)	21
Finding Solutions to the Persistent Debt Challenge of Developing Countries Franco Bruni (ISPI)	25
Global Governance in a Fragmenting World Len Ishmael (PCNS)	29
What's Next for Global Governance? Mohammed Loulichki (PCNS)	33
BRICS+: (Dis)United They Stand Alessia Amighini (ISPI)	37
The Global South and the Risk of a Regressive World Giovanni Grevi (ISPI)	41
<b>A New World Order: Which Multipolarity?</b> Alessandro Colombo <i>(ISPI)</i>	45
The West, Between Competition and Contestation Antonio Missiroli (ISPI)	49

ISPI @RF '





### **SECURITY**

<b>The State of Security Amid New Electoral Outcomes</b> Kartik Bommakanti ( <i>ORF</i> )	53
Security and Geopolitics in the Sahel Abdelhak Bassou (PCNS)	56
Post-Election Changes and Shifts in Global Nuclear Security Shravishtha Ajaykumar (ORF)	60
The Sahel Conundrum: Security, Sovereignty, and Relations with the EU Lucia Ragazzi (ISPI)	64
ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT	
Trade Resilience Amid Rising Protectionism and Trade Wars Lucia Tajoli (ISPI)	69
Global Economies in the Headwinds of Elections Nilanjan Ghosh (ORF)	73
Resisting the Temptation of Industrial Policy: Africa's Strategy in a Shifting World Abdelaaziz Ait Ali (PCNS)	78
Voters Are Out of Patience: Elections and the Global Economy in 2024 Mihir S Sharma (ORF)	83
The Global State of Gender Equality: Elections and Conflicts Take a Toll Sunaina Kumar (ORF)	86
The U.SChina Trade War: Implications for the Global South Hinh T. Dinh (PCNS)	90
Submarine Cables: A Crussial Infractory ature for Clabel Connectivity	

Submarine Cables: A Crucial Infrastructure for Global Conne τινιτγ Ludovica Favarotto (ISPI) and Alessandro Gili (ISPI) 95







### **ENERGY AND CLIMATE CHANGE**

Sabrine Emran (PCNS)	101
Climate Action: The Limits of Democracy Lydia Powell (ORF)	107
The End of 2024: A Revolution in the Energy Arena Massimo Lombardini (ISPI)	111
Energy Transition: Are We on the Right Track? Mounia Boucetta (PCNS)	115
Climate as a Political Issue: A Double-Edged Sword Aparna Roy (ORF)	119
Green Hydrogen: Uniting the Mediterranean or Fuelling Rivalry? Rim Berahab (PCNS)	123
Climate Mitigation and Critical Minerals in an Age of Geo-economic Fragmentation Alberto Prina Cerai (ISPI)	128
Rethinking Global Governance for Climate Migration Mehdi Benomar (PCNS)	133
NEW TECHNOLOGIES AND DIGITAL TRANSITION	
Elections at Risk: The Perils of Online Disinformation Anirban Sarma (ORF)	138
How Artificial Intelligence Will Affect the Economy Otaviano Canuto (PCNS)	142
Securing Elections in the Digital Age Sameer Patil (ORF)	145







## Foreword

In 2024, two devastating conflicts intensified: the war in Ukraine, and the escalating crisis in Gaza. In Ukraine, the conflict reshaped global alliances, with NATO reclaiming a pivotal role as Europe reexamined and bolstered its defence and security strategies. In the Middle East, the crisis in Gaza expanded to involve Lebanon, exacerbating an already dire humanitarian situation as blockades and military operations worsened civilian suffering. Both conflicts underscored the fragility of international norms, the challenges to achieving lasting resolutions, and the interplay between local grievances and broader geopolitical rivalries. Together, they emphasise the urgent need for diplomatic engagement, humanitarian relief, and sustainable frameworks for peace.

The year also marked the largest election year in modern history, with millions of people across Africa, Asia, Europe, and the Americas going to the polls to elect their representatives and leaders. In Latin America, at least six countries have voted in 2024, while in Africa, nearly 17 nations have already held or are about to hold elections at the time of writing.

In the African continent, these high-stakes elections have been accompanied by a troubling resurgence of military coups. While some nations achieved peaceful democratic transitions, others grappled with contested outcomes and coups d'état amid ongoing security crises, economic hardships, and climate challenges.

In India, home to the world's largest electorate, the elections resulted in a broad continuity of leadership, albeit with a diminished mandate for the ruling party. In neighbouring Bangladesh, widespread post-poll protests overthrew Sheikh Hasina's regime and upended the country's stability. In the United Kingdom, elections ended 14 years of Conservative reign and brought the centre-left Labour Party to power. In France, the elections resulted in a closely contested outcome, leaving the ruling government with a fragile parliamentary majority and the daunting task of navigating a fragmented political landscape.

Meanwhile, Donald Trump's decisive election victory in the United States threatens to undermine multilateral governance structures that are already under immense strain. Just as the US election results poured in, Germany's coalition government collapsed, leaving a complex political situation that will likely take months to resolve. As the West looked on, the expanded BRICS grouping, fraught with internal divisions, held its 16th summit in October. Amid these shifts, regional actors are stepping in to reshape global governance by addressing critical gaps, both nationally and collectively. Morocco's Atlantic initiatives and Africa's broader cooperation schemes exemplify the rising impact of complementary frameworks in driving innovative solutions to global challenges.

Such domestic shifts will impact policymaking across the globe, in areas ranging from climate change to trade and security policy. With protectionist tendencies in vogue and the imposition of tariffs dominating the economic toolkits of nations, new leaderships are slated to recalibrate trade policies. At the same time, key global actors such as India, the US, and the EU are working to reduce their dependencies on the Chinese market. In Europe, far-right surges are impacting mainstream parties, which are tempted to adopt parts of the far-right agenda to appeal to voters, in the process potentially compromising sections of the ambitious European Green Deal. The advent of digital technologies,

while increasing citizen engagement, has also exacerbated the threat of disinformation undermining elections. Meanwhile, migration remains a pivotal issue for many regions, including Europe and Africa, frequently used as a convenient scapegoat for deeper socio-economic and political challenges as countries navigate the complex implications.

Against this challenging global backdrop, the Italian Institute for International Political Studies (ISPI, Italy), the Observer Research Foundation (ORF, India), and the Policy Center for the New South (PCNS, Morocco) combined their efforts to produce the second edition of their *Annual Trends Report.* This report, framed in the overarching theme of 'Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestation and Political Shifts', aims to encapsulate the consequences of electoral outcomes and domestic contestations and what these might mean for the delivery of key global public goods—whether combating trends of disinformation, bringing peace in Ukraine and Gaza, advancing global climate action, or pursuing economic growth.

This edition divides these global public goods into five areas: global governance; security; economy and development; energy and climate change; and new technologies and digital transition. Each of these policy areas is examined by scholars from the three institutes, offering their diverse perspectives from three different continents. As countries adapt to fresh domestic (and global) realities, it is our hope that this collaborative effort will shed light on how political shifts across continents are impacting key policy areas, and enable policymakers to better navigate and prepare for their impact.

On a broader note, the ISPI-ORF-PCNS tripartite initiative aims to propose solutions to pressing global challenges through joint research, strategic deliberations, and engagement, supported by the pooled expertise of over 400 experts across three continents. To this end, our partnership involves a range of initiatives, from cooperation during our Flagship Forums to annual inter-staff dialogues and Young Fellows Exchange Programs that aim to shape the leaders of tomorrow.

In a world beset by divisions and competition, we hope that our effort epitomises a revival of international collaboration and connection.

We extend our deepest gratitude to Dr. Harsh V. Pant, Vice President, Studies and Foreign Policy at ORF and to Antonio Villafranca, Vice President for Research at ISPI for their scientific leads on the first two editions of this report. We also thank Shairee Malhotra, Deputy Director, Strategic Studies Programme at ORF, for her critical contribution and Oussama Tayebi and Nassim Hajouji at PCNS and Matteo Villa at ISPI for their vital efforts in coordinating the 2024 edition. This report reflects the strength of our partnership and shared mission.

Karim El Aynaoui, Executive President, Policy Center for the New South Paolo Magri, Managing Director and President Advisory Board, Italian Institute for International Political Studies Samir Saran, President, Observer Research Foundation



# Global Governance

## SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



## An Institutional Void in the Era of Global Fragmentation

by Harsh V Pant, Vivek Mishra

Getty Images/Bruce Yuanyue Bi

he year 2024 has been pivotal for global governance, with elections being held in a number of countries, including India, Indonesia, Taiwan, Bangladesh, Russia, the United States (US), and the European Union (EU).<sup>1</sup> As the world grapples with both shifts and continuities in leaders, the question of a cohesive, universally accepted global governance framework looms large. While there is rising expectation of a global governance architecture that bridges the divide between the Global North and the Global South, gaps remain in the fundamental principles required to shape such a system. Three central issues impede the progress of reform in global governance, rendering the process more complex and fragmented than ever.

#### Institutional Roadblocks

At the heart of the debate on global governance is the issue of institutional reform. Calls for reform, particularly of the United Nations Security Council (UNSC), have intensified as emerging powers from the Global South demand greater representation.<sup>2</sup> The UNSC continues to be dominated by the P5 nations— China, France, Russia, the United Kingdome (UK), and the US—each holding veto power that stymies reform.

Representation at the UNSC has become symbolic of the power imbalance between the Global North and Global South. The current structure perpetuates a power apartheid, whereby a select group of nations is in control. Until this imbalance is addressed through institutional reform, the legitimacy of the global governance system will continue to be questioned, widening the divide between the developed and developing worlds. Countries such as India are now questioning the very credibility of an institutional order whose foundation was laid in 1945 in the absence of adequate representation.

#### **Geopolitical Conflicts**

The trajectory of global governance was irreversibly disrupted when the Russia-Ukraine war started in February 2022 and became more acute when the war in the Middle East broke out in October 2023. As these conflicts persist, the world is drifting farther away from reaching a consensus over universally agreed principles for a global governance framework. Both conflicts have proven to be divisive on issues of economics, trade, sanctions, security, and sovereignty.<sup>3</sup> Despite 2024 being the year of elections, external disturbances have pushed countries into opposing camps, with each side further solidifying their positions on ideas of governance.

#### **Inward Orientation**

A key development in recent years has been the growing inward focus of the West. The US and several European nations are preoccupied with internal economic recalibration, especially in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, energy crises, and inflationary pressures. The war in Ukraine has further strained resources and attention, diverting the West's focus towards its immediate geopolitical concerns, particularly in Europe. Transatlantic solidarity against Russia, while successful in deterring further aggression, has not yielded a cohesive strategy for global governance reform. Western nations are also increasingly wary of China's rising influence. The West's reluctance to push for substantial reforms in global governance is also partly driven by this perceived antagonism from China, which has distanced itself from Western-led governance structures that it views as a threat to its own political and economic model, which are often diametrically opposed to those of Western democracies.<sup>4</sup>

This inward orientation of the West, coupled with China's disinterest in adhering to Western norms, has created a vacuum in leadership on global governance. This inward turn has widened the chasm between the developed world and the Global South, where demands



for greater representation and voice continue to grow.

#### A Glimmer of Hope

The numerous elections in 2024 could have set the tone for a more united approach to global governance; however, the divide has only deepened with external disturbances. The notion of a common set of rules and norms has become increasingly distant, with geopolitical conflicts amplifying differences in governance models, economic strategies, and security policies.

In the face of these challenges, reformed multilateralism, championed by nations like India, offers a glimmer of hope. At its core, reformed multilateralism seeks to balance the interests of the developed and developing world, ensuring that governance structures are reflective of contemporary geopolitical and economic realities. As a non-expansive state with no vested interests in territorial aggrandisement, India has positioned itself as a neutral actor, advocating for a more inclusive and equitable global governance framework. This involves expanding decision-making structures, removing institutional biases, and ensuring fair representation for both the Global North and Global South. India's leadership in forums like the G20 and BRICS highlights its commitment to a reformed global governance architecture.<sup>5</sup> The challenge for New Delhi now is to convince others of the soundness of its proposals.

- United Nations Development Program, "A 'Super Year' for Elections," https://www.undp.org/superyear-elections
- 2. Harsh V Pant and Chirayu Thakkar, "Strengthening Global Rule-Making: India's Inclusion in the UN Security Council," Observer Research Foundation, October 12, 2021, https://www.orfonline.org/ research/strengthening-global-rule-making
- Liz Sly, "A Global Divide on the Ukraine War is Deepening," *The Washington Post*, February 22, 2023, https://www.washingtonpost.com/ world/2023/02/22/global-south-russia-wardivided/
- 4. U.S. Department of State, "Reforming the UN Security Council with Ambassador Linda Thomas-Greenfield," September 18, 2024, https://www.state. gov/briefings-foreign-press-centers/unga79/ reforming-the-un-security-council
- Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India, "Kazan Declaration: "Strengthening Multilateralism for Just Global Development and Security"," October 23, 2024.

## SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



### The Universal Benefits of Global Cooperation

by Antonio Villafranca

Getty Images/honglouwawa

ust a few years ago, as the COVID-19 pandemic hit the world, there was a narrow window of time during which observers thought that global governance could be finally resurrected. After the global fiscal stimulus of 2009-2010 that supported world recovery in the midst of the worst financial crisis since the Great Depression of the 1930s, global leaders were once more confronted with a global challenge requiring joint action. In 2020, G20 countries were able to agree on the Debt Service Suspension Initiative,<sup>1</sup> creating breathing room for many heavily indebted poor countries. The next year, they also agreed in principle to a minimum global corporate tax of 15 percent, and to reallocate to developing countries US\$100 billion out of the US\$650 billion in Special Drawing Rights (SDRs) issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to address



COVID-19's economic fallout.<sup>2</sup> To be sure, while all this was not a game-changer, it was a good starting point.

Fast forward to today: that window of opportunity seems to have closed. The wars in Ukraine and Gaza are examples of a world of international crises and disunity, if not of outright (albeit indirect) clashes among global powers. Their behaviour has diverged markedly, as the Ukraine invasion pitted Russia against the West, while the Israel-Hamas war and its related escalation showed the utter ineffectiveness of international peace and mediation efforts, wherever they came from. Meanwhile, US-China tensions have escalated around trade and the Taiwan question. It would be difficult to find a global issue-be it debt renegotiations or the fight against climate change-which has been resolved in the postpandemic era, as the world returns to disunity and struggles to advance even on technical matters.

All this is fuelling the perception of a world divided into blocs, reminiscent of Cold War-era tensions that were thought to have been definitively left behind. It is only natural, then, that experts and policymakers have been ringing the alarm bells, warning that the situation could lead to the end of globalisation as we know it, and to the emergence of a new era of fragmentation, economy increasingly with the global rearranged along political divides: the Global North (the US, the EU and their allies), on one side, and the Global South on the other.

## The Decline of Globalisation and Multilateralism

As the global race for technology and industrial leadership intensifies, global value chains are being rearranged. In the US, one of the Biden Administration's final acts was to significantly increase tariffs on select Chinese goods, such as electric vehicles (from 25 to 100 percent), semiconductors and solar panels (both doubling from 25 to 50 percent) by 2024.3 However, trade tensions are not just confined to the US and China. According to the World Trade Organization's (WTO) Global Trade Alert, the number of harmful interventions on global trade adopted by countries worldwide has tripled in just the last five years, and 2024 is set to break last year's record by passing the 3,000 mark (a world average of 15 new harmful policies per country).<sup>4</sup>

Other multilateral efforts are also undergoing a period of crisis. Over the past decade, rather than increasing funds to the World Bank, China and other developing countries have created new parallel institutions, such as the BRICS's New Development Bank and the Contingent Reserve Arrangement. While some of their development efforts might be complementary to those of the World Bank, the risk of duplication is higher; common development efforts could also be hijacked by these entities. On climate change, the situation seems even more paradoxical: even as energy transition costs continue decreasing year after year, tensions between the Global North and China risk multiplying them (due to increased tariffs on solar panels, wind turbines, and batteries). The same tensions also shrink the space for compromise at the annual Conference of the Parties (COP) gatherings of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).

Yet, are these trends definitive evidence of the decline of globalisation and multilateralism? It would be vital to first recall the high degree of interdependence that still exists among economic blocs. Indeed, although globalisation has slowed, the share of world exports over gross domestic product (GDP) has not crashed, but has remained stable at around 30 percent since 2005.5 After all, several factors bind the Global North and the Global South together. The North still controls the monetary system through the US dollar, operates the SWIFT payments system, and (at least partly) controls the market for transport and insurance services, while also maintaining a technological edge in sectors such as semiconductors and artificial intelligence (AI). At the same time, the Global South is also a world powerhouse in terms of investment and industrial production, and owns many assets-from energy to critical materialsthat are essential to the world economy, and particularly to the North.

#### A Matter of Political Will

In a world where all actors recognise the benefits of and need for fair and wellfunctioning global governance, globalisation should not be doomed to fade. In light of such a high degree of interdependence, it should be in everyone's interest to make it work. With this aim, dialogue between the Global South and the North should be maintained and possibly enhanced. The dialogue should continue even if there is rising economic competition, which may well provide more and more sources for tensions in coming years if compared to the past, when the narrative of a "peaceful rise" of certain nations could still hold. To preserve global trade, policymakers should at least try to limit "trade wars" to small, truly strategic sectors (perhaps nascent ones, or those with higher value-add) rather than targeting broader categories of goods.

The G20 can also play a role in rekindling cooperation. international Despite its shortcomings and internal divisions, the G20 is still the only forum that can help the world's big powers look for a lowest common denominator on technical matters, and monitor effective implementation. The very fact that three key countries from the Global South (India, Brazil, and South Africa) are consecutively holding the G20 presidency from 2023 to 2025 offers an opportunity to reduce geopolitical fragmentation and bridge the gap between the North and the South.

In the end, it is largely a matter of political will. If international actors would want it, interdependence can continue to serve as the glue that holds together the complex pieces of today's global puzzle. At least a



limited form of multilateralism must survive, as interdependence becomes almost impossible without it. In conclusion, while the storms of recent years have not yet passed, there is still widespread international recognition that navigating towards calmer waters is in everyone's best interest.

- World Bank, "Debt Service Suspension Initiative," March 10, 2022, https://www.worldbank.org/ en/topic/debt/brief/covid-19-debt-servicesuspension-initiative
- "Global Minimum Corporate Tax Deal 'Dramatically Weakened' by Loopholes, Report Warns," World Economic Forum, October 25, 2023, https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2023/10/global-minimumcorporate-tax-deal-loopholes.
- "Fact Sheet: President Biden Takes Action to Protect American Workers and Businesses from China's Unfair Trade Practices," The White House, May 14, 2024, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2024/05/14/fact-sheetpresident-biden-takes-action-to-protect-americanworkers-and-businesses-from-chinas-unfair-tradepractices/.
- Global Trade Alert, "Total Number of Implemented Interventions Since November 2008," 2024, https:// www.globaltradealert.org/global\_dynamics/dayto\_0913.
- World Bank, "Exports of Goods and Services (% of GDP)," 2023, https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ NE.EXP.GNFS.ZS?end=2023&start=2000&view=chart.

## ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



Getty Images/Dan Kitwood

### The Democracy-Autocracy Divide Versus a Global North-Global South Framework

by Filippo Fasulo

Good previous narrative that divided the world into democracies and autocracies.

Two breaking points have led to the current situation. The first occurred between late 2017 and early 2018 when Chinese President Xi Jinping centralised power, consolidated during the 19th Congress of the Chinese Communist Party and through a constitutional amendment that abolished term limits for the presidency. Shortly afterward, the Trump administration in the US initiated a trade war, which continues



to affect China-US relations to this day. This period crystallised two key elements: the end of the illusion that China might evolve into a liberal democracy, and the use of the economy as a political tool. Thus, economic decoupling and economic security became pillars of US and European Union relations with China, linked to the need to reduce exposure to a non-democratic country. In the Western view, the type of political system took on a decisive role in shaping the global order.

The second breaking point occurred with Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022. This event forced states to take a firm stance, polarising the world between supporters of Russia and those of Ukraine, with Beijing ambiguously aligning itself with Moscow. This polarisation did not emerge overnight but developed over time.

### The Global South as an Alternative Framework

While China had sought to build alliances through the Belt and Road Initiative, the US promoted the Indo-Pacific concept. This strategy includes military alliances like the Quad and AUKUS, and economic agreements like the Indo-Pacific Economic Framework (IPEF). At the same time, in December 2021, the Biden administration organised the Summit for Democracy to consolidate a common front against autocracies, with China and Russia as the primary targets, in line with a worldview based on democratic principles. In this sense, the proximity between the autocracies in Beijing and Moscow became evident just before the invasion, with the famous statement on the "no-limits friendship" between Xi and Russian President Vladimir Putin. This event complicated China's position, risking international isolation in the early months of the war, partly exacerbated by Xi's absence from the global diplomatic stage due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

However. China's isolation was short-lived: in June 2022, the country hosted the virtual 15th BRICS summit, where a consensus was reached to expand the group, signalling that many countries wanted to distance themselves from the West without openly siding with Russia or China. The BRICS expansion, involving countries from multiple continents (Ethiopia, Egypt, Iran, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates), represented a show of support for Russia and China and highlighted the challenge of categorising the world along the democracy-autocracy divide. Instead. a Global North/Global South fault line emerged as an alternative framework for interpreting global divisions.

## The End of the Democracy-Autocracy Divide?

This categorisation is far more appealing than the democracy-versus-autocracy narrative, partly because an increasingly diminishing number of countries can fully identify as democracies. For instance, the US seeks allies through Quad, AUKUS, and IPEF, but many of the countries involved are not true democracies. South Korea and the Philippines participated in the Summits for Democracy, but countries like Malaysia and Indonesia, officially democratic, did not attend due to internal political tensions. Other key countries in the region, such as Vietnam and Thailand, are not democracies, and Singapore, although allied with the West, does not qualify as a liberal democracy. This weakness in the concept of 'democracy' as a defining element in the West's confrontation with China and Russia has prompted a broader reflection on the state of the international order. The US aspires to a world with more democracies, but the reality is more complex. China has even responded with its own model of democracy, outlined in the document 'Democracy that Works', which criticises Western liberal democracy and highlights the Chinese model's success in improving people's economic conditions. Beijing asserts that every country has the right to follow its own democratic path, rejecting the notion that the US can serve as the world's "guardian" of democracy. This message resonates widely outside Europe and North America.

However, China has not merely contested the Western concept of democracy. Reviving the idea of the Global South at the 2022 BRICS Summit has offered a more attractive alternative framework for interpreting global politics. The Global South is not just a geographical expression but represents a challenge to the international system dominated by Western powers. The Global South thus becomes a platform for emerging countries that seek to reshape their role in global governance and have no interest in replicating Western political and economic models internally. Countries like India, while maintaining ties with the West, find in this definition a political identity and an opportunity to reaffirm their position on the international stage.

The Global South thus emerges as a more inclusive alternative for those countries that feel excluded from the current international political and economic order. Russia and China play a unique role: although they cannot be considered outsiders in global governance-given their participation in global forums like the United Nations Security Council-they position themselves as champions of an alternative order. Their proposal for a new world order, accelerated by the war in Ukraine, resonates with many emerging countries seeking a more prominent role internationally. The success of interpreting the world along the Global North-Global South fault line is thus also the story of the failure of the democracy-autocracy divide as a critical interpretative framework.



- Bureau of Democracy, Human rights, and Labor, U.S. Department of State, "Declaration of the Summit for Democracy," March 29, 2023, https://www.state.gov/ declaration-of-the-summit-for-democracy-2023/; Samantha Power, "How Democracy Can Win: The Right Way to Counter Autocracy," *Foreign Affairs*, February 16, 2023, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/ united-states/samantha-power-how-democracycan-win-counter-autocracy
- 2. U.S. Department of State, "The Summit for Democracy," https://www.state.gov/summit-fordemocracy/
- 3. Official Internet Resources of the President of Russia, "Joint Statement of the Russian Federation and the People's Republic of China on the International Relations Entering a New Era and the Global Sustainable Development," February 4, 2022, http://en.kremlin.ru/supplement/5770
- 4. Piotr M. Kaczynski, "This is Not a War Between Democracy and Autocracy," *Euractiv*, February 14, 2023, https://www.euractiv.com/section/china/ opinion/this-is-not-a-war-between-democracyand-autocracy/
- State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China, "China: Democracy That Works," *Xinhua*, December 4, 2021, http://www.news.cn/ english/2021-12/04/c\_1310351231.htm
- Shada Islam, "The Global South is a Geopolitical Reality," *Internationale Politik Quarterly*, June 29, 2023, https://ip-quarterly.com/en/global-southgeopolitical-reality

## ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



The Rise of the Right and a Multilateralism in Flux

by Shairee Malhotra

Patriots for Europe/X

n various parts of the globe, right-wing and far-right parties are either leading governments, are part of coalition governments, or are propping up governments in power. This phenomenon is posing challenges to the multilateral system, which is already under immense strain from greatpower competition, military conflicts, and outdated governance structures.

Tides of populism and nationalism in democracies are challenging the view that democracies are more favourably disposed to multilateral cooperation,<sup>1</sup> with democratic governments that include populist rightward participation increasingly retreating from international spaces.



The most apparent case is that of newly elected United States (US) President Donald Trump, whose unilateralist tendencies and 'America First' policies from his first term global governance disrupted structures. Trump withdrew the US, once a bulwark of the multilateral order, from the World Health Organization (WHO), and relentlessly Northern the Atlantic criticised Treaty Organization (NATO) for the failures of member states to meet their financial obligations. While President Joe Biden reversed some of these decisions, the damage caused to global institutions by US disengagement or conditional engagement persists. Trump's second presidency augurs a bleak outlook for multilateral cooperation. Taking a cue from the US as well as from Hungary's rightwing Prime Minister Viktor Orban, former Austrian Chancellor Sebastian Kurz's coalition government-which included the far-right Freedom House Party that won in Austria's national elections in September 2024withdrew from the UN's Global Compact for Migration in 2018.<sup>2</sup>

The political right is also notorious for its rejection or dilution of global efforts against climate change. Trump, within six months of assuming office in 2017, referred to climate change as a "hoax" and announced US withdrawal from the Paris Agreement. Even before the ascent of far-right parties such the European Conservatives and as Reformists (ECR) in the European Parliament elections in July 2024, and the subsequent creation of the Patriots for Europe (PfE) group, parts of the European Green Deal were diluted with mainstream parties such as Commission President Ursula von der Leyen's European People's Party co-opting far-right positions to appeal to voters.<sup>2</sup> In member states like France, proposals by Marine Le Pen's far-right Rassemblement National to end subsidies for renewable energies, particularly wind turbines, have been criticised as environmental backsliding.<sup>4</sup> While supporting the wider energy transition and not talking of withdrawing from the Paris Agreement, Le Pen believes that the transition "must be much slower than what is being imposed on the French."<sup>5</sup>

In the case of regional institutions, contempt towards the European Union (EU)-which is perceived as an elitist supranational entity infringing on the sovereignty of member states through its integration project-has resulted in using the EU as a scapegoat for the problems of mass migration and financial crises confronting member states. Studies analysing the far-right's approach to global governance find that far-right parties rarely exit or fully disengage from multilateral institutions, instead choosing methods such as criticism, obstruction, and extortion to project their populist ideas to domestic audiences and manoeuvre institutions to serve their interests.<sup>6</sup> A key example is Orban, whose mission is to undermine the EU from within, rather than exit it, by strategically obstructing European policies such as military support to Ukraine and Sweden's accession to NATO. The woes of post-Brexit Britain have encouraged Eurosceptics to adopt this approach.

The rise of the right has also led to a declining commitment to multilateral development policies. This is evident in Sweden, where gains made by the far-right Swedish Democrats (SD) in general elections in 2022 were followed by announcements to cut Sweden's development aid budget and reduce financial support for the UN in favour of civil society collaboration.<sup>7</sup> A report revealed that governments that include far-right parties end up reducing their voluntary earmarked contributions to International Organisations (IOs) by an estimated 30 percent.<sup>8</sup>

Research from the Albert Hirschman Centre on Democracy suggests that far-right parties engage in "multilateralism à la carte", i.e., cherrypicking what suits them and then attaching conditions.9 Analysts also describe how rightwing populists, who blame globalisation for many societal ills, blur the lines between globalisation and multilateralism and use the two concepts interchangeably despite their distinctions.<sup>10</sup> In most cases, however, liberal and universalist ethos the of multilateral organisations clashes with the far-right's insular agenda and ideals of nationalism. It is no surprise then that in Germany, supporters of the far-right Alternative for Deutschland (AfD) party, which made significant gains in recent state elections in Brandenburg, Thuringia, and Saxony in East Germany, constitute the bulk of people that are against international cooperation.<sup>11</sup> In France, 27 percent and 22 percent of these are supporters of the right-wing Les Républicains and far-right Rassemblement National.<sup>12</sup> The damage caused by the far-right's confrontational, hostile, and revisionist rhetoric dilutes trust in multilateral systems that are in turn met with skepticism and suspicion.

Meanwhile, a notable exception is India. Despite having a right wing government at its helm, it has led calls for a "reformed multilateralism" that is fit for the 21<sup>st</sup> century and remains amongst the staunchest proponents of multilateralism globally.

Contemporary global challenges such as climate change, pandemics, and achieving the UN Sustainable Development Goals necessitate a spirit of universalism, solidarity, and cooperation—values that are the antithesis of the far-right approach, which prioritises unilateralism over multilateralism and the national over the global.

In an interconnected world and amid a political landscape increasingly dominated by the right, the proliferation of far-right ideas must be effectively addressed with alternative moderate propositions. Otherwise, multilateralism and global governance may continue on their path of regression.



- Reinhold Brender, "In Danger of Falling Short: The EU, the Global South, and the Reform of Multilateralism," Egmont Royal Institute for International Relations, February 2024, https:// www.egmontinstitute.be/app/uploads/2024/02/ Reinhold-Brender\_Paper\_127\_vFinal.pdf?type=pdf
- "Austria to Withdraw from UN Migration Treaty," Deutsche Welle, October 31, 2018, https://www. dw.com/en/austria-to-withdraw-from-unmigration-treaty/a-46097012
- 3. Shairee Malhotra, "The Fate of the European Green Deal," Observer Research Foundation, June 8, 2024, https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/thefate-of-the-european-green-deal#:~:text=With%20 the%202024%20European%20Parliament,the%20 hottest%20year%20on%20record
- 4. Laurent Hubert and Jean-Noël Geist, "Why Marine Le Pen's Environmental Agenda is Greenwashing," *Euronews*, April 22, 2022, https://www.euronews. com/green/2022/04/22/why-marine-le-pen-senvironmental-agenda-is-greenwashing
- 5. Audrey Garric, "Macron and Le Pen Lay Out Starkly Different Visions on Climate Change," *Le Monde*, April 21, 2022, https://www.lemonde.fr/en/2022presidential-election/article/2022/04/21/macronand-le-pen-lay-out-starkly-different-visions-onclimate-change\_5981229\_16.html
- Agnese Pacciardi et al, "Beyond Exit: How Populist Governments Disengage from International Institutions," International Affairs 100, no. 5 (2024), https://academic.oup.com/ia/ article/100/5/2025/7750280
- 7. Anthony Dworkin, "Multilateral Development in Flux: Strengthening European Cooperation with the Global South," European Council on Foreign Relations, November 22, 2023, https://ecfr.eu/ publication/multilateral-development-in-fluxstrengthening-european-cooperation-with-theglobal-south/

- Alexandros Tokhi and Lisbeth Zimmermann, "The Far Right and International Organizations: How the Far Right in Government Affects Foreign Aid Funding," Goethe University Frankfurt am Main, June 9, 2024, https://www.peio.me/wp-content/uploads/ PEIO16/submission\_128.pdf
- 9. Michelle Langrand, "Should the UN Be Worried About the Rise of the Far Right?," *Geneva Solutions*, July 8, 2024, https://genevasolutions.news/globalnews/should-the-un-be-worried-about-the-rise-ofthe-far-right
- Kemal Derviş and Sebastian Strauss, "Multilateralism for the Masses," *Brookings Institution*, September 9, 2020, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/ multilateralism-for-the-masses/
- 11. Michel Duclos, "France, Germany and Multilateralism Survey by Institut Montaigne and Körber-Stiftung," *Institut Montaigne*, June 12, 2019, https://www. institutmontaigne.org/en/expressions/francegermany-and-multilateralism
- Duclos, "France, Germany and Multilateralism Survey by Institut Montaigne and Körber-Stiftung"

### SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



### Finding Solutions to the Persistent Debt Challenge of Developing Countries

by Franco Bruni

Getty Images/Stefani Reynolds

uring 2024, wars, mounting geopolitical tensions, and domestic disagreements on foreign policies in the United States (US) and Europe, have caused increasing divisions and weaknesses in global governance. Following the pandemic shock, the world showed a promising new attention to global public goods; plans were discussed to manage excessive inequalities and climatedemographic-health-energy-technological epochal transitions.1 In 2023-2024, however, this attention substantially decreased, and it now needs a dramatic comeback. To cope with global problems, new diplomatic paths are needed for an improved global governance. The crucial step is moving-at least a few steps-towards true multilateralism.



### The Global South and the Rest

The growing diplomatic profile of the Global South could be helpful for approaching this target. Global South countries could interpose themselves to weaken the hostile US-China bipolar competition that blocks efforts to tackle global problems, including bloody and illogical wars. The European Union (EU), while preserving its strong alliance with the US, could exploit its measured strategic autonomy to act as a broker to engineer convergences between the US, China, and the Global South countries. The latter are indispensable building blocks for any format of global multilateral governance.

Among the first issues in this effort convergence the unsustainable of is indebtedness of а large number of developing and poor countries. The EU should join the Global South in stressing the urgency of the debt problem, finding the right diplomatic and technical pathways towards lasting solutions and spreading the evidence that all countries, including creditors, could benefit from it, at least in the medium term. Successes on this front could foster further steps towards reforming global governance with gradual but genuine multilateralism.

Public debt servicing costs have risen substantially since the pre-pandemic years. New indebtedness, including those related to COVID-19 response, is one cause, together with increases in 'Western' anti-inflation interest rates. West Asian and North-African countries' debt servicing costs jumped from an average of around 0.5 percent of GDP, during the 10 years preceding the pandemic, to nearly 2 percent in 2024. In South Asian countries, the increase was from less than 2 percent to around 3 percent, and in Sub-Saharan Africa, from 1 percent to over 2 percent.<sup>2</sup> According to the World Bank's June 2023 *Global Economic Prospects*, about half of the world's poorest countries are either in debt distress or at a high risk of distress. Debt service costs also limit the possibility for many countries to finance their development goals and climate action.

The G20 has been active on the issue; however, its promising Common Framework for Debt Treatments<sup>3</sup> has turned out to be a disappointing slow mover due to technical and political difficulties in coordinating different group of lenders, coupled with particular difficulties with China's credits. Various ideas have been developed by scholars, the IMF-World Bank, groups of debtor countries, Global South countries, and the G20 itself, overcome obstacles, to including reregulations of western securities markets where debts are issued and traded.<sup>4</sup> New rounds of diplomatic efforts could bring encouraging results. The EU and the Global South could join forces to place the debt problem at the centre of new proposals and debates towards the multilateral reform of global governance.

#### Dealing with Global Debt

Any solution to limit future excesses in debt should start from a recognition that for both borrowers and lenders, the incentives encourage overborrowing and overlending. The benefits from borrowing appear immediate to governments, while the costs of servicing the debts appear in the medium term, creating an incentive to overborrow. Lenders over-lend because thev can immediately cash the profitability of their loans, while the risks of default are in the medium to long term. Moreover, IMF-guided debt distress solutions tend to overprotect lenders' interests. To correct this incentive structure, measures could be taken that will also help with the legacy problem by benefitting the sustainability of existing debts.

In particular, two general lines of action could be useful: strengthening domestic fiscal rules of debtor countries and enhancing transparency of debt transactions, so that all the details of debt agreements are well explained, and the public, the markets, and voters are aware of what is being promised, and can evaluate the costs and benefits both debts and their repayment of schedules and conditions. The IMF and other international institutions should exert more pressure to obtain improvements in these directions. The United Nations has also recommended improving debt sustainability analyses and make them more publicly available. Transparency could also be enhanced by encouraging reforms of the assessment methods credit of rating agencies and a deeper disclosure of their methodologies. More credible ratings could limit overlending and discourage overborrowing as well.

To deal with the legacy of existing overindebtedness, a number of innovations can be considered-in addition to new bilateral multilateral concessional and financial supports-to improve debt restructuring and rescheduling opportunities that should also involve, in a well-coordinated way, China's credits. A radical measure would be to create a sovereign debt authority and a sovereign insolvency system, as proposed by IMF's Anne Krueger in 2002, when the unbeatable opposition was mainly from the US. The radical measure is still premature and will only follow future substantial improvements of the multilateral global governance of international financial institutions. In the meantime. new coordinated leaislations could encourage private creditor participation in debt workouts, codifying the duties of creditors to cooperate in debt restructuring, enhancing collective action mechanisms, immunising sovereign debtors' assets from seizure when the debtor is involved in an orderly debt restructuring process, and subsidising and facilitating assets swaps where existing credits can be transformed desirable in globally ways such as rechannelling funds towards the financing of climate actions.

Listing technical ideas and potential diplomatic initiatives to find a serious cure to the global debt problem can be a long exercise. However, given the current state of international relations, genuine progress can be easier to obtain if that cure is undertaken



as one of the initial steps on a path towards reshaping global governance in a truly multilateral way. Strong and smart cooperation in this effort between the EU and Global South countries could be helpful in overcoming hostilities and divisions among other geopolitical protagonists.

- Presidency of the Council of Ministers, Italian Government, "G20 Rome Leaders' Declaration," October 31, 2021, https://www.governo.it/sites/ governo.it/files/G20ROMELEADERSDECLARATION. pdf; The White House, "G20 Bali Leaders' Declaration," November 15-16, 2022; Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India, "G20 New Delhi Leaders' Declaration," September 9-10, 2023.
- 2. World Bank, *Global Economic Prospects*, June 2024, Washington DC, World Bank Group, 2024.
- 3. Italian Government, "The Common Framework for Debt Treatment Beyond the DSSI," https://www.mef. gov.it/en/G20-Italy/common-framework.html
- World Bank, International Debt Report 2023, December 2023, Washington DC, World Bank Group, 2023, https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ entities/publication/02225002-395f-464a-8e13-2acfca05e8f0

### ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



Getty Images/VCG

## Global Governance in a Fragmenting World

by Len Ishmael

he UN General Assembly's 79<sup>th</sup> Session in September 2024 dispelled any doubts about the sharp divisions between the West and the Global South, as leaders from Latin America, the Caribbean, Asia, Africa, and the Middle East denounced the current state of wars, the indiscriminate destruction of civilian lives and property, and the flagrant disregard for international law. Referring to the wars in Gaza and Ukraine, they spoke of Western double standards, hypocrisy, and the erosion of trust. They pointed to a crisis in global governance and leadership and the growing challenges to multilateralism and sounded urgent appeals for ceasefires to secure humanitarian corridors, and the pursuit of diplomacy as a pathway to peace.

**Len Ishmael** is Senior Fellow at the PCNS, as well as an author and professor. She frequently speaks on international platforms about geopolitics and the Global South.



Even as Western leaders spoke of diplomatic efforts to de-escalate tensions in the Middle East, the war in Gaza was exploding on multiple fronts in Lebanon, Yemen, and Iran, highlighting the stark disconnect between rhetoric and reality. While Iran has spoken of a resuscitation of its nuclear diplomacy and rapprochement with the West,<sup>1</sup> a push to rebalance power relations in the Middle East is underway. This has implications for oil prices and global supply-chain disruptions, adding to the burden of costs from the compounded effects of several years of crises, resulting in protracted adversity for global output and growth. The World Bank has warned that developing countries are facing a "lost decade" of development.<sup>2</sup> Current events resulting from power asymmetries and a lack of political will to consistently insist on compliance with international law, are undermining the foundations of existing structures of global governance that have been in place since the Second World War. While fissures within the international community have long existed, the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine have precipitated further divides. The war in Gaza has deepened divisions and hardened the ideological positions between the West and the rest which is home to 88 percent of the global population.<sup>3</sup>

Though reconciliation in the near term seems unlikely, multi-state cooperation is required to

tackle global challenges in which all nations have a stake. Issues such as global warming, the energy transition, poverty, and migration, are beyond the capacity of any single nation to tackle in isolation.

#### Then and Now

Roughly 80 years ago, after two Great Wars, officials from 44 countries gathered in Bretton Woods, New Hampshire, to design a new institutional architecture for global governance.<sup>4</sup> Those assembled envisioned a future of shared prosperity based on a Western-led liberal world order underpinned by principles of open markets and free trade, financing for rebuilding Western Europe, and investments to stimulate development in poorer countries. This trumpeted the dawn of a 'free world' guided by principles of democracy, individual rights and liberty, collaboration for the common good, and the creation of a new framework for global governance. Among the new entities created were the Bretton Woods institutions<sup>a</sup> with the mission to monitor, safeguard, and regulate principles of liberal democracy.

At the time, the so-called 'Third World' countries were chafing under the yoke of colonialism, striving for independence, and seeking solidarity and shared purpose in non-Western groupings such as the Non-Aligned Movement (NAM).<sup>b</sup> In time, as newly independent states, NAM members assumed their seats in the United Nations, creating

a These include the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (IMF). However, the United Nations and the World Trade Organization (WTO), among others, are also considered to be part of the institutional architecture designed to coordinate and regulate various aspects of the global economy and promote international cooperation.

b Established at the Bandung Conference in April 1955. The Bandung Conference took its name from the Indonesian city in which the founding meeting of NAM took place.

the G77 in 1964, leveraging their numbers to jointly promote their economic interests, including that of ownership of national resources in support of their development. In 1974, they tabled the call for a New International Economic Order.<sup>5</sup>

#### The End of an Era

The norms, rules, and institutions of the current world order emerged from a world exhausted by wars and seeking stability and peace. Global wealth and output were the monopoly of a handful of states. Led by the United States (US) and its allies, globalisation based on principles of open markets, free trade, and comparative advantage lifted millions out of poverty over decades of peace and stability. Today, the principles of open markets and free trade have been replaced by friend-shoring and strategic decoupling, as US rivalry with China escalates. Increased protectionism and bifurcation of the global economy damages economic prospects for all countries.

At the same time, increasing shares of global output have shifted from the West to the East, and with it bundles of political power. In the process, Western leadership is being contested and new global actors are demanding a say in decisions that affect their interests. China has become a superpower, and its Belt and Road Initiative (BRI has provided more US\$1 trillion in than infrastructure investments in high speed rails, ports, and highways across the Global South.<sup>6</sup> The US and the European Union (EU), attempting to woo the Global South away from China, have launched their own BRItype projects, including the Global Gateway and the Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment.7 While these provide more options, countries will nonetheless pick partnerships that best align with their development priorities, while retaining postures of multi-alignment.

Meanwhile, Middle Powers<sup>c</sup> have seeded mid-layered multipolarity, providing greater choice for Global South countries, which in turn are leveraging this choice to seek the best offers from all sides.<sup>8</sup> Frustrated by inaction to repeated calls for multilateral institutional reform, Global South countries are securina their interests in non-Western groupings such as the BRICS<sup>d</sup> and Cooperation Organisation the Shanghai (SCO), which are expanding not just their membership, but also shares of critical global resources, while deepening mechanisms for South-South cooperation.9

c The Middle Powers include Brazil, Turkey, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, the UAE, India, and Indonesia, among others.

d The BRICS are a grouping of emerging economies formed in 2009 comprising Brazil, Russia, India, and China, with South Africa becoming a member in 2010. More recently, membership has increased to include Egypt, Ethiopia, Iran, the UAE, and Saudi Arabia. A number of countries, such as Indonesia, have also declared their intention to seek membership.



As the status quo changes and is replaced by multiple points of power and blocs entrenched in their own interests, current structures of global governance are being tested. Armed with more options, a New South is demanding engagement based on mutual respect, inclusion, and equity. In this context, a global institutional architecture that is reflective of changing times and new challenges is required. Some suggest that the world needed the push of the Great Wars to ignite cooperation almost 80 years ago. What will it take this time? Will a third Great War be necessary to recalibrate global power dynamics, redraw the map of alliances, and redesign norms and institutions in which new global realities are reflected? One can only hope that this will not be the case.

- Parisa Hafezi, "Iran's Pezeshkian Says Tehran Ready to Work with World Powers to Resolve Nuclear Standoff," *Reuters*, September 25, 2024.
- 2. Andrea Shalal, "World Bank Warns of 'Lost Decade' in Global Growth Without Bold Policy Shifts," *World Economic Forum and Reuters*, April 3, 2023.
- 3. Kishore Mahbubani, "Measuring the Power of the Global South," Chatham House, March 21, 2024.
- Mark Malloch-Brown, "New Challenges Put the Bretton Woods Institutions at a Crossroads," *Financial Times*, September 30, 2024.
- 5. United Nations, "The Group of 77 at the United Nations," G-77 Home, https://www.g77.org/doc/
- 6. Gideon Rachman, "US Rivalry with China Has Risks for Everyone," Financial Times, September 17, 2024.
- 7. Rachman, "US Rivalry with China Has Risks for Everyone."
- Len Ishmael, "A World Divided: A Multilayered, Multipolar World," in *Aftermath of War in Europe. The West vs. the Global South?* ed. Len Ishmael (Morocco: Policy Center for the New South. 2023), 5 – 39.
- Len Ishmael, Winds of Change: The BRICS Club of Nations and the Dawn of the New South, Abu Dhabi, TRENDS Research & Advisory, 2024: 48.

## SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



Getty Images/picture alliance

## What's Next for Global Governance?

by Mohammed Loulichki

Global governance is facing a crisis, necessitating reforms in its institutions to enable them to confront modern challenges and regain public confidence in their relevance and mission. Amid accelerated changes and technological transformations, the international community is struggling to change the status quo and make its institutions more democratic, representative, and credible.

Global governance is today challenged directly by Russia and indirectly by the United States (US)—the two principal permanent members of the Security Council, entrusted by the United Nations (UN) Charter with the primary responsibility of responding to threats to international peace and security. The wars against Ukraine, Palestine, and Lebanon present a test of the UN's ability to ensure that powerful states respect their obligations under the Charter.



The second war against Iraq, the ousting of Gaddafi, and the attempt at a regime change in Syria—all undertaken outside international law—have eroded the little trust that the UN (and particularly the Security Council) has been able to preserve owing to its humanitarian efforts and the stabilisation of conflicts in Africa. Simultaneously, the war waged by Russia<sup>a</sup> against Ukraine and the US's unconditional and continued support of Israel in its war against the Palestinian people have eroded the little credit attached to the mission of the UN.

Today, we are witnessing the triumph of unilateralism and the use of force by powerful and non-powerful states alike to win territory, settle old conflicts, or destabilise neighbours. It is as if states are perceiving a window of opportunity in the current situation that is unlikely to present itself again and taking advantage of it with impunity, in the midst of general indifference.

### Questioning the UN's Raison d'Être

NATO's support for Ukraine following Russia's invasion in February 2022<sup>b</sup> has given the war the appearance of a confrontation between the West and a Russia anxious to keep the NATO away from its borders and regain its former prestige. Despite attempts at mediation, the war continues unabated, the sole objective appearing to be that of total victory, whatever the cost.

In the Middle East, the Hamas attack on Israeli territory on 7 October 2023<sup>c</sup> resulted in Israeli Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu waging an all-out war, with no limits in time, space, or the types of methods and weapons used.<sup>d,1</sup> While the region has experienced other conflicts since 1948, these wars lasted only a few days owing to the interventions of the US and the former Soviet Union, who imposed limits on the belligerents, forcing them to declare ceasefires and arrive at a compromise.

a Russia, through its status as a permanent member of the Security Council, is considered by the Charter to be one of the guarantors of international peace and security.

b Russia annexed the regions of Donetsk, Luhansk, Kherson, and Zaporijia, in addition to Crimea.

c During the attack, 116 people were taken hostage; 100 are still being held at the time of writing this article.

d Israel's disproportionate reactions are as reprehensible as Hamas's actions against Israeli territory and civilians, and can no longer be justified as a matter of self-defence. They constitute a clear violation of the UN Charter and of international humanitarian law. Over time, Israel's reactions have shifted from being a one-off event into a war of destruction and large-scale displacement of civilian populations.

Against this backdrop of uncertainty and questioning of the UN's raison d'être, the General Assembly organised a Summit for the Future in September 2024, which was supposed to relaunch the UN, renew the commitments of its member states to the principles and objectives of the Charter, and launch actions that fall within the framework of the reform of global governance. The Summit did not result in any conclusive decisions or initiatives towards a renewal of multilateralism or the launch of serious negotiations with a timeframe for their completion.

The commitments set out in the non-binding Pact for the Future will depend on the willingness of developed countries to respect and finance their fulfilment, especially in view of the current international economic situation, dominated by the concern of Global North countries to revive their economies, sustain trade competition, and satisfy the expectations of their electorates.

### Multilateralism and the New South

The Pact of the Future was adopted by a consensus between Western countries and most of the countries of the South, but without Russia and its key allies (Belarus, Iran, Nicaragua, Syria, and North Korea).<sup>2</sup> A similar consensus would not have been possible before, given the extent to which Russia's interests converge with those of the Global South countries.

The interests of the Global South coincided with those of the West at the Summit, indicating a shift that reflects a degree of decision-making autonomy among the countries of the South and their emergence as a player that determines its positions on a case-by-case basis, removed from any automatic or permanent alliance. This New South, which draws its strength from its attachment to multilateralism and an emerging awareness of its growing role in international relations, is in a position to play the role of the catalyst for a new form of global governance that is inclusive, equitable, and beneficial to all. However, the blocking of any amendments by the drafters of the Charter and the lack of willingness on the part of the Permanent Five members of the Security Council to accept a change in the system of global governance paralyses the process of negotiating reforms and favours decisions that commit the world within the framework of restricted groups such as the G7, the G20, and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Recent calls to give two permanent seats to Africa on the Security Council<sup>3</sup> are designed to curry favour with the 54 African countries in the confrontations between the West and Russia against the near certainty that these countries will find it challenging to agree on which two countries will benefit from this privilege.



- Julia Frankel, "Netanyahu Mulls Plan to Empty Northern Gaza of Civilians and Cut Off Aid to Those Left Inside," Associated Press, October 14, 2024, https://apnews.com/article/hamas-israel-generalsplan-eiland-gaza-219d7eb9a3050e281ccc032d5a5 6263c
- J. Tuyet Nguyen, "L'ONU adopte le Pacte pour l'avenir afin d'améliorer la paix et la sécurité mondiales et de transformer la gouvernance mondiale," The United Nations Correspondant, September 22, 2024, https:// theunitednationscorrespondent.com/un-adoptspact-for-the-future-to-improve-global-peace-andsecurity-transform-global-governance/
- 3. Michelle Nichols, "US Supports Two Permanent UN Security Council Seats for Africa," *Reuters*, September 13, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/ world/us-supports-two-permanent-un-securitycouncil-seats-africa-2024-09-12/
# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# BRICS+: (Dis)United They Stand

by Alessia Amighini

Getty Images/Maxim Shemetov

Since its inception in 2006, BRICS has grown increasingly in favour of multilateral cooperation and against protectionism. The group has consistently protested protectionism and unilateralism in support of an open and inclusive multilateral trading system under WTO rules.

The focus of BRICS has shifted since its establishment, with the member countries bracing against the West, being on edge with each other, far from united in their positions in varied issues. The BRICS Summit, held in Kazan in October 2024, focused on "promoting the entire range of partnership and cooperation within the framework of the association on three key tracks – politics and security, the economy and finance, and cultural and humanitarian ties."<sup>1</sup>



The BRICS countries have often expressed their disapproval of the West and its vague aspirations to alter global political and economic governance frameworks.<sup>2</sup> In an attempt to unify the views of the Global South and jointly influence decisions, as with the G7, the BRICS countries convene before every G20 or other significant summit. However, the group has historically found it difficult to agree on viable solutions to significant issues.

In 2024, Egypt, Ethiopia, Saudi Arabia, the United Arab Emirates (UAE), and Iran joined the BRICS; today the group accounts for 35 percent of the world's GDP and 45 percent of the world's population.<sup>3</sup> With the addition of Saudi Arabia, Iran, and the UAE, the BRICS alliance is furthering the "cartelisation of the world" in a number of crucial sectors, such as raw materials, food, energy, and metals. A few Global South countries now wield political power in relation to the essential raw resources to which they lay claim. However, these resources are not produced in most BRICS countries, and therefore, it is possible that the current tensions within the BRICS+ club turn into a struggle to find a balance between the interests of producing and consuming countries.

With BRICS seemingly unable to represent the voice of the Global South, the type of international order we are moving towards remains uncertain. The idea that a unified BRICS+ will speak for Global South countries seems far-fetched. This is because most countries have a propensity to adopt multialignment attitudes, which involve looking both to the West and towards emerging or re-emerging powers of the South, including Russia. For instance, the vast majority of emerging countries aim to avoid becoming reliant on either China or Russia; nations such as Angola, which did become reliant on one or more Global South countries during the Cold War, are viewing this reliance as especially problematic.

On the one hand, it may be a positive development that BRICS is being enlarged to include countries that represent visions and interests different from those of the five founding countries. Potential further enlargements could include countries such as Indonesia, Vietnam, and Thailand.<sup>4</sup> However, these potential members have strong economic and trade ties with China, which makes it more likely that they will support China's perspectives within the group rather than nurturing its diversity.

Meanwhile, China is being increasingly challenged by some of the original BRICS members as well as by current and potential new members.<sup>5</sup> Additionally, while Asia has largely been a bystander to the West's protectionism against cheap Chinese goods, this is likely to change soon.

Tensions over trade between China and the West escalated in 2024. The European Commission levied further tariffs on Chinese electric vehicles (EVs), while the United States expanded Section 301 penalties on imports from China to include commodities such as batteries and EVs. Even Türkiye, which in September officially applied to join the BRICS bloc, levied an extra 40-percent duty Chinese auto imports, while Brazil on reinstituted import duties on EVs this year. Meanwhile, Asia has responded to China's increasing shipments with more restrained policies and fewer trade barriers. Given the difficulties being faced by Asian economies as a result of China's industrial overcapacity across all product categories, such laissezfaire attitude may be unsustainable. Domestic manufacturers of metals and chemicals in India, Vietnam, Thailand, and South Korea are also being impacted by China's overcapacity and exports. On the lower end of the market, cheap Chinese consumer items are proliferating in South Korea, Thailand, and Indonesia, particularly via e-commerce sites.

With increasing protectionism in the West, many developing market participants are adopting protective measures against the possibility of excessive Chinese output ending up in their countries. This puts China in a difficult strategic position as measures to support its domestic economy could jeopardise its relations with the Global South, which is a vital arena in its geopolitical conflict with the US.

Developing countries are concerned about what is being referred to as 'China Shock 2.0'<sup>6</sup> a big economic shift paralleling the 1990s, when China first flooded world markets with cheap commodities. Citing unfair competition from China, Indonesia implemented import taxes of up to 200 percent on textiles and other items from China in July 2024. Chile placed anti-dumping charges on Chinese steel a few months ago. Brazil and Mexico have passed comparable legislations, while other countries are in the process of drafting them: a new government commission has been set up in Thailand to look into import restrictions pertaining to China, and India has launched investigations alongside enforcing a number of anti-dumping remedies.

At first glance, the new tariffs targeting Chinese imports may appear to be isolated instances of classic protectionism, wherein a few lowwage domestic firms persuade governments to shield them from effective foreign competition. However, these regulations are distinct due to the scope and magnitude of China's production capabilities. Chinese dumping allegations have always targeted specific sectors, such as steel. China now exports a wide range of items, from traditional industrial inputs and intermediate goods to EVs and green transition technologies. The volume of these exports is also increasing: in August 2024, these exports reached US\$309 billion, the biggest monthly total in three years. Certain Chinese goods are so inexpensive that even tariffs cannot lower their prices.

Against this backdrop, and in the face of potential conflict within the Global South, it is hard to see the BRICS+ finding common ground to stand united against the West.



- 1. Eurovision Services, "16th BRICS Summit," October 2024, https://www.eurovision.net/events/news/ politics/55037/details
- 2. Stewart Patrick, "BRICS Expansion, the G20, and the Future of World Order," Carnegie Endowment For International Peace, October 9, 2024, https:// carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/10/bricssummit-emerging-middle-powers-g7-g20?lang=en
- 3. Felix Richter, "The Global Clout of the New BRICS," Statista, October 22, 2024, https://www. statista.com/chart/33311/brics-share-of-globalgdp-and-population/#:~:text=As%20our%20 chart%20shows%2C%20the,measured%20at%20 purchasing%20power%20parity.
- 4. Jeean-Joseph Boillot, "BRICS+: Towards a New International Order?," IRIS, June 6, 2024,
- 5. https://www.iris-france.org/186913-brics-towardsa-new-international-order/
- Nomura Connects, "Asia is Set to Embrace Protectionism in Face of China's Overcapacity," July 2024, https://www.nomuraconnects.com/ focused-thinking-posts/asia-is-set-to-embraceprotectionism-in-face-of-chinas-overcapacity/
- James Crabtree, "The Coming Clash Between China and the Global South," *Foreign Policy*, September 11, 2024, https://foreignpolicy.com/2024/09/11/chinaglobal-south-trade-tariffs-protectionism-emergingmarkets-economy/

# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



# The Global South and the Risk of a Regressive World

by Giovanni Grevi

Getty Images/Kawnat Haju/AFP

ew and deepening crises on the international stage in the past year have compounded the risk of a regressive world, in which international stability and cooperation recede, and multiple indicators, from climate change to conflicts, development and human rights, point to the aggravation of shared challenges. Alongside Russia's aggression against Ukraine, the expansion of the war in the Middle East adds another shock to the system. The emerging scenario is that of a regressive world of power politics. Averting this prospect will require strong collective leadership. The countries that belong to the rather loose category of the 'Global South' have a big stake in these developments and can also play an important role in shaping them, working with others to address the challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> century.



#### **Strategic Dissonance**

Geopolitical competition and the deepening of transnational challenges are the two megatrends shaping the international order; they are deeply intertwined. Rivalries drain attention and resources from the management of shared problems, and the latter are often weaponised by competing powers. However, these two megatrends are mostly regarded as separate agendas. Geopolitical objectives sideline cooperative efforts to deal with common challenges that, in turn, threaten powers both large and small. This is a macroscopic example of strategic dissonance, i.e., an inconsistency between thoughts and actions. In many cases, large and middle powers seek to advance their security, prosperity, and status through actions that ultimately undermine these very priorities and the international order that their achievement depends on. This dissonance results in a global leadership and governance deficit. Many reasons can account for this drift, but the lack of compelling evidence is not one.

#### **Tracing Regression**

Multiple data and projections delineate the regressive arc that is emerging. Climate change is accelerating, and the ecological foundations of human development and security are degrading fast. Based on current policies, average temperatures are likely to rise beyond 3°C above pre-industrial levels— double the limit set by the Paris Agreement.<sup>1</sup> It is estimated that one additional degree in average temperatures would reduce global GDP by 12 percent<sup>2</sup> and that, by 2050, climate change might cut annual global income by

about 19 percent.<sup>3</sup> Alongside conflicts and other factors, weather-related disasters displace millions of people per year.<sup>4</sup>

Climate change also exacerbates food and water insecurity; the number of people experiencing acute hunger jumped from 135 million in 2019 to 345 million in mid-2022<sup>5</sup> and 309 million in 2024.<sup>6</sup> The World Bank has warned that the development patterns of several of the poorest countries in the world face a reversal.<sup>7</sup> Meanwhile, global public debt is set to reach US\$100 trillion in 2024 and is on course to equal global GDP by 2030.<sup>8</sup> Dealing with ballooning debt will likely require fiscal tightening in several economies, which is already affecting resources for coping with global emergencies.

Sprawling conflicts are a manifestation and driver of a regressive world. The years 2021, 2022 and 2023 have been the three most violent years on record since 1989.<sup>9</sup> Among scores of civilian casualties, international humanitarian law is emerging as another victim of brutal wars, from Ukraine to Israel-Palestine and Lebanon, Sudan, and other theatres. Meanwhile, the risks related to nuclear proliferation are rising and most arms control regimes are in tatters. Democracy is receding as authoritarian tendencies prevail in multiple countries.<sup>10</sup>

Political polarisation and nationalism are also rising worldwide. Polarisation undermines not only freedom and peace but also openness and prosperity. Strategic competition is increasingly shaping trade and investment flows and threatening the resilience of global supply chains.<sup>11</sup> Trade restrictions jumped from 944 in 2019 to 2,837 in 2023, outnumbering liberalising measures by a wide margin.<sup>12</sup> While security and the economy are connected, and complex trade-offs need to be faced, current trends may result in lower growth rates, higher inflation, a slower energy transition, and possibly further social and geopolitical tensions.

The combined impact of several trends raises the risk of a regressive world; however, scenarios are not predictions. For instance, the emerging technological revolution might result in extraordinary progress to deal with environmental, food security, and health issues, among others. Above all, political choices and leadership can make a difference.

#### The Global South: What Agenda?

of The awareness deepening shared challenges unlikely to supersede is multidimensional competition, such as that between the US and China, any time soon. The prospect of a regressive world calls, however, for a change of mindset. This approach does not dismiss power politics as part of international affairs but also does not reduce the latter to power politics. Instead, it recognises that no country can achieve lasting security and sustainable prosperity without cooperation to manage interdependence.

In this precarious global context, those countries whose voice is growing on the international stage and whose worldviews do not necessarily align with the agendas of world powers can play a role in responding to the challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. As these countries—often associated with the Global

South—pursue a more consequential role in international affairs, how they will frame and advance their priorities will increasingly affect competition and cooperation, from critical regions to multilateral bodies.

Given the diversity in this set of countries, a single trajectory cannot be detected. That said, the debate on their positioning on the global stage has highlighted two broadly common features.<sup>13</sup> For one, a number of Global South countries share grievances about having historically been relegated to the margins of global rulemaking and the unfairness of the priorities set by others. For another, many of them adopt a pragmatic, multi-aligned posture focused on meeting their national interests by diversifying their partnerships.

Multi-alignment can be uncomfortable. Within the enlarged BRICS+ grouping, for example, India, Brazil, and others are wary of the attempts of non-Global South powers such as Russia and China to instrumentalise this format to project anti-Western agendas.<sup>14</sup> Despite differences within this and other platforms, many Global South countries will likely continue to pursue a multi-aligned foreign policy. The key question is the extent to which they will seek to leverage these multiple alignments to strengthen an effective, rulesbased international order, working with others to deliver global public goods and mitigate power politics. There, arguably, lies the strategic challenge and opportunity for the countries that aim to shape a positive agenda of cooperation and prevent the drift towards a regressive world.



- UNEP, Emissions Gap Report 2024: No more hot air ... please! With a massive gap between rhetoric and reality, countries draft new climate commitments, Nairobi, United Nations Environment Programme, 2024, https://www.unep.org/resources/emissionsgap-report-2024
- Adrien Bilal and Diego R. Känzig, *The Macroeconomic Impact of Climate Change: Global vs. Local Temperature*, National Bureau of Economic Research, May 2024, https://www.nber.org/papers/w32450
- 3. Maximilian Kotz et al., "The Economic Commitment of Climate Change," *Nature 628*, 2024: 551, https:// www.nature.com/articles/s41586-024-07219-0
- 4. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, *Global Report on Internal Displacement 2024, Geneva, 2024,* https://www.internal-displacement.org/globalreport/grid2024/
- World Bank Group, "What You Need to Know About Food Security and Climate Change," October 17, 2022, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/ feature/2022/10/17/what-you-need-to-knowabout-food-security-and-climate-change
- 6. World Food Programme, *A global food crisis*, Rome, 2024, https://www.wfp.org/global-hunger-crisis
- 7. Tommy Chrimes et al., *The Great Reversal: Prospects, Risks, and Policies in International Development Association (IDA) Countries,* Washington DC, World Bank Group, 2024, https://www.worldbank.org/en/ research/publication/prospects-risks-and-policiesin-IDA-countries
- 8. Era Dabla-Norris et al., *Global Public Debt Is Probably Worse Than It Looks*, IMF, October 15, 2024, https:// www.imf.org/en/Blogs/Articles/2024/10/15/ global-public-debt-is-probably-worse-than-it-looks
- Siri Aas Rustad, Conflict Trends: A Global Overview, 1946–2023, PRIO, https://www.prio.org/ publications/14006
- 10. Economist Intelligence Unit, *Democracy Index: Conflict and Polarisation Drive a New Low for Global Democracy*, February 15, 2024, https://www.eiu. com/n/democracy-index-conflict-and-polarisation-

drive-a-new-low-for-global-democracy/

- Gita Gopinath et al., Changing Global Linkages: A New Cold War?, Washington DC, International Monetary Fund, 2024, https://www.imf.org/en/ Publications/WP/Issues/2024/04/05/Changing-Global-Linkages-A-New-Cold-War-547357
- 12. Global Trade Alert, "Global Dynamics," https://www. globaltradealert.org/global\_dynamics/day-to\_1018
- Sarang Shidore, "The Return of the Global South. Realism, Not Moralism, Drives a New Critique of Western Power," *Foreign Affairs*, August 31, 2023, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/world/returnglobal-south-critique-western-power
- 14. Alexander Gabuev and Oliver Stuenkel, "The Battle for the BRICS. Why the Future of the Bloc Will Shape Global Order," *Foreign Affairs*, September 24, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/russia/battle-brics





# A New World Order: Which Multipolarity?

by Alessandro Colombo

Getty Images/John M Lund Photography

he BRICS summit in Moscow, held in October 2024, has highlighted the growing influence of major emerging nations outside the traditional Western hegemony. The meeting took place amid a deteriorating international order, characterised by disruptions in political-strategic, economic, and trade relations and a breakdown in the principles, norms, and rules governing global co-existence.

The activism of BRICS countries signals a transformation of the international political and economic landscape. The United States's (US) and Europe's calls for mobilisation against Russian aggression in Ukraine were met with indifference, and even distrust, by many nations. The cohesion within traditional Western-leaning institutions such as the G7 and NATO has paradoxically widened the gap between the West and other countries.

**Alessandro Colombo** is Professor of International Relations, University of Milan; and Head, Transatlantic Relations Programme, ISPI.



The most obvious manifestation of this disconnect are the new, intricate international alignments, which include tentative а bipolarisation driven by renewed Western solidarity on the one side and deepening strategic cooperation between Russia and China on the other. There is also a complex web of cross-support, opportunistic interventions, and ad-hoc alliances that connect various competitive contexts, such as Iranian and North Korean support for Russia's war in Ukraine and US support for Israel's war in Gaza and Lebanon.

However, a significant portion of the international community has managed to taking sides emerging avoid in this confrontation, preferring to maintain relations with all parties. This is particularly true of emerging and resource-rich economies, such as India, Brazil, South Africa, and Saudi Arabia, which are less dependent on either side. Rather than reviving the non-alignment practices common to 20th-century bipolar era, these nations seem to be expressing a more nuanced rejection of bipolar logics and rhetoric.

The most significant aspect of this ongoing realignment is evident in its institutional implications. The new international order is a far cry from the elegant, yet ultimately unrealistic, edifice of multilevel governance envisioned and celebrated during the transition to the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Most institutions inherited from the "grand design" of the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century have faced

a growing crisis of efficiency and legitimacy over the past 15 years; consequently, instead of the original design, what seems destined to emerge is a more complex and competitive structure.

The crisis of the "old" multilateralism could potentially lead to three distinct outcomes: a maximalist approach of reviving and adapting the existing multilateral framework to reflect the changed hierarchy of power and "minilateralism" international prestige; а focused on creating smaller but more multilateral forums aimed cohesive at bringing together the minimum number of countries necessary to achieve the maximum impact in addressing a specific problem;1 and a more radical solution that involves redefining multilateralism within a fragmented international system, shifting the focus of cooperation to regional-level institutions and regimes centred around one or more hegemonic powers.

The growing disintegration of the international order seems to have favoured the latter two options, which are alternative to each other but equally distinct from the inclusive and universal multilateralism of recent times. On the one hand. traditional Western-led multilateralism has been revived, as evidenced in economic initiatives such as the Western 'Build Back Better World' project (rebranded as 'Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment'),<sup>2</sup> launched in response to China's Belt and Road Initiative, and politicalstrategic initiatives such as the establishment of the AUKUS and the expansion of NATO. The development of increasingly exclusive forms of multilateralism among non-Western countries, exemplified by the BRICS, has counterbalanced this Western trend. These new institutions, while diverse in composition and inspiration, are characterised by internal competitions and divisions. However, their collective emergence can be seen as an outright challenge to the unipolar international order of the past three decades.

The multipolar world emerging is fundamentally different from the traditional understanding of multipolarity.<sup>a</sup> The first element of difference is in the distribution of power itself. Despite significant evolutions over the past three decades, the hypothesis of a multipolar future lacks the "poles", as the gap between the top two powers, the US and China, and the other countries remains vast.<sup>3</sup> Even among the top two, the US maintains a significant edge over China economically and militarily; US military expenditures, which amount to nearly US\$916 billion as of 2023, exceed China's US\$296 billion.4 far Additionally, China's capabilities in controlling

"common spaces", such as the oceans, are still significantly lower than that of the US, and the quality of US assets remains superior to Chinese assets.

However. above all, the multipolarity envisioned today does not take for granted the unitary structure of the international system and society of past multipolar configurations. Unlike the universalist aspirations of the Western-style international multipolarity advocated order, the bv Russia, China, and many emerging nations emphasises the desirability of autonomous political, economic, cultural, and legal orders, interference. free from foreign This concept, explicitly modeled after the US's Monroe Doctrine, aligns with the idea of "organised spaces" proposed by thinkers such as Carl Schmitt in the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century.

Schmitt foresaw "the great antithesis of world politics: the contrast between a central world domination and a balance between multiple spatial orders, between universalism and pluralism, monopoly and polypoly."<sup>5</sup> He addressed the question of whether the

a Historically and in the theory of international relations, "multipolarity" has referred to a specific distribution of power: a balanced condition among a small but not insignificant number of great powers, exceeding two parties (although historically there have rarely been fewer than five). These great powers, interdependent in diplomatic and strategic terms, were considered part of a single international system. Moreover, they often shared a common historical or cultural heritage, leading to the development of shared principles, rules, and institutions aimed at ensuring the fundamental objectives of social coexistence: national security, the fulfillment of promises, and the limitation of violence. See, for instance: Georg Sorensen et al., Introduction to International Relations: Theories and Approaches (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2021).



world was ready for the monopoly of a single power or whether it would instead embrace a pluralism of large, self-ordered, and coexisting spaces, spheres of intervention, and areas of civilisation that would shape the new international law.

Nearly a century later, this antithesis appears to be resurfacing as the defining element of 21<sup>st</sup>-century international politics, especially in combination with the other great dichotomy between universalism and the re-emergence of different "civilisations". The increasing influence of several major regional powers (India in South Asia, China in East Asia, Brazil in Latin America, and South Africa in Sub-Saharan Africa) could serve as the foundation for an alternative spatial order that is built on the organising capacity of individual regions and the gradual exclusion of external interference in their internal dynamics of peace and war.

In such a context, the interdependencies of the system, the institutions of international society, and the "language" of transnational society would likely diverge more sharply between regions, potentially leading to a condition resembling the pre-global world before European expansion. The global dimension of international politics might then be defined by the competitive relationships between these great powers, mediated by the hegemonic or imperial roles of dominant powers.

- Moises Naim, "Minilateralism: The Magic Number to Get Real International Action," *Foreign Policy*, July/ August 2009.
- 2. G7 Italy, "Factsheet on the G7 Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment (PGII)," October 22-24, 2024.
- 3. Stephen G. Brooks and William C. Wohlfort, "The Myth of Multipolarity. American Power's Staying Power," *Foreign Affairs*, May/June 2023.
- 4. SIPRI, "Military Expenditure Database".
- 5. C. Schmitt, *The Nomos of the Earth* (Candor: Telos Press Publishing).

# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



# The West, Between Competition and Contestation

by Antonio Missiroli

Getty Images/Wagner Meier

he BRICS+ summit held in Kazan (Russia) in late October 2024 marked a turning point in the recent evolution of the grouping; compared to last year's meeting in Johannesburg, this one focused less on just acquiring new members than on reaching out to a new category of "partner states", especially after Argentina and Saudi Arabia (who were expected to join the group this year alongside Egypt, the United Arab Emirates, Eritrea, and Iran) recently pushed the 'pause' button.

This more flexible approach could allow the current nine BRICS+ members to develop stronger ties with countries—and there are many in the so-called 'Global South'—that are reluctant to side with them entirely but are still critical of the West and the international system shaped by it. Strategic competition and sectoral contestation, in other words, are



not synonyms, although they may feed one another as well as overlap and generate cumulative effects. If the BRICS may understood have that simply trying to build an anti-Western 'wall' is not smart tactically-especially if they wish to "express the interests of the Global Majority", as the Russian hosts claimed-it is essential that the West, too, understands that contestation has multiple facets that, in turn, require separate and tailored responses.

#### **Unpacking Contestation**

What we now tend to define as 'contestation' covers different trends and phenomena. First, contestation is about control of spaces: land spaces (from Ukraine to the Caucasus and the wider Middle East), maritime spaces (from the Gulf to the Indo-Pacific), cyberspace, and even outer space. Second, it is about access to resources, be they vital (grain, medicines), strategic (energy, rare earths), or financial (for debt relief or climate funding). Third, it is about setting and respecting norms, from human rights to the legitimate use of force. Last but not least, contestation is about the setup and operation of multilateral organisations like the UN Security Council or the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank. As a result, each type of contestation (including the specific 'contest' involved) involves different actors and arenas and requires different approaches.

To start with, some contestation is of a systemic nature, often with 'civilisational' features—to borrow the term coined by the late political scientist Christopher Coker—even

if those are hardly homogeneous or consistent. The systemic challenge posed by China, for instance, is different from Russia's (or Iran's, for that matter) in that it is less violent or coercive, much more sophisticated, and far better resourced. As such, therefore, it requires playing a long game combining the elements of confrontation and adaptation.

But most contestation is focused or issuespecific. For instance, contestation about 'universal' principles (as enshrined in the UN Charter) requires pushing back against normative 'relativism' as well as upholding core values and norms-but definitely without double standards, be it in reference to Eastern Europe or the Middle East-while being open to innovative approaches in domains cyberspace) where technological (like development demands fresh ones. Only by doing so can the West (re)gain credibility in its defence of universal human rights as well as the peaceful settlement of conflicts and disputes.

Contestation about resources, for its part, is often legitimate and mostly justified. As such, it requires responses emphasising better availability of and fairer access to them (against all predatory practices), yet coupled with a shared responsibility for the so-called 'global commons', including climate change mitigation and freedom of navigation.

Finally, contestation about the current multilateral system is also justified insofar as it highlights its current inability to represent the state of the world in the 21<sup>st</sup> century; indeed, it is still a reflection of the international

landscape of the mid- to late-20<sup>th</sup> century. Reforming that accordingly may prove to be the only way to preserve a multilateral system worth this name, including its universal obligations.

Such reform-however difficult and painful it may prove to be-should even become a strategic priority for the West, and especially for Europe, no matter what it may have to relinguish to get there. If it really wants to defend multilateralism against the rise of power politics and transactionalism and develop mutually beneficial partnerships with countries from the Global South, it may have to reconsider its current approach to trade, human mobility, and redistribution of seats and shares at top international tables and to put their money (and political will) where their mouth is in order to prove the sincerity of their commitment to global justice. Failing that, they risk supplying extra ammunition to anti-Western contestation.

#### **Testing (G)rounds**

Initially promoted jointly by Germany and Namibia, the 'Pact for the Future' endorsed by world leaders at the recent UN General Assembly in New York—and formally backed also by the Group of 77 developing countries constitutes a promising first step in the right direction, even if its stated ambitions are bound to be confronted with the reality of a divided and fragmented international community.

A significant test case will be the reform of the UN Security Council itself, which the Pact stipulates should prioritise representation

of the African continent. The United States Ambassador to the UN even went as far as to say that Africa should get two permanent seats—arguably without veto power—in what would be by far the most important change since the mid-1960s (when the seats were increased from 10 to the current 15). In all these respects, the COP29 conference in Baku and the G20 summit in Rio (bringing together the G7 and BRICS members, the European Union, and the African Union) constitute early opportunities to assess both its prospects and the overall trajectory of the fast evolving international system.





## SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# The State of Security Amid New Electoral Outcomes

by Kartik Bommakanti

Getty Images/Munir Uz Zaman

Lection results can influence and shape the external and internal security landscape of democratic countries. In 2024, several countries, including Bangladesh, Pakistan, India, and United Kingdom (UK), have held national elections, or else are preparing for them at the time of writing. The results of these elections have raised internal and external security concerns.

In January 2024, voters in Bangladesh elected Sheikh Hasina to a fourth straight term as prime minister, although the main opposition party—the Bangladesh National Party (BNP)—boycotted the election.<sup>1</sup> However, her fourth successive tenure was cut short by street protests, leading to a soft coup as the Bangladesh Army sided with protesters, forcing Hasina to flee to India.<sup>2</sup> Her overthrow was a setback for India, her government's



external ally. Internally, the safety and security situation, especially for Bangladesh's Hindu minority, has worsened since her departure.

In March 2024, Pakistan held elections where Imran Khan's Pakistan Tehreek-e-Insaaf (PTI) won the most seats in the National Assembly, despite the military supporting the opposition Pakistan Muslim League-Nawaz (PML-N).<sup>3</sup> Nevertheless, the PML-N formed a coalition with the Pakistan Army. These political shifts are ironic, as the PTI was the Army's favoured party in the previous election. Prime Minister Shehbaz Sharif's PML-N-led civilian government, backed by the Army, struggles to improve relations with India, leaving security threats unchanged. Internally, Pakistan continues to face violence from sectarian groups like Tehreek-e-Taliban Pakistan (TTP), and an ongoing insurgency in Balochistan region.

India, the world's largest democracy, went through seven phases of general election from April to June 2024. The ruling Bhartiya Janata Party (BJP), led by Prime Minister Narendra Modi, was widely expected to secure a third successive term but scored a mixed verdict, resulting in a coalition government. Nevertheless, the outcome represented continuity under PM Modi.4 Since his election, the Modi government has experienced both gains and setbacks externally. Notably, the US and India signed non-binding Security the of Supply Arrangement (SOSA) agreement to facilitate reciprocal military supplies.<sup>5</sup>

In Europe, meanwhile, the UK saw the Labour Party, led by Sir Keir Starmer, return to power after a 14-year hiatus, securing a sweeping victory in July 2024. This outcome was anticipated, as the ruling Conservatives were bound to lose against the backdrop of frequent turnover of prime ministers, scandals during the COVID-19 pandemic, and failure to address illegal immigration. The Labour Party now faces public pressure over immigration, which has become an internal security challenge.<sup>6</sup> An attack by a teenage British citizen of Rwandan heritage that killed three girls reinforced fears about immigration and immigrant communities in the UK.7 Meanwhile, the war in Ukraine and the repercussions of Brexit continue to pose challenges for London and continental Europe. In Germany, antiimmigrant sentiment has surged, particularly after the far right's recent electoral success in the eastern state of Thuringia, following a terrorist attack by a Syrian asylum seeker in Solingen.<sup>8</sup>

In the US, where elections are set for November 2024, a heated electoral battle is underway on issues like immigration and support for Ukraine in its conflict with Russia. Former President Donald Trump has pledged to clamp down on illegal immigration through mass deportations,<sup>9</sup> and to limit Washington's support to Kyiv if he regains the presidency.<sup>10</sup> Trump's opponent, Vice President Kamala Harris, has vowed to continue the Biden Administration's support for Ukraine while adopting a less stringent approach on immigration than her Republican rival.<sup>11</sup> Overall, the political shifts and electoral outcomes of 2024 resulted in a blend of upsets and continuity. From a security standpoint, countries that had elections faced persistent external and internal challenges. Immigration, terrorism, and insurgency remain hot-button issues, and for some nations, external threats have remained constant despite governmental transitions.

- Ethirajan Anbarasan and Kelly Ng, "Bangladesh Election: PM Sheikh Hasina Wins Fourth Term in Controversial Vote," *BBC*, January 8, 2024, https:// www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-67889387
- Isaac Yee and Tanbirul Miraj Ripon, "Bangladesh Prime Minister Flees to India as Anti- government Protesters Storm Her Residence," CNN, August 6, 2024, https://edition.cnn.com/2024/08/05/asia/ bangladesh-prime-minister-residence-stormedintl/index.html

- Asfandyar Mir and Tamanna Salikuddin, "Understanding Pakistan's Election Results," United States Institute for Peace, February 13, 2024, https://www.usip.org/publications/2024/02/ understanding-pakistans-election-results
- 4. Soutik Biswas, "Why India's Modi Failed to Win an Outright Majority," *BBC*, June 4, 2024, https://www. bbc.com/news/articles/c977g8gl5q20
- Konark Bhandari, "India Signs a Security of Supply Arrangement (SOSA) with the United States: What Can We Expect," Carnegie India, September 6, 2024.
- 6. Surbhi Gloria Singh, "Keir Starmer's UK Election Win: What it Means for Indian Immigrants," *Business Standard*, July 9, 2024, https://www.businessstandard.com/finance/personal-finance/keirstarmer-s-uk-election-win-what-it-means-forindian-immigrants-124070900420\_1.html
- Ewan Gawne et al., "Community in Mourning After Three Girls Killed in Knife Attack," *BBC*, July 31, 2024, https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/ cd194zkw4d9o
- Paul Kirby and Jessica Parker, "German Far Right Hails 'Historic' Election Victory in East," *BBC*, September 2, 2024, https://www.bbc.com/news/ articles/cn02w01xr2jo
- 9. Lisa Desjardins, Ali Schmitz and Saher Khan, "Comparing Trump's and Harris' Positions on Immigration and Border Security," *PBS News Hour*, September 12, 2024, https://www.pbs.org/ newshour/show/comparing-trumps-and-harrispositions-on-immigration-and-border-security
- 10. Girish Kumar Anshul, "Where Kamala Harris and Donald Trump Stand on the Russia-Ukraine War," *India Today*, September 12, 2024, https://www. indiatoday.in/world/us-election-2024/story/firstpresidential-debate-kamala-harris-donald-trumprussia-ukraine-war-vladimir-putin-us-presidentialpolls-2598701-2024-09-12
- Desjardins, Schmitz and Khan, "Comparing Trump's and Harris' Positions on Immigration and Border Security"

### SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# Security and Geopolitics in the Sahel

by Abdelhak Bassou

Getty Images/Souleymane Ag Anara

he Sahel region has experienced over two decades of insecurity and instability due to various factors. The spread of terrorism after fighters from the Salafist Group for Preaching and Combat fled from Algeria to northern Mali<sup>1</sup> in the 1990s gave rise to armed groups motivated by extremist religious ideologies inspired by Al-Qaeda and Daesh. Another factor is the remnants of separatist ambitions, particularly in northern Mali, aiming for the independence of the Tuareg populations, who claim to defend a territory called Azawad. Finally, the dismantling of the Libyan regime in 2012 led to part of the Libyan arsenal being brought into the Sahel region,<sup>2</sup> mainly northern Mali, by Tuaregs in Libya.

This last factor, combined with the other two, marked the beginning of an era of instability that continues to reign in the three countries of the Liptako-Gourma region. This instability has been addressed by European powers, mainly France, which was actively involved in combating terrorism through operations Serval (2013) and Barkhane (2014-2022), although without significant success.<sup>3</sup> The G5 Sahel, which aimed to achieve multilateral security cooperation, also failed<sup>4</sup> despite initial hopes that it would be able to neutralise the terrorist threat in the Sahel or resolve the separatist conflicts of the Tuaregs in Azawad.

# The Impact of Coups: Stability or Uncertainty?

The insecurity and resulting instability had negative consequences on the basic needs (health, education, employment) of populations in Mali, Burkina Faso, and Niger, resulting in the rise of protest movements driven by civil society groups and political communities. The protests denounced the ruling governments and European (particularly French) presence, which had failed to deliver any results on violent extremism after eight years, instead serving to strengthen them. These protests culminated in coups in the three countries that resulted in juntas coming to power, and their first steps were to sever ties with France and pursue alliances with Russia.

The three regimes, sanctioned and even threatened with military intervention<sup>5</sup> (as in the case of Niger) by the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), created a mutual defence pact and an alliance, 'Alliance of Sahel States', in September 2023, which they later decided to elevate to a confederation. These measures were accompanied by a collective declaration to withdraw from ECOWAS. Another significant consequence of the events was the unofficial dissolution of the G5 Sahel.

The situation that has since prevailed in these three countries has seen some successes—such as Mali's recovery of its northern regions—as well as failures, such as the continued terrorist attacks in all three countries. It is clear, however, that the coups and the measures adopted by the new governments are yet to bring about the desired stability. The current dynamic is complex due to the increasing number of actors involved and the ambiguity in relations between them.

#### **A Complex Situation**

The complexity of the situation is primarily due to the multiplicity of actors operating in the Sahel region. These include states (armed forces), the regional economic community, terrorist and separatist armed groups, foreign powers (the United States, Europe, Russia), and regional powers, as well as civil society movements and the political communities of the three concerned states.

This complexity is aggravated by divergent interests and a balance of forces that prevents any one party from imposing its will and ensuring stability, even if it is unjust or inequitable. As the balance of power shifts unpredictably from one side to another, the situation remains in a state of instability. Moreover, this region, where crises move either through spillover or contagion, forms a regional conflict complex where political,



military, economic, and social objectives intertwine. While the armed forces sometimes win against terrorist groups, the latter also carry out successful attacks and, in some cases, continue to occupy parts of the territory. Even though Russia currently seems to be gaining influence in the region, it is difficult to conclude that Western powers have lost all chance of regaining ground.

Russia's influence in the region, at the expense of European influence, reflects the transposition of ambitions from the Ukraine war to the Sahel. For Russia, dominating the Sahel is a step against Europe, which supports Ukraine. From the Sahel, Russia's Africa Corps aims to dominate drug-trafficking cartels and illegal-migration networks. Hence, it is possible that transnational criminal organisations will be transformed into actors in the regional geopolitics.

#### An Ambiguous Geopolitical Landscape

The multitude of actors and the diversity of interests in the Sahel have repercussions on the nature of relationships, the geopolitical landscape, and perceptions of opportunities or threats. While the three countries of the new Confederation of Sahel States seem to be in agreement about combating the threat of terrorism, actions on the ground reveal a certain mismatch between the resources and actions of the three countries. Burkina Faso, which experiences attacks by the Islamic State in the Greater Sahara, has fewer resources than Mali, which is fighting the Group for the Support of Islam and Muslims. Furthermore, Mali now appears more focused on fighting northern separatists than the terrorists operating in the central and southern regions. Niger, for its part, is more threatened in the south by Boko Haram and needs to cooperate with countries of the Lake Chad Basin.

Additionally, relationships between the various forces are not without ambiguity. Algeria, known for its strong alliance with Russia, is currently in conflict with Mali,<sup>6</sup> which is supported by Moscow. Several unofficial reports indicate strong support for northern separatist groups,<sup>7</sup> also backed by Ukraine, against Bamako, an ally of Russia's Africa Corps.

Meanwhile, Niger, a member of the Confederation of Sahel States, is attempting to strengthen ties with Algeria—a country in apparent conflict with Mali and supposed to be Niger's ally. Niger's Prime Minister has been received by the Algerian president, and SONATRACH is about to resume its activities in Niger.<sup>8</sup>

The instability and insecurity in the Sahel, arising partly from the precarious socioeconomic conditions and the intervention of terrorist groups, drug-trafficking cartels, and cross-border organised crime networks, do not appear to be heading towards the stability and security desired by its populations. The complexity of the geopolitical situation is exacerbated by the confrontation of divergent interests and the opposition of diverse and multiple actors using strategies that serve their interests without concern for the future of the region's populations, who will continue to suffer from the same afflictions that have persisted for over two decades.

#### Security and Geopolitics in the Sahel

- Gregory A Smith, "Al-Qaeda in the Lands of the Islamic Maghreb," *Journal of Strategic Security* 2, no. 2 (2009): 65, http://www.jstor.org/stable/26462959.
- Nicholas Marsh, "Brothers Came Back with Weapons: The Effects of Arms Proliferation from Libya," *PRISM* 6, no. 4 (2017): 79–96.
- 3. Benjamin Petrini, "Security in the Sahel and the End of Operation Barkhane," International Institute for Strategic Studies, September 5, 2022, https://www. iiss.org/online-analysis/online-analysis/2022/09/ security-in-the-sahel-and-the-end-of-operationbarkhane/.
- "Last Remaining Members of G5 Sahel Move to Dissolve the Anti-Jihadist Alliance," *France 24*, December 6, 2023, https://www.france24.com/en/ africa/20231206-last-g5-sahel-members-chadmauritania-acknowledge-alliance-is-a-spent-force.
- 5. Nnamdi Obasi, "ECOWAS, Nigeria and the Niger Coup Sanctions: Time to Recalibrate," International Crisis Group, December 5, 2023, https://www. crisisgroup.org/africa/sahel/niger/ecowas-nigeriaand-niger-coup-sanctions-time-recalibrate.
- "Mali Recalls Its Envoy in Algeria After Alleging Interference, Deepening Tensions Over Peace Efforts," Associated Press, December 22, 2023, https://apnews.com/article/mali-algeriaambassador-recall-tuareg-c5a3c71db2d3f1df9dd94 b094fb20494.
- 7. "Mali and Algeria Feud Over How to Handle Tuareg Rebellion," Africa Defense Forum, October 29, 2024, https://adf-magazine.com/2024/10/mali-andalgeria-feud-over-how-to-handle-tuareg-rebellion/.
- "Nigerian Prime Minister Zeine Visits Algeria to Relaunch Energy Cooperation," *Agenzia Nova*, August 14, 2024, https://www.agenzianova.com/en/ news/Nigerien-Prime-Minister-Zeine-visits-Algeriato-relaunch-energy-cooperation/.

## ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# Post-Election Changes and Shifts in Global Nuclear Security

by Shravishtha Ajaykumar

Getty Images/Satakorn

ince February 2022, the Russia-Ukraine war has brought to the fore security priorities for NATO member states and their allies. The atrocities of the war have resulted in a spread of deeper conversations on prioritising security while ensuring deescalation and disarmament.<sup>1</sup> While the war has affected eastern Europe and NATO directly, the serious escalation and spillover of the Israel-Palestine conflict has highlighted the urgency of disarmament and a renewal of security priorities across the globe. Despite these conflicts, security and the risks of escalation to nuclear warfare have taken a backseat in a year of elections. Leaderships have instead displayed an individualistic approach and aggressive intervention over diplomatic solutions. Across the globe, leaders must prioritise security to ensure that regional and global conflicts do not escalate.

#### **Security Patchwork in the EU**

The European Parliament (EP) elections in June 2024 resulted in the far-right increasing its strength through the European Conservatives and Reformists (ECR) and the newly formed Patriots for Europe group, along with the decline of liberal parties such as Renew Europe. During the Russia-Ukraine war, the European Union (EU) has navigated the need for unity and a coherent response to Russian aggression. The changing distribution in the EP challenges this need for a united front to address threats, response mechanisms, and cooperative security initiatives.<sup>2</sup>

In the United Kingdom (UK), the Conservative party remained steadfast in its provision of financial and military support to Ukraine. Labour Prime Minister Keir Starmer's commitment to making the UK military "fit to fight" and increasing defence spending to 2.5 percent of GDP has continued this response to global security challenges, maintaining the status quo of nuclear capabilities.<sup>3</sup> This trend towards deeper military involvement could further push retaliatory action on behalf of Russia, which has already threatened a nuclear response.<sup>4</sup>

#### A New Start and Focus on Nuclear Security

The US is also vested in Russia's actions outside the NATO. In 1991, the US and Russia signed a framework document, the Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty (START I), promoting nuclear stability and accountability between the two countries.<sup>5</sup> In 1993, the treaty was reiterated in START II and was undersigned by both countries but was not implemented due to escalating Cold War tensions.<sup>6</sup> The US and Russia signed the New START treaty in 2010, agreeing to monitor the number of deployed strategic nuclear warheads and delivery systems and adopting extensive verification mechanisms for compliance. This most recent version of the treaty, despite its validity till February 2026, risks echoing the cursory status of START II due to the invasion of Ukraine.<sup>7</sup>

The relevance of the new START was underlined in the June 2024 US presidential debate, with President Joe Biden on the Democratic side highlighting the need to update and replace the treaty with a more stringent version after its expiration. In contrast, Republican candidate Donald Trump indicated that Russia had not broken the agreement but found loopholes and further voiced concerns about China's nuclear showboating, leading up to his desire to increase the US payload as a deterrent.8 In the debate following the nomination of Kamala Harris as the Democratic presidential candidate, both Trump and Harris indicated their displeasure at the invasion of Ukraine; Harris emphasised standing with NATO and Ukraine via a democratic convention, and Trump highlighted personal intervention and a more aggressive US nuclear posture.9

The possibility of a renewed Trump administration's neo-isolationism has raised alarms among NATO allies.<sup>10</sup> His previous term was marked by withdrawals from key treaties and an aggressive stance towards adversaries like North Korea and Iran, which



could significantly heighten nuclear risks.<sup>11,12</sup> Already, the Kremlin has threatened a nuclear response to the use of conventional weapons on Russian bases by Ukraine.<sup>13</sup> Such events highlight the need for a security doctrine that not only oversees security dynamics but emphasises accountability measures and the risk of nuclear weapons and associated escalation.<sup>14</sup> If the outcome of the US election is following by actions that increase pressure on Russia, the latter may adopt a more aggressive posture, complicating potential peaceful outcomes and negotiations.<sup>15</sup>

#### India's Paradoxical Security Dynamic

India has a highly enmeshed relationship with the US, interacting in alliances like the Quad and dialogues around security and defence.<sup>16</sup> Additionally, India's security landscape is influenced by its neighbours, Pakistan and China. These alliances and regional interactions contribute to India's unique global security landscape, and it needs to protect itself from growing regional threats of border terrorism and support disarmament in the global scenario. This indicates India's self-interest in security dynamics over a fundamental dogma that can be applied across the board.<sup>17</sup> In the 2024 elections, the Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP) was re-elected in India. The growing nationalist sentiment that assisted in their re-election has also reinforced the 'zero tolerance' policy toward terrorism.18 Furthermore. India's nuclear doctrine, while highlighting the 'no-first-use' policy, also discusses 'massive retaliation' to an attack, even with conventional weapons.<sup>19</sup>

This dichotomy in India's nuclear policy highlights a paradox between deterring terrorism through the threat of retaliation while contributing to heightened tensions if misinterpreted, with significant implications for the region and its allies.<sup>20</sup> One such risk is India's historical ties with Russia, particularly in defence procurement, which may become strained if India is compelled to align more closely with the US and its allies. In parallel, Russia's relationship with China could also influence its stance on India's security policies.<sup>21</sup>

Changing political representation has highlighted the different priorities of each country. With the UK moving away from the Conservative party, to the reiterated approach to nationalist ideology in India, regional and multilateral alliances cannot be ignored. New leaderships globally need discussions facilitate on security, to specifically the escalation and non-proliferation non-conventional weapons, of highlight accountability for deployed and developed payloads, and promote disarmament. Such an approach will not only reduce the potential for escalation in the Ukraine region but also address regions of conflict such as Palestine and others that may arise in the absence of such discussions.

#### Post-Election Changes and Shifts in Global Nuclear Security

- Andrew A. Michta and Joslyn Brodfuehrer, "NATO-Russia Dynamics: Prospects for Reconstitution of Russian Military Power," Atlantic Council, September 27, 2024, https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depthresearch-reports/report/nato-russia-dynamicsprospects-for-reconstitution-of-russian-militarypower/.
- 2. Michta and Brodfuehrer, "NATO-Russia Dynamics: Prospects for Reconstitution of Russian Military Power."
- Olivia O'Sullivan, "UK Election Manifestos Make Promises On Security and Foreign Policy – But Tough Choices Await a New Government," Chatham House, June 20, 2024, https://www.chathamhouse. org/2024/06/uk-election-manifestos-makepromises-security-and-foreign-policy-toughchoices-await-new.
- Frances Mao, "Putin Proposes New Rules for Russia Using Nuclear Weapons," *BBC*, September 26, 2024, https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/c5yjej0rvw00.
- 5. U.S. Department of State, United States Government, "New START Treaty," June 1, 2023, https://www. state.gov/new-start/.
- 6. U.S. Department of State, United States Government, "New START Treaty."
- 7. U.S. Department of State, United States Government, "New START Treaty."
- John Erth, "There Won't Be a Debate on Nuclear Issues This Election Cycle. But if There Were...," Center for Arms Control and Non-Proliferation, June 27, 2024, https://armscontrolcenter.org/there-wontbe-a-debate-on-nuclear-issues-this-election-cyclebut-if-there-were/.
- Angela Stent, "How Would Trump and Harris Handle the Russia-Ukraine War?," *Brookings*, October 1, 2024, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/howwould-trump-and-harris-handle-the-russia-ukrainewar/.
- Charles Kupchan, "The Deep Roots of Trump's Isolationism: Democrats Need Their Own 'America First' Agenda," *Foreign Affairs*, September 16, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/united-states/ deep-roots-trumps-isolationism.
- 11. Mark Landler, "Trump Abandons Iran Nuclear Deal He Long Scorned," *The New York Times*, April 6, 2021,

https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/08/world/ middleeast/trump-iran-nuclear-deal.html.

- 12. Kingston Reif, "Trump to Withdraw U.S. From INF Treaty," Arms Control Association, November 2018, https://www.armscontrol.org/act/2018-11/news/ trump-withdraw-us-inf-treaty.
- Alexander Gabuev, "How Serious a Threat Is Russia's New Nuclear Doctrine?," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, October 3, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/russiaeurasia/politika/2024/09/russia-nuclear-doctrineblackmail?lang=en.
- 14. Vladimir Soldatkin and Guy Faulconbridge, "Putin Issues Nuclear Warning to the West Over Strikes on Russia From Ukraine," *Reuters*, September 25, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/putinsays-russia-reserves-right-use-nuclear-weapons-ifattacked-2024-09-25/.
- 15. Frances Mao, "Putin Proposes New Rules for Russia Using Nuclear Weapons," *BBC*, September 26, 2024, https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/c5yjej0rvw00.
- Tanvi Madan, "The US-India Partnership and the 2024 Elections," *Brookings*, September 16, 2024, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/the-us-indiapartnership-and-the-2024-elections/.
- 17. Ashley J. Tellis, "What Is in Our Interest': India and the Ukraine War," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, April 5, 2022, https:// carnegieendowment.org/research/2022/04/ what-is-in-our-interest-india-and-the-ukrainewar?lang=en.
- Ed. Shruti Pandalai, "Combating Terrorism: Evolving Asian Perspectives," Institute For Defence Studies & Analyses, https://idsa.in/system/files/book/book\_ combating-terrorism.pdf.
- 19. Prime Minister's Office, Government of India, https://archive.pib.gov.in/release02/lyr2003/ rjan2003/04012003/r040120033.html.
- 20. Chunhao Lou, "Geopolitical 'Entanglements' and the China-India-Pakistan Nuclear Trilemma," *Journal for Peace and Nuclear Disarmament*, July 3, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1080/25751654.2022.2156252.
- 21. Spenser A. Warren and Sumit Ganguly, "India–Russia Relations After Ukraine," *Asian Survey*, September 1, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1525/as.2022.1799235.

## SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



The Sahel Conundrum: Security, Sovereignty, and Relations with the EU

by Lucia Ragazzi

Getty Images/Aldo Pavan

onflicts in Africa are on the rise, resulting in an increasing number of casualties, displacement, and suffering. The Sahel, in particular, is engulfed by security threats even as it stands at the centre of political shifts. Indeed, the region is a good place to start in identifying "short-circuits" in the relationship between European and African countries. Amid international tensions, mistrust, and the lack of a workable political framework, European countries have been struggling to find ways to support Sahelian states in responding to security issues and fostering development.

On 26 July 2023, a coup d'état in Niger brought a military junta to power. Far from being just another piece in the mosaic of unconstitutional changes of power that have taken place in the Sahel in recent years, this event accelerated the reshuffling of international alliances in the region. Niger had long been a key partner for the system of international interventions deployed by European Union (EU) member states and the United States (US) in the region. However, after the military coup, the country experienced a turnaround, forging new collaborations with Russia and other partners, while France, the US, and others withdrew their troops; at the moment, Italy is the only EU member state with a military presence in the region.<sup>1</sup>

Simultaneously, the shock of the Nigerien coup accelerated the fragmentation of regional institutions.<sup>2</sup> The junta in Niamey aligned itself with those in Bamako and Ouagadougou by abandoning the G5 Sahel counter-terrorism coordination framework, essentially marking its end, and created the Alliance des États du Sahel (AES), a political entity based on the goals of mutual defence assistance and potentially a future common currency and a common free movement system. In January 2024, the three countries declared their decision to leave the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), the West African regional bloc, adding to the unpredictability and the tensions of the regional context.<sup>3</sup>

The EU and the US had long viewed their presence in the Sahel as a strategic necessity. A frontier at the crossroad of the Gulf of Guinea, Central Africa, and North Africa; a transit corridor for migration to the EU; and a haven for jihadist terrorist groups, this area had seen the deployment of large resources and energies to decrease its potential for international destabilisation. According to the EU's strategic approach, interventionism on the military front to counter jihadist activism and regain the territories that had drifted out of state control went handin-hand with the objective of strengthening state institutions of the Sahelian countries and regional institutions, which were seen as the first interlocutors in this endeavour. However, these things take time, and as many of the objectives were not achieved and insecurity persisted in the region, this led to a crisis of legitimacy of Western partners.<sup>4</sup>

Sahelian countries are now in the process of diversifying their partnerships. Russia's involvement has made the most headlines, with Sahelian leaders contracting private Russian military companies, buying weapons (with Moscow already being the main supplier in the region for the period 2017-2022), and undertaking frequent high-level visits between Russia and Mali, Burkina Faso, Niger, and Chad.<sup>5</sup> However, this should not overshadow other collaborations with China, Turkey, and Gulf countries, which include arms and defence agreements as well as political and economic partnerships; many of them were already in place, but new opportunities for collaboration are strengthening these ties.

Such diversification aligns closely with the Sahelian juntas' desire to reassert sovereignty over their national policy, especially when these agreements involve partners who follow a non-interference principle in their foreign policy. Their approach is different from the normative stance adopted by Western



countries, who had pursued—at least in principle-security efforts alongside objectives of development, good governance, and human rights protection.<sup>6</sup> Supporting defence and supplying hard power resources are key objectives for Sahelian governments that are bent on enhancing their military capabilities to counter the action of armed groups. As Andrew Lebovich points out,7 the emphasis on sovereignty provides a way to break from the legacy of what is often perceived as an asymmetrical relationship with Western countries while legitimising their own modus operandi; thus, a newfound autonomy in decision-making is linked to their existential legitimacy and survival.

The situation on the ground in the Central Sahel continues to deteriorate.<sup>8</sup> Economic indicators have worsened, and poverty has continued to rise.9 Insecurity remains severe, with new records for levels of violence being set year on year, following from increased activism and a iihadist governmental response of hardline warfare, with civilians caught in the middle.<sup>10</sup> In Mali, Burkina Faso, and Niger, large parts of the territories remain beyond government control; the attack carried out by the al-Qaeda-affiliated Jama'at Nisrat wal Muslimin (JNIM) in Bamako on 17 September 2024 was the first in the capital since 2015. The war in Sudan is also having profound impacts in the region. Meanwhile, violent episodes have expanded to neighbouring countries. Attacks have occurred in Benin, Togo, Ghana, and Côte d'Ivoire, as well as on Mali's borders with Senegal, Mauritania, and Guinea.<sup>11</sup>

European countries and the US are redeploying to the littoral countries to establish their presence in the area. A simple containment approach, however, is not viable as a long-term solution, and European countries must find new ways of engaging with the challenges of the Sahel countries. In her 2023 State of the Union address, Ursula von der Leyen spoke of the Sahel as a European priority in Africa, despite the ongoing disengagement: "This is of direct concern for Europe, for our security and prosperity. So we need to show the same unity of purpose towards Africa as we have shown for Ukraine."12

However, the compass of the EU's foreign policy has been pointing away from the region for the past few years. Security, diplomatic, and economic priorities set by the war in Ukraine and the crisis in the Middle East have overshadowed the Sahel: in the runup to the European elections of June 2024, Africa was largely absent from the political debate.13 European countries have so far been unable to find a coherent foreign policy position in the region; from France's hardline stance, to the deflection of Germany and others, to Italy's more dialogical approach, a truly European voice is currently lacking. However, simply forgetting the Sahel is not recommended.

- Judith Renoult, "Italy, Niger's Last Western Partner", Le Monde, July 25, 2024, https://www.lemonde. fr/en/le-monde-africa/article/2024/07/25/italyniger-s-last-western-partner\_6697782\_124.html
- Luca Raineri, "Niger: Cosa è Cambiato a un Anno dal Golpe," ISPI, September 24, 2024, https:// www.ispionline.it/it/pubblicazione/niger-cosae-cambiato-a-un-anno-dal-golpe-184421; Judith Renoult, "Italy, Niger's Last Western Partner," Le Monde, July 25, 2024, https://www.lemonde.fr/en/ le-monde-africa/article/2024/07/25/italy-niger-slast-western-partner\_6697782\_124.html
- 3. Silvia D'Amato, "The End of European Cooperation in the Sahel?," ISPI, July 2, 2024, https://www. ispionline.it/en/publication/the-end-of-europeancooperation-in-the-sahel-179037
- 4. Giovanni Carbone and Lucia Ragazzi, Is Africa Turning Against the West?, Milan, ISPI, 2023, https:// www.ispionline.it/en/publication/is-africa-turningagainst-the-west-154061
- 5. Elaboration on data by the Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, in the SIPRI Arms Transfers Database, https://www. sipri.org/databases/armstransfers; Lidia Kelly, "Russia, Burkina Faso Talk Military Cooperation," Reuters, October 9, 2024, https://www.reuters. com/world/russia-burkina-faso-talk-militarycooperation-2024-10-09/; Carol Valade, "Sergueï Lavrov Termine Sa Tournée Africaine par le Tchad, Dernier Allié de la France au Sahel." Le Monde. June 6, 2024, https://www.lemonde.fr/afrique/ article/2024/06/06/serguei-lavrov-terminesa-tournee-africaine-par-le-tchad-dernierallie-de-la-france-au-sahel\_6237651\_3212.html; Balima Boureima et al., "Putin Discusses Security Cooperation with West and Central African Leaders," Reuters, March 27, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/ world/putin-discusses-security-cooperation-withwest-central-african-leaders-2024-03-27/; Chris Ewokor and Kathryn Armstrong, "Russian Troops Arrive in Niger as Military Agreement Begins," BBC, April 12, 2024, https://www.bbc.com/news/worldafrica-68796359.

- Andrew Lebowich, "Sovereignty" Means Never Having to Say You're Sorry: The Sahel's New Geopolitics," Clingendael, June 2024, https://www. clingendael.org/publication/sahels-new-geopolitics
- 7. Lebowich, comment on "The Sahel's New Geopolitics"
- 8. Héni Nsaibia, "The Sahel: A Deadly New Era in the Decades-Long Conflict," Acled, January 17, 2024, https://acleddata.com/conflict-watchlist-2024/ sahel/
- UNDP, Sahel Human Development Report 2023, January 2024, New York, United Nations Development Programme, 2024, https://www. undp.org/africa/publications/sahel-humandevelopment-report-2023
- "Reorienting Europe's Approach in the Sahel," International Crisis Group, January 30, 2024, https:// www.crisisgroup.org/africa/sahel/reorientingeuropes-approach-in-the-sahel
- Daneil Eizenga and Amandine Gnanguênon, "Recalibrating Coastal West Africa's Response to Violent Extremism," ACSS, Africa Security, no. 43, 2024, https://africacenter.org/publication/asb43enrecalibrating-multitiered-stabilization-strategycoastal-west-africa-response-violent-extremism/
- Ursula von der Leyen, "2023 State of the Union Address by President von der Leyen" (speech, Strasbourg, September 13, 2023), https://ec.europa. eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ speech\_23\_4426
- Benedikt Erforth and Niels Keijzer, "The European Parliament Elections: What Can We Expect for Africa-EU Relations?," Megatrends Afrika, June 13, 2024, https://www.megatrends-afrika.de/ publikation/mta-spotlight-32-eu-parliamentelections-impacts-on-africa-eu-relations



# Economy and Development

## SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# Trade Resilience Amid Rising Protectionism and Trade Wars

by Lucia Tajoli

Getty Images/anucha sirivisansuwan

fter the burst of the trade war between China and the United States (US) during the first term of President Donald Trump, global protectionism has become the "new normal", albeit with a less aggressive tone. After decades of being "out of fashion", tariffs and protectionist measures are now frequently used worldwide. Since 2019, according to the Global Trade Alert, the number of new discriminatory interventions implemented worldwide tripled each year, rising from 923 to a peak of 2,803 in 2023, with 2024 poised to set a new record.<sup>1</sup>

While barriers and protectionist interventions were often observed as exceptional and temporary responses to economic stress, they have now become commonplace, even among countries that had traditionally supported free trade and liberalisation. The



supposed reasons for these actions include the pursuit of greater "autonomy" or selfsufficiency in the production of strategically important goods (regardless of the costs and inefficiencies imposed by these choices), and the retaliation against countries not respecting the rules applied in global markets.

#### Trade Conflicts Between China and the West

Based on these motivations, China remains one of the main targets of protectionist measures. Even after the end of the first Trump presidency, the US kept and even increased tariffs on goods imported from China.<sup>2</sup> The G7 Leaders' Communiqué released in June 2024<sup>3</sup> toughened its language on China's alleged overcapacity and its economic model's misalignment with WTO principles, stating that the G7 countries "will continue to take actions, as necessary and appropriate, to protect workers and businesses from unfair practices, to level the playing field and remedy ongoing harm."4 While some countries (particularly Germany, the world's third exporting and importing country by value) expressed reservations about the harsh tone, the final statement remained unchanged. Additionally, the communiqué explicitly referenced China's position on the Russia-Ukraine conflict, confirming the growing detrimental impact of military conflicts on trade relations.

The issue extends beyond the two trade giants, with tensions remaining high between the "North" and "South" or "East" and "West" in global trade. The WTO has observed increasing fragmentation in trade flows since the outbreak of the Ukraine war in 2022, with exports and imports reorienting along geopolitical lines. Estimates suggest that trade between hypothetical blocs of economies holding similar political views (based on UN General Assembly voting patterns, labelled as 'East' and 'West') has grown 4 percent more slowly than trade within these blocs since the invasion of Ukraine.<sup>5</sup> This trend primarily affects less complex products, where alternative suppliers are easier to find. However, the report also underlines, there are no signs of recent geopolitical tensions that have led to an overall trend towards regionalisation of global trade, or near-shoring. No continent is showing signs of increased trade regionalisation, suggesting that changing trading blocs have formed more along political than geographical lines.

Additional motivations are complicating the evolution of trade patterns. In 2024, electric vehicles (EVs)—central to environmental policy, especially in the EU-became a primary focus of the trade war. In May 2024, as part of a broader battle against Chinese tech, the US raised their duty on Chinese EVs to 100 percent.<sup>6</sup> In July, Canada launched a consultation on what it called "unfair Chinese trade practices" in the EV industry, followed by EU imposing a provisional tariff of up to 38 percent on Chinese EVs.7 In response, China launched an anti-dumping probe into European brandy, and China's ministry of commerce vowed to investigate whether the EU tariffs constitute barriers to free trade, potentially bringing the case to the WTO.

Meanwhile, firms on both sides fear getting caught in the crossfire. American tech firms face severe restrictions when entering the Chinese market, ostensibly on grounds of national security. European car producers see their sales in China at risk, while EU environmentalists fear that these policies might slow down the transition to sustainable mobility. Meanwhile, China's government finds itself in an uncomfortable position; it wants to appear tough against foreign economic powers while signalling openness to foreign investment amid a slowing economy. Therefore, the Chinese government opted for a different strategy of export restrictions, having already curbed exports of gallium and germanium, two minerals whose production is controlled by Chinese firms, and which are crucial for electronics, including electric cars. Ultimately, free trade is likely to be constrained, at high costs for many.

# Addressing the New Wave of Western Protectionism

As mentioned earlier, the ripple effects of the evolution in trade policy are affecting many other countries. US efforts to decouple from China and bring supply chains closer to home are intensifying trade through other countries, primarily Mexico, whose trade with the US has increased alongside its imports from China. This additional distortion can only partly benefit Mexico, which might compensate for an erosion of its manufacturing capacity with a greater role as a transit country for intermediate goods coming from Asia to the US.

EU's border The carbon adjustment mechanism (CBAM), even if designed with good intentions, is affecting exports from poorer countries, such as Mozambique's aluminium exports, or Zimbabwe's iron and steel exports, which tend to be heavily penalised by the CBAM. Exporters to the EU will eventually have to contend with a deforestation directive, requiring firms to prove their products were not produced on land that was forested before 2021, and a corporate-sustainability directive forcing businesses to disclose emissions throughout their supply chains-all heavy regulatory duties for emerging countries.

India complained against the CBAM at the WTO, but no formal case has been opened yet. Overall, emerging economies do not appear to have a common strategy vis-à-vis the new wave of Western protectionism. For them, remaining open and maintaining access to world markets is a vital growth opportunity, and full-fledged trade wars are against their interests.

This "stubborn" pro-trade attitude among many countries might explain the WTO's latest projections for world trade, released in October 2024, which forecast an increase in goods trade of 2.7 percent for 2024, and 3 percent for 2025.<sup>8</sup> The report states that while risks are greater on the downside, trade is expected to continue to display its resilience even in this new complex scenario. In spite of all the muscle-flexing, countries seem cognisant of the high costs in terms of welfare of giving up their gains from free trade.



- Global Trade Alert, "Total Number of Implemented Interventions Since November 2008," https://www. globaltradealert.org/global\_dynamics.
- 2. White House Government, "Fact Sheet: President Biden Takes Action to Protect American Workers and Businesses from China's Unfair Trade Practices," May 14, 2024, https://www.whitehouse.gov/ briefing-room/statements-releases/2024/05/14/ fact-sheet-president-biden-takes-action-to-protectamerican-workers-and-businesses-from-chinasunfair-trade-practices/
- 3. European Council, "Apulia G7 Leaders' Communiqué," https://www.consilium.europa.eu/ media/fttjqncg/apulia-g7-leaders-communique.pdf
- 4. European Council, "Apulia G7 Leaders Communiqué,"
- 5. WTO, Global Trade Outlook and Statistics, October 2024, Geneva, World Trade Organization, 2024, https://www.wto.org/english/res\_e/booksp\_e/ stat\_10oct24\_e.pdf
- David Lawder, "US Locks in Steep Tariff Hikes, Some Industries Warn of Disruption," *Reuters*, September 14, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/business/ us-locks-steep-china-tariff-hikes-many-startsept-27-2024-09-13/
- European Union, "Commission Imposes Provisional Countervailing Duties on Imports of Battery Electric Vehicles from China while Discussions with China Continue," July 4, 2024, https://ec.europa.eu/ commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_24\_3630
- 8. "Global Trade Outlook and Statistics, October 2024"
- 9. Benedikt Erforth and Niels Keijzer, "The European Parliament Elections: What Can We Expect for Africa-EU Relations?," Megatrends Afrika, June 13, 2024, https://www.megatrends-afrika.de/ publikation/mta-spotlight-32-eu-parliamentelections-impacts-on-africa-eu-relations
# SPI @RF 100 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# Global Economies in the Headwinds of Elections

by Nilanjan Ghosh

Getty Images/anand purohit

The year 2024 has been marked by pivotal elections in major economies, including the European Union (EU), India, African nations, Latin American countries, and the United States (US).<sup>1</sup> The electoral outcomes will be associated with concomitant economic strategies of nations that will influence not only their domestic economies but also their engagements on the global economic front. The outcomes can deeply impact global macroeconomic parameters such as inflation, interest rates, global supply chains, and trade dynamics, thereby emerging as determinants of the global geoeconomic trajectory.

The general elections in India witnessed the incumbent National Democratic Alliance's (NDA) continuity at the helm in New Delhi, though with a diminished number of seats

**Nilanjan Ghosh** is a Director at ORF, where he leads the Centre for New Economic Diplomacy (CNED) and the Kolkata Centre.



previous compared to their records.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, to a large extent, there has not been any structural break in the economic policies that followed. India, following its consumption-driven growth trajectory, stands as a crucial driver of global economic growth, backed by strong domestic demand. As per the International Monetary Fund (IMF), India's projected real growth rate of 7 percent in 2024-25 and 6.5 percent in 2025-26 will be the highest among the major economies; the previous fiscal year has already resulted in an 8.2-percent growth.3

Since the COVID-19 pandemic, which disrupted fiscal variables for the economy, there have been attempts to incorporate fiscal discipline. Estimates suggest that, from more than 9 percent of GDP in 2020-21, the budget estimates of the fiscal deficit have reduced to 4.9 percent of the GDP in 2024-25.4 This has also been associated with controlled inflation of around 5 percent, attributed to market intelligence and negotiations with crude oil procurement from Russia, and efforts by the Reserve Bank of India to balance inflation control with support for growth.5 Additionally, foreign investment in India's fixedincome market is on the rise, fueled by the inclusion of Indian government bonds in global indices, which is expected to attract US\$25-30 billion in passive inflows by March 2025.<sup>6</sup> India's external economic policies, which include the signing of trade agreements, and connectivity initiatives like the India-Middle East-Europe Economic Corridor (IMEC) are situated to play crucial roles in reshaping global trade patterns if properly implemented. India has also been a leader in renewable energy and climate mitigation.<sup>7</sup>

Meanwhile, elections in 19 nations across the African continent could reveal interesting trajectories.<sup>8</sup> While some of these countries have concluded their general elections, 10 countries are yet to witness what the elections hold.<sup>9</sup> Following challenges such as power blackouts and a massive slump in growth to 0.6 percent in 2023, South Africa witnessed a landmark coalition between the African National Congress (ANC) and its main opposition Democratic Alliance.<sup>10</sup> In contrast, despite challenges with high interest rates and energy costs, Rwanda saw over half a million new jobs created between October and December 2023 and a real GDP growth rate of 97 percent in the first quarter of 2024, resulting in a landslide victory for its incumbent, the Rwandan Patriotic Front.<sup>11</sup> Rwanda's pro-China stance continues to attract Chinese investments, although the decision of continuing the stance in the face of China's 'debt-trap diplomacy' in the African continent remains questionable.

In Latin America, polls are being held in six countries in 2024: El Salvador, Panama, the Dominican Republic, Mexico, Venezuela, and Uruguay.<sup>12</sup> Mexico witnessed a landmark election, with Claudia Sheinbaum becoming the first woman to be elected president.<sup>13</sup> However, political uncertainty regarding policy continuity poses risks to momentum, particularly concerning trade relations. Meanwhile, Uruguay awaits the results of its presidential elections amidst critical decisions on its social security programmes, which are expected to have significant economic implications.<sup>14</sup>

In Europe, recent electoral outcomes reveal increased representation for populist far-right groups.<sup>15</sup> High inflation rates, primarily driven by soaring energy costs and ongoing supply chain disruptions, pose significant challenges for the European Union (EU). This is coupled with soaring fiscal problems; in light of the economic headwinds that result in economic stagnation, the European Central Bank is considering a second consecutive rate cut in its upcoming monetary policy meeting.<sup>16</sup> This stagnation is slated to continue due to skewed demographics as a result of an ageing population, thereby increasing its dependency ratio.17 This has resulted in a smaller labour pool contributing to the macroeconomy and a decline in effective demand from low consumption expenditure.<sup>18</sup> The EU might need to consider labour migration from other parts of the world to circumvent the problem of a stagnating economy. Complicating the situation is the political instability in various EU member states such as Italy and Hungary, and the economic challenges faced by smaller states like Slovenia and Latvia. These divergent political landscapes can impede the cohesion in policy responses to economic challenges.

The US presidential election in November 2024 is slated to shape fiscal, monetary, and trade policies, affecting the US economy

and the interconnected global market. In June 2024, the IMF indicated strong positive growth for the US economy over the next two years while raising concerns about the outcomes of the 2024 presidential election and its impact on tariff policies.<sup>19</sup>

With Trump's victory, it is now expected that 'anti-China protectionism', building on the US-China trade war that began in January 2018, will be further reinforced. While such protectionism was also prevalent during Biden's administration, a renewed Trump term could lead to even stricter tariff and non-tariff measures to curb imports from China. While one may apprehend that such protectionist measures can spur inflation, slow down global economic growth, and lead to an increase in unemployment, Trump's tax proposals can counteract this impact. Trump's tax cut proposals, once implemented, are estimated to spur growth and increase long-run GDP by 0.8 percent, capital stock by 1.7 percent, wages by 0.8 percent, and create around 597,000 full-time-equivalent jobs.<sup>20</sup> This will have a positive impact on the global economic growth rates and the job market, given the high consumption propensity of the US economy and its linkages with the global economies. Further, the developed world and emerging economies forming regional trade blocs, economic corridors, and connectivity initiatives like the USbacked IMEC will add to the global economic growth forces challenging China's Belt and Road designs. US-China trade war escalation will also provide opportunities for emerging



global economic powers like India and Vietnam to step up their game in global value chains and provide impetus to global economic growth.

# Agenda 2030 and Climate Financing

The election year 2024 is expected to be a watershed year for the global economy. The political shifts in the US, the EU, and the large economies of the Global South will shape important financial and economic policies that will define the course of Agenda 2030. The world is already lagging in the Sustainable Development Goals, as revealed by the 2023 mid-term assessment.<sup>21</sup> Existing climate financing chasms are a cause for concern. especially for adaptation financing, which is urgently needed for the Global South but is not getting adequate attention from most Development Financial Institutions (DFIs) and Multilateral Financial Institutions (MFIs).<sup>22</sup> Under such circumstances, any insulating moves by economies in the Global North and Global South, with shrinkage in North-South and South-South transfers, will further aggravate the situation.

- Koh Ewe, "The Ultimate Election Year: All the Elections Around the World in 2024," *TIME*, December 28, 2023, https://time.com/6550920/ world-elections-2024/.
- Vijdan M. Kawoosa, "India Election Results," Reuters, June 4, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/graphics/ INDIA-ELECTION/zgponbzllvd/.
- 3. International Monetary Fund, "India," April 2023, https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/IND .
- "India Lowers Fiscal Deficit Target to 4.9% of GDP for FY25," Reuters, July 23, 2024, https://www. reuters.com/world/india/india-budget-indialowers-fiscal-deficit-target-49-gdp-fy25-2024-07-23/#:~:text=The%20Indian%20government%20 on%20Tuesday%20lowered%20its%20fiscal,from%20 the%20central%20bank%20and%20robust%20tax%20 revenues.
- 5. International Monetary Fund, "India".
- Sriram Iyer, "Explained | New Foreign Investors May Pour Billions into India's Government Bonds and Beyond," CNBC TV18, June 28, 2024, https://www. cnbctv18.com/market/bonds/india-sovereignbonds-jp-morgan-global-bond-indices-bondyields-interest-rates-rupee-19435240.htm.
- Vijay A. Panigrahi, "India Spearheading the Climate Change Mitigation Parade: A Focus on Its Global Initiatives," Indian Council of World Affairs, April 16, 2024, https://icwa.in/show\_content. php?lang=1&level=1&ls\_id=10754&lid=6831.
- Joseph Siegle and Candance Cook, "Africa's 2024 Elections: Challenges and Opportunities to Regain Democratic Momentum," *ReliefWeb*, January 17, 2024, https://reliefweb.int/report/world/africas-2024-elections-challenges-and-opportunitiesregain-democratic-momentum.
- 9. Siegle and Cook, "Africa's 2024 Elections: Challenges and Opportunities to Regain Democratic Momentum"

#### Global Economies in the Headwinds of Elections

- 10. B. P. Usher, "A landmark Moment in South Africa for a Humbled ANC," *BBC*, June 14, 2024, https://www. bbc.com/news/articles/cw55w4z3gqeo.
- 11. World Bank Group, "Rwanda's Economy Registers Strong Growth in Early 2024 Despite Persistent Challenges," September 17, 2024, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/pressrelease/2024/09/17/rwandas-afe-economyregisters-strong-growth-in-early-2024-despitepersistent-challenges.
- 12. Americas Society Council of the Americas, "A GUIDE TO/ 2024 Latin American Elections," https://www. as-coa.org/content/guide-2024-latin-americanelections .
- 13. Gary Beltran et al., "Mexico Election Results: Sheinbaum Wins," *New York Times*, June 4, 2024, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2024/06/02/ world/americas/results-mexico-presidentialelection.html .
- 14. Khalea Robertson, "Explainer: Uruguay's 2024 General Elections," AS/COA, October 21, 2024, https://www.as-coa.org/articles/explaineruruguays-2024-general-elections.
- Raf Casert, Lorne Cook, Samuel Petrequin, "The Far Right's Election Gains Rattle EU's Traditional Powers, Leading Macron to Call Snap Polls," *AP News*, June 10, 2024, https://apnews.com/ article/eu-election-results-european-parliamentacdoceef91d198cf5e9ee695f394b28c.
- Jamie Chisholm, "Eurozone Economy is Facing 'headwinds,' European Central Bank's Lagarde says," *MORNINGSTAR*, September 30, 2024, https://www.morningstar.com/news/ marketwatch/20240930120/eurozone-economy-isfacing-headwinds-european-central-banks-lagardesays.
- EuroStat, "Ageing Europe Statistics on Population Developments," February 2024, https://ec.europa. eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index. php?title=Ageing\_Europe\_-\_statistics\_on\_population\_ development.

- Erik-Jan van Harn and Maartje Wijffelaars, "Can Europe Slow the Impact of its Aging Society?," Rabobank, April 24, 2024, https://www.rabobank. com/knowledge/d011424761-can-europe-slowthe-impact-of-its-aging-society.
- 19. David Lawder, "US Remains Engine of Global Growth in Latest IMF Forecasts," *Reuters*, October 22, 2024, https://money.usnews.com/investing/news/ articles/2024-10-22/imf-lifts-us-growth-forecastbut-marks-down-china-sees-lackluster-globaleconomy#:~:text=The%20IMF%20revised%20its%20 2024%20U.S.%20growth%20forecast,2.2%25%2C%20 slightly%20delaying%20a%20return%20to%20 trend%20growth
- 20. Erica York, Garrett Watson, Alex Durante, and Huaqun Li, "Donald Trump Tax Plan Ideas: Details and Analysis", Research Report, Center for Federal Tax Policy. Tax Foundation. October 14, 2024. https:// taxfoundation.org/research/all/federal/donaldtrump-tax-plan-2024/.
- 21. "SDG Summit: What is the Mid-term Review?," *The Sea Cleaner*, September 13, 2023, https://www. theseacleaners.org/news/sdg-summit-what-is-themid-term-review/
- 22. Nilanjan Ghosh, "Adaptation Finance for the Global South: Imperatives for a New EU-India Climate Partnership," Hanns Seidel Stiftung, October 17, 2014, https://india.hss.de/news/adaptation-finance-forthe-global-south-imperatives-for-a-new-eu-indiaclimate-partnership-news12167/

# ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



Resisting the Temptation of Industrial Policy: Africa's Strategy in a Shifting World

by Abdelaaziz Ait Ali

Getty Images/Westend61

he world is currently experiencing increasing economic and geopolitical tensions among global powers. China's rise has disrupted the global equilibrium, prompting responses from Western countries, particularly the United States, determined to maintain their hegemonic status. A manifestation of these tensions is the surge in economic policy interventions that challenge the principles of the liberal order. These interventions have primarily taken the form of aggressive industrial policies aimed at consolidating strategic autonomy, limiting China's ascent, and leading the global green transition.

# The Return of Industrial Policies

There is widespread acceptance of the use of industrial policy, with the International Monetary Fund acknowledging the trend, and subtly endorsing and rationalising it in its latest report.<sup>1</sup> Industrial policies include a wide range of economic measures, with subsidies and trade policy as the primary tools. Although the tools are familiar, the objectives have evolved.

Security concerns are becoming more prominent objectives<sup>2</sup> and gaining more political support. Another shift is the scale of these policies. While advanced economies have historically deployed industrial policies, has now reached unprecedented this levels.<sup>3</sup> Notably, advanced countries are now transparent about their choices, whereas in the past, such measures, which often violated free trade principles, were not publicly acknowledged. For example, the United States's Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) violates World Trade Organization (WTO) principles,<sup>4</sup> particularly with its requirements on local content. The European Union (EU) has not gone as far but openly signals its willingness to do "whatever it takes" to secure its competitiveness and economic future.

Emerging economies, especially China, have also long employed these tools. The US and EU have frequently complained that China's industrial strategies violate WTO principles, leading to unfair competition. This friction is evident in recent measures, such as the countervailing duties imposed on Chinese electric vehicles, in response to alleged unfair subsidies.<sup>5</sup> Countries like India and Brazil have also historically relied on an active industrial policy,<sup>6</sup> and it is expected that they will continue to do so.

# The Case of Africa

For years, developing countries in Africa have viewed free trade and competition as the keys to a well-functioning market. Market inefficiencies required minimal and precise interventions, and trade was not a zero-sum game. A number of African countries adopted these strategies, believing that integration into the global economy through open market principles would be their path out of economic hardship. This approach often meant stepping back from state interventions that once directed the market.

For example, Morocco's success in setting up a vibrant automotive sector can be attributed to several factors, but the establishment of the ecosystem was supported by different forms of domestic subsidies to investment, training, and loans.<sup>7</sup> In addition, Morocco has long used a preferential tax system to attract companies to specific economic zones, primarily to export to global, particularly European markets. However, Morocco was recently labeled a tax haven and faced threats of retaliation from European counterparts. In response, Morocco aligned its tax system with international demands,<sup>8</sup> losing one of its key levers to attract foreign investment.

The global narrative is shifting. Superpowers are increasingly focused on their own advancement, questioning the system they once supported. The erosion of the manufacturing sector and its economic consequences, particularly for low-skilled workers, have been central to debates in advanced countries. In both the US and Europe, Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestations and Political Shifts



there has been a growing focus on bringing back manufacturing jobs. China has been accused of exploiting the global system for its own benefit, often at the expense of advanced economies, particularly the US. Newly elected President Donald Trump has claimed that "China is stealing our jobs"<sup>9</sup> and driving de-industrialisation in the US. While evidence has shown this claim to be largely inaccurate, it has gained traction and influenced the direction of US economic policy.

Meanwhile, developing countries, particularly in Africa and Latin America, have long witnessed the limitations of globalisation. Many of these countries have found themselves to be stuck in low-value segments of the global supply chain and reliant on the export of primary commodities, which exposes them to economic and political instability. Forty-six out of 54 African economies are considered to be dependent on primary commodity exports.<sup>10</sup> For Africa, the reality is stark: the total manufacturing continent's exports are lower than those of a single country such as Vietnam. In 2023, African manufacturing exports were valued at around US\$142 billion, while those of Vietnam reached US\$302 billion.11 highlights the failure of This industrialisation in the continent. with globalisation playing a partial role in this outcome.

# A Strategy for Africa

As global dissatisfaction with the current model of globalisation grows and debates around a more inclusive and resilient framework emerge, African countries must consider their strategies carefully. First, African countries should avoid being distracted by global fragmentation trends and instead focus on deepening regional integration. Africa's strength lies in its ability to integrate, achieving the scale necessary to effectively negotiate the changing environment to reap the benefits while mitigating risks. For Africa, integrating, while the rest of the world disintegrates, is the right course of action.

Second, Africa should resist the temptation to embrace industrial policy tools such as subsidies and trade barriers. While industrial policy is being hailed as the solution to economic problems, it can also foster rentseeking behaviours, especially in poorly governed systems such as many in Africa, where political influence is pervasive in the economic sphere.12 Moreover, subsidies are costly, and Africa, which is already struggling to secure financing for critical infrastructure and education,<sup>13</sup> cannot afford to lose revenue through such measures. Tax expenditures, for instance, account for approximately 2.5 percent of GDP in Sub-Saharan Africa and even higher in North Africa, representing a significant loss of tax revenue for a continent facing mounting debt.14

Even if Africa is to adopt industrial policy on a large scale, its success would depend on the broader business environment. Industrial policy is not a shortcut to development or economic transformation. Addressing the real barriers to growth should be Africa's priority. Human capital development that leverages the continent's youth population needs to be at the centre of any economic strategy. Governance must also be adapted to current needs to foster a vibrant private sector. Infrastructure investment, starting with necessities and progressing to more advanced technological infrastructure, is crucial. Similarly, labour market reforms will require a strong commitment from policymakers to drive transformation.

Relying solely on industrial policies with targeted interventions will not lead Africa to success. The real path to economic growth lies in improving the business and political environment, along with deepening continental integration. At the same time, Africa must remain mindful of the ongoing power struggles between global giants and position itself strategically to seize any emerging opportunities.

- IMF, Fiscal Policy in the Great Election Year, April 2024, Bretton Woods, International Monetary Fund, 2024, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/ FM/ Issues/2024/04/17/fiscal-monitor-april-2024?cid=bl-com-SM2024-FMOEA2024001.
- Anna Ilyina et al., Industrial Policy is Back but the Bar to Get It Right Is High, Bretton Woods, International Monetary Fund, 2024, https://www.imf.org/en/ Blogs/Articles/2024/04/12/industrial-policy-isback-but-the-bar-to-get-it-right-is-high.
- 3. "Industrial Policy is Back but the Bar to Get it Right Is High"
- European Commission, "Towards a New Commission (2024-2029)," https://commission.europa.eu/index\_ en.
- European Commission, "Commission Imposes Provisional Countervailing Duties on Imports of Battery Electric Vehicles from China While Discussions with China Continue," July 2024, https:// ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/api/files/ document/print/en/ip\_24\_3630/IP\_24\_3630\_EN.pdf.
- Fernando Santiago, "The Role of Industrial Policies in the BRICS Economic Integration Process," United Nations Industrial Development Organization, https://downloads.unido.org/ot/16/53/16531301/ WP\_1\_2020\_FINAL.pdf.
- Ait Ali et al., *Trade and Industrial Policy in Morocco: Taking Stock and Looking Ahead, Morocco*, Policy Center for the New South and World Bank, 2023, 55-100, https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/ files/2023-05/Rapport%20-%20BM%20-%20 PCNS%20Moroccan%20Trade%20Policy%2008-05-2023.pdf
- 8. US Department of State, "2023 Investment Climate Statements: Morocco," https://www.state.gov/ reports/2023-investment-climate-statements/ morocco/

# Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestations and Political Shifts



- 9. Michael Schuman, "Is China Stealing Jobs? It May Be Losing Them, Instead," *The New York Times*, July 22, 2016, https://www.nytimes.com/2016/07/23/ business/international/china-jobs-donald-trump. html; Stephen Karingi et al., "Re-globalization and Africa's Integral Role in a Sustainable Future," Brookings, July 30, 2024, https://www.brookings. edu/ articles/re-globalization-and-africas-integralrole-in-a-sustainable-future/
- 10. Karingi, "Re-globalization and Africa's Integral Role in a Sustainable Future"
- Manufacturing exports, extracted from UNCTAD database, refers to "Standard International Trade Classification" comprising from section 5 to section 8, minus 667 and 68.
- 12. C. Mlambo, "Politics and the Natural Resource Curse: Evidence from Selected African States," *Cogent Social Sciences* 8, 2022, https://doi. org/10.1080/23311886.2 022.2035911.
- 13. ADB, Africa's Infrastructure: Great Potential but Little Impact on Positive Growth, African Development Bank, 2023, https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/ uploads/ afdb/Documents/Publications/2018AEO/ African\_ Economic\_Outlook\_2018\_-\_EN\_Chapter3. pdf.
- World Bank, Tax Expenditure Manual, June 2024, Washington DC, World Bank Group, 2024, https://documents1.worldbank.org/ curated/en/099062724151636908/pdf/ P174543148ba880bb1 88fd1ce06f588a6aa.pdf

# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



# Voters are Out of Patience: Elections and the Global Economy in 2024

by Mihir S Sharma

Getty Images/Frederic J Brown

he year 2024 has been unusual. More voters have gone to the polls than in any year before, and by a considerable margin—hundreds of millions went to the polls in general elections in India, Indonesia, the European Union, and the United States; almost 100 million in the Russian Federation; and tens of millions in France, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Iran, Japan, Korea, and the United Kingdom (US).

It would be futile to attempt to discern a single message in what such disparate electorates might have to say about the global economy. However, there are distinct trends, some pre-existing and some new, that were evident in this year of democratic transitions. The most important appears to be that the return of state-led populist economics now appears to be incontrovertible. This has been



on the agenda for some time now—at least since 2016, the year of Brexit and Donald Trump. It is now increasingly clear that the era of liberal economics has been replaced, at the direction taken by electorates around the world, by something more complex.

In some ways, the effects of the financial crisis of the late-2000s are only now playing out in politics. Voters have little patience for growth-first trade-promoting the and arguments that were central to the political landscape prior to the crisis as well as austerity programmes and lowered the expectations of economic dynamism-and therefore jobs and welfare-that has marked the decades since 2008.

In the West, politicians in Europe and the US have taken advantage of widespread resentment—in their various forms—to push for increased subsidies and to promote nationalist champions. It is also likely that a backlash to the increasing costs of energy and higher regulatory burden associated with climate action is beginning.

In parts of the Global South, voters have shown support for populist policies, whether delivered by politicians from the left or right of the political spectrum. From a strictly economic perspective, there is no significant ideological gulf between victorious candidates in countries as otherwise diverse as Indonesia, India, and Mexico.

Voters in the Global South also appear to be rewarding candidates who promise to re-centre supply chains and economic links around their own countries. Economic nationalism is in vogue, whether it is the Indian commitment to 'Make in India', Indonesian attempts to onshore the processing of critical minerals, or Mexican restructuring of property rights around oil.

Not all these promises will be fulfilled—indeed, they cannot all be fulfilled, since reshoring is something of a zero-sum game. But there is no doubt that voters have demanded that a competitive economic nationalism be attempted over the coming decade.

There is also little patience with decayed welfare states, in both the Global North and Global South. Successful parties have to demonstrate that they will be able to restore or improve welfare provision. This is difficult to achieve at a time when national budgets are severely stressed after heavy global spending during the pandemic. Indeed, these demands from voters are coming at a time when borrowing from the markets has become increasingly difficult, particularly but not exclusively for countries from the Global South.

In the West, new leadership in the UK is mindful that markets have lost patience even with countries that have reliable and deep institutions, as was evident when the pound tanked and interest rates exploded under former Prime Minister Liz Truss. In many African countries, leaders face a difficult choice between expanding market borrowing and going to the International Monetary Fund. Few political leaders seem willing to tell voters what they need to hear—that there is no such thing as free welfare. Finally, voters across the world expect their state to re-invest in infrastructure. Large infrastructure projects are a hallmark of nationalism-populism—again, whether from the left or the right. However, the long-term finance needed for such projects has been monopolised by large borrowing programmes launched by countries such as the US, leaving little for other nations where voters are demanding improvements.

The return of state-led economic populism, as evident in this year of elections, may leave electorates angrier than before if the promises made to them are not fulfilled. It is perhaps ironic that the demands on democratic states are that their governments behave in the economic sphere like the People's Republic of China—the one country that is unlikely to have open and free elections anytime soon.

# ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



# The Global State of Gender Equality: Elections and Conflicts Take a Toll

by Sunaina Kumar

Getty Images/Faga Almeida/UCG

he world is off-track to achieving global goals on gender equality; if at all, those targets will have to wait until the 22<sup>nd</sup> century. According to the 2024 SDG Gender Index,<sup>1</sup> between 2019 and 2022, nearly 40 percent of countries—home to over 1 billion women and girls in 2022—saw either stagnation or a decline in gender equality. At this rate, the report warns, global gender inequality could be worse by 2030 than in 2015, when the SDGs were adopted.

The intersecting crises of recent years—from the COVID-19 pandemic and rising global conflicts to the worsening climate crisis and economic fragility and inequality, have disproportionately impacted women, who bear the brunt of economic and environmental shocks. In 2024, the risks of backsliding on gender equality have intensified further amid the two dominant trends of the year: elections and conflicts.

# Women's Votes as Pillars of Democracy

This past year of numerous elections across the world has seen the emergence of voters crucial drivers women as of participatory democracy, particularly in big democracies like India and the United States, with women voting at higher rates than men. However, despite this increased participation, women remain marginalised from decisionmaking roles worldwide. The World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report for 2024 highlights crucial gaps in women's political participation, which is critical in building democracies and advancing gender equality.<sup>2</sup>

An analysis showed that out of 42 parliamentary and presidential elections in 2024, less than 20 women are contesting seats.<sup>3</sup> Globally, only 26.9 percent of parliamentarians in single or lower houses are women, and 113 countries have never had a female head of state.<sup>4</sup>

Barriers to women's political participation remain steep in many parts of the world. In countries like India, where legislated gender quotas are in place, women's participation has improved at the local level although they continue to be excluded from the highest levels of electoral politics. Reserving seats for women through quotas is among the most effective ways to counteract the biases faced by women in politics.

# Crises and Their Disproportionate Impacts on Women

In the past year, wars, conflicts, and massive displacement has taken a toll on gender equality goals. According to the UN Women Gender Snapshot Report 2024,<sup>5</sup> for example, women and girls in conflict settings face heightened risks to their physical and mental health.

The crisis in Sudan, home to the largest internally displaced population in the world, has impacted pregnant and breastfeeding women, who are suffering from acute malnutrition and face severe health complications. In Gaza, Lebanon, Afghanistan and Ukraine, women are more vulnerable to gender-based violence, food insecurity, and infectious diseases, as conflicts exacerbate existing barriers to health care and other critical resources.

The climate crisis disproportionately affects women too, with projections indicating that, in a worst-case scenario, global warming can potentially push up to 158 million more women and girls into extreme poverty by 2050.<sup>6</sup> The climate crisis threatens women's livelihoods and food security. Indeed, this year alone, 47.8 million more women than men faced food insecurity.<sup>7</sup>

Harnessing digital technology is essential for achieving gender equality, as it has a multiplier effect, providing women and girls with access to education, employment, and entrepreneurial opportunities. Although efforts to close the gender digital divide



have shown some progress, the gap is still substantial, with 244 million more men than women using the internet in 2023.<sup>8</sup>

Compounding the challenge is the decline in financing for gender equality amid a fragile geopolitical environment and the climate crisis. In 2021-22, the share of bilateral development finance specifically targeted for the policy aim of gender equality decreased to 43 percent from 45 percent in 2019-2020, with private philanthropy contributing only 8 percent of the total.<sup>9</sup> This decline coincides with an overall reduction in development finance since the pandemic. Boosting both public and private financing for gender equality is a critical way forward.

Investing in women and girls is essential for building inclusive societies. Such investment stimulates growth and productivity, yielding long-term economic and social benefits as economies expand and health and education outcomes improve.

The United Nations recommends six lines of action for investing in gender equality in the run-up to the deadline of Agenda 2030. These are: ensuring women farmers have access to land and resources; gender-responsive clean energy transition; closing the digital gender divide; addressing gender gaps in education and economic opportunities; investing in social protection systems and the care economy; and redistributing resources to build gender-inclusive resilience to climate change. Underlying these investments is the need for ensuring women's leadership in science, technology, innovation, climate policy, and politics. Progress towards gender equality is both urgent and challenging. The increase in global fragility amid the intersectionalities between gender and climate, conflict, and economic downturn, has worsened the vulnerability of women. Countries must place gender equality at the core of all initiatives.

#### The Global State of Gender Equality: Elections and Conflicts Take a Toll

- 1. Equal Measures 2030, *2024 SDG Gender Index:* A Gender Equal Future in Crisis?, 2024, https:// equalmeasures2030.org/2024-sdg-gender-index/
- 2. Kusum Kali Pal et al., *Global Gender Gap Report* 2024, Geneva, World Economic Forum, 2024, https:// www.weforum.org/publications/global-gendergap-report-2024/
- 3. Jonathan Yerushalmy and Ashifa Kassam, "More People Will Vote in 2024 Than Ever Before... But Where Are the female Candidates," The Guardian, April 22, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2024/apr/22/global-elections-2024-womenfemale-candidates
- 4. UN Women, "In the Biggest Electoral Year in History, 113 Countries Have Never Had a Woman Head of state, New UN Women Data Shows," June 24, 2024, https://www.unwomen.org/en/news-stories/pressrelease/2024/06/in-the-biggest-electoral-year-inhistory-113-countries-have-never-had-a-womanhead-of-state-new-un-women-data-shows
- UN Women and DESA, Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals: The Gender Snapshot 2024, New York, UN Women and DESA, 2024, https:// unstats.un.org/sdgs/gender-snapshot/2024/ GenderSnapshot2024.pdf
- 6. "Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals: The Gender Snapshot 2024"
- 7. "Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals: The Gender Snapshot 2024"
- 8. International Telecommunication Union, "Facts and Figures 2023," https://www.itu.int/itu-d/reports/ statistics/2023/10/10/ff23-the-gender-digitaldivide/
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, "Development Finance for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment," March 7, 2024, https://web-archive.oecd.org/temp/2024-03-07/73550-development-finance-for-genderequality-and-women-s-empowerment.htm

# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



Getty Images/koiguo

# The U.S.-China Trade War: Implications for the Global South

by Hinh T. Dinh

he ongoing trade war between the United States (US) and China, which began in 2018, has impacted the global economic landscape, particularly for developing countries. For decades, the US has criticised China's trade practices and thrown allegations such as intellectual property theft, forced technology transfers, and state subsidies that give Chinese companies an unfair advantage in global markets.<sup>1</sup> China has viewed many of these criticisms as attempts to stifle its economic rise and maintain US hegemony in the global economic order.

In 2018, the US imposed substantial tariffs on Chinese imports, which China reciprocated.<sup>2</sup> It is estimated that the average US tariff on Chinese imports rose from 3.1 percent in 2018 to 19.3 percent by 2019, while China's average tariff on US goods increased from 8 percent to 21.1 percent.<sup>3</sup> As a result, China's market share of US imports decreased from 21.6 percent in 2017 to 13.7 percent in 2023, while foreign direct investment in China declined from over US\$100 billion in 2018 to just US\$6 billion in the first half of 2022. Estimates suggest that the tariffs cost China's economy between 0.31 percent and 0.36 percent of GDP annually, amounting to US\$190-221 billion over five years.<sup>4</sup> The US experienced a small negative effect on overall economic welfare and real incomes in the short run, with an estimated GDP loss of around 0.13 percent.<sup>5</sup> The tariffs did lead to an increase in the value of domestic US production for directly affected industries, averaging 0.4 percent annually.

However, the effects of the trade war extend far beyond these two economic giants. Bystander countries have had varied responses to the increased tariffs on the US and China.<sup>6</sup> Some countries that are more integrated into global trade networks benefited from the trade diversion, as companies sought alternatives to Chinese products.<sup>a</sup> Others, especially resourceexporting countries, faced adverse impacts from decreased demand for commodities due to the slowdown in Chinese economic growth.<sup>7</sup> In 2024, the European Union (EU) joined the trade war and proposed new tariffs on Chinese electric vehicles (EVs), claiming that China's subsidies are distorting competition. In response, China launched an investigation into European subsidies on dairy products, sparking a trade dispute. The EU is considering more assertive and protectionist trade measures to protect key industries from unfair competition, including expanding its bilateral trade agreements to secure critical resources and protect supply chains.<sup>8</sup>

'Friend-shoring',<sup>b</sup> which has gained traction in recent years, adds further complexity to global trade. The US and the EU are at the forefront of this shift, focusing on securing supply chains for essential raw materials, commodities, and manufactured goods from politically aligned and economically stable partners.

This trend poses a challenge for many developing countries, especially in Africa, which have been notably absent from current friendshoring initiatives. While the US has introduced a new strategy for Sub-Saharan Africa,<sup>9</sup> it lacks concrete commitments to friend-shoring.<sup>c</sup> Being excluded from friend-shoring networks

a For instance, Haberkorn et al. (2024) of the US Federal Reserve found that Mexico and Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) have benefited from US-China trade tensions as production shifts from China to these regions.

b 'Friend-shoring' refers to the practice of relocating supply chains to countries considered to be allies or friendly nations. This strategy aims to reduce reliance on countries with divergent political interests, such as China, while strengthening economic ties with allies.

c This strategy harnesses US diplomatic, development, trade, commercial, and defense capabilities to achieve four objectives: foster open and transparent societies; strengthen democratic institutions and regional security; drive economic recovery and growth in the post-pandemic era; and support conservation, climate adaptation, and equitable energy transition (The White House, 2022).



could lead to trade diversion, reduced foreign direct investment, challenges in job creation, limited competitiveness, decreased technology transfer, and diminished benefits from multilateral trade initiatives.

#### **Difficult Choices and Strategic Autonomy**

Given the complex dynamics between the US, China, and the EU, developing countries must make difficult choices about where to align their economic and geopolitical interests. These decisions are not merely about choosing between markets; they also involve broader considerations of strategic autonomy and long-term development goals.

For many developing countries, the best approach may be to pursue a strategy of nonalignment, maintaining economic relationships with all three global powers while avoiding becoming overly dependent on any one of them. This approach will allow countries to maximise their economic opportunities while maintaining flexibility in a rapidly changing global landscape.

However, non-alignment is not without its challenges. Developing countries must navigate the competing demands of the US, China, and the EU while managing their own domestic economic and political pressures. Continued friend-shoring practices by the three powers could force countries to choose sides, particularly in sectors such as technology and critical infrastructure.

One crucial concern among developing countries is that rising protectionism from the US and the EU will lead to an increase in China's exports to the Global South.<sup>10</sup> This concern is grounded in three factors. First, Chinese exports are highly competitive across a range of goods, from low- to highvalue-added products, due to an efficient production ecosystem that combines massive economies of scale, a vast domestic supply chain, organisational efficiency, and a well-trained and experienced workforce. Second, China's 2023 exports reached US\$3.5 trillion, with roughly half directed to the US and the EU.<sup>11</sup> Increased protectionism from these markets could divert this surplus toward developing economies, as China's production capacity is geared to exports rather than domestic consumption. Third, recent research reveals a trade war-induced shift, with US trading partners importing more from China; between 2019 and 2022, China's share of ASEAN imports rose by 1.5 to 4 percentage points, primarily in tariffed goods, while Mexico saw a similar increase of 0.5-2.5 percentage points, also concentrated in tariffed goods.12

# Strategies for the Global South

To strengthen their position amidst these challenges, developing countries can adopt several strategies. One approach is regional integration, enhancing trade within regional blocs such as the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) or ASEAN, creating larger markets, and boosting resilience against external shocks. South-South cooperation offers another path, fostering trade, knowledge-sharing, and technology transfer among developing nations to reduce reliance on the US, EU, or China. Strategic protectionism can safeguard key industries but must be carefully managed to avoid breaching the World Trade Organization (WTO) rules and triggering retaliation.

Diversifying economies is also crucial. This involves reducing the dependence on single sectors or trade partners by investing in education, innovation, and infrastructure, particularly in high-value industries such as technology and green energy. Developing a strong manufacturing sector through an industrialisation drive is essential for securing a place in global supply chains and attracting friend-shoring. Additionally, long-term investment in education and research and development (R&D) will help build a skilled workforce and foster innovation, enabling developing countries to create unique competencies and compete more effectively in the global economy.

The US-China trade war has created a complex set of challenges and opportunities for developing countries. As the global economic centre of gravity continues to shift, the voice and influence of developing countries in shaping international trade rules could grow stronger. Success will require balancing strategic autonomy with productive engagement in the global economy. Countries that can navigate these dynamics, leverage their strengths, and forge strategic partnerships will be best positioned to turn the challenges posed by greatpower competition into opportunities for their development and prosperity.

- Susan V. Lawrence et al., "U.S.-China Relations," Congressional Research Service, September 3, 2019, https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/ R45898
- Chad P. Bown, "US-China Trade War Tariffs: An Upto-Date Chart," Peterson Institute for International Economics, April 6, 2023, https://www.piie.com/ research/piie-charts/2019/us-china-trade-wartariffs-date-chart.
- 3. Bown, "US-China Trade War Tariffs: An Up-to-Date Chart"
- 4. Mario Draghi, "The Future of European Competitiveness Part A and B," European Commission, 2024, https://www.europeansources. info/record/the-future-of-europeancompetitiveness/.
- 5. Office of the U.S. Trade Representative, "Four-Year Review of Actions Taken in the Section 301 Investigation: China's Acts, Policies, and Practices Related to Technology Transfer, Intellectual Property, and Innovation," May 14, 2024, https:// ustr.gov/sites/ default/files/USTR%20Report%20 Four%20Year%20 Review%20of%20China%20 Tech%20Transfer%20 Section%20301.pdf.
- Pablo Fajgelbaum et al., "The US-China Trade War and Global Reallocations," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper, https://www. nber.org/system/files/working\_papers/w29562/ w29562.pdf
- 7. Hinh T. Dinh, "The Trade War and the U.S. Election: What's at Stake for Developing Countries?," Policy Center for the New South, September 27, 2024, https://www.policycenter.ma/publications/tradewar-and-us-election-whats-stake-developingcountries.
- 8. Draghi, "The future of European Competitiveness Part A and B"
- The White House, "U.S. Strategy Toward Sub-Saharan Africa," August 2022, https://www. whitehouse.gov/ wp-content/uploads/2022/08/ U.S.-Strategy- Toward-Sub-Saharan-Africa-FINAL. pdf

# Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestations and Political Shifts



- 10. Dinh, "The Trade War and the U.S. Election: What's at Stake for Developing Countries?"
- International Monetary Fund, "People's Republic of China: 2024 Article IV Consultation—Press Release; Staff Report; and Statement by the Executive Director for the People's Republic of China," 2024, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/ Issues/2024/08/01/Peoples-Republic-of-China-2024-Article-IV-Consultation-Press-Release-Staff-Report-and-552803.
- 12. Flora Haberkorn et al., "Global Trade Patterns in the Wake of the 2018-2019 US-China Tariff Hikes," 2024, https://www.federalreserve.gov/econres/notes/ feds-notes/global-trade-patterns-in-the-wake-ofthe-2018-2019-u-s-china-tariff-hikes-20240412.html

# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



Getty Images/VCG

# Submarine Cables: A Crucial Infrastructure for Global Connectivity

by **Ludovica Favarotto and Alessandro Gili**  ata plays a crucial role in today's world; from financial transactions to online shopping, from academic research to social media, our activities rely on, and generate data through the internet. This flow of information relies almost entirely on a global network of fibre-optic cables laid on the ocean seabed.

These underwater 'cable highways' connect the world's data centres and internet hubs to ensure global communications, making it possible to exchange data, services, and investments. Approximately 99 percent of the world's internet traffic<sup>1</sup> transits through a submarine network, facilitating financial transactions worth more than US\$10 trillion daily.

These infrastructures, which are at the core of global economy and security, are

**Ludovica Favarotto** is Research Trainee, Geoeconomics Centre, ISPI. **Alessandro Gili** is Research Fellow, Geoeconomics and Infrastructure Centres, ISPI.



set to become a key component in digital transition. Connectivity will become essential in implementing joint projects on Artificial Intelligence (AI), data centres, the cloud, and the Internet of Things (IoT).

It has been estimated that, by early 2024, a total of 574 commercial submarine cables<sup>2</sup> will be in operation or at least being planned, mainly owned by private companies. In addition, a US\$10-billion cable expansion is set to bring approximately 78 cable projects<sup>3</sup> spanning over 300,000 km, between 2023 and 2025. As the digital transition continues, the demand for submarine cables will only intensify; indeed, their number is expected to grow by around 30 percent<sup>4</sup> per year in the next decade. The ultimate objective<sup>5</sup> is to achieve a coverage of over 1.4 million km, connecting every region of the world.

#### **Old and New Players**

In recent years, the submarine cable industry has become an arena for geopolitical competition, with de-risking strategies now being applied under the sea as well. Two opposing camps are emerging in the construction and management of undersea cables: the EU and the G7, through their Global Gateway initiative<sup>6</sup> and the Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment (PGII)<sup>7</sup> with private companies, respectively, and China's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI),<sup>8</sup> in particular with Hengtong.

As the tensions between Washington and Beijing escalate, the United States (US) has prohibited private companies—most notably Google, Meta, and Amazon—from building trans-oceanic cables<sup>9</sup> that directly or i ndirectly connect the US to China, citing national security concerns, including the risk of espionage. This ban impacted the Pacific Light Cable Network project,<sup>10</sup> which was originally intended to link the US to Hong Kong. In response to Washington's decision to sever connections with Hong Kong, the cable—renamed Cap-1—was repurposed<sup>11</sup> to route data between the US, Taiwan, and the Philippines. Along the EU-Asia route, the SEA-ME-WE 6 (US-led) and the PEACE cable (China-led) could be seen as geopolitical competitors.

The India-Middle East-Europe Corridor (IMEC)<sup>12</sup> is a potential game changer. Launched during the G20 Summit in New Delhi in 2023 as part of the G7 PGII, IMEC is an ambitious project for a digital cable that will connect India and Europe through the Middle East. India and Europe are both keen to establish themselves as global hubs for manufacturing, technology, and logistics, and digital connectivity will be vital to achieving this vision.

Furthermore, the India-Europe Trade and Technology Council, established in 2023, is set to serve<sup>13</sup> as a cornerstone for enhancing technological and digital cooperation. By promoting collaboration in these sectors, the IMEC has the potential to reshape the economic landscape, opening new opportunities for growth and innovation. However, significant obstacles—both geopolitical and economic remain. Moreover, within the Global Gateway framework, the EU is actively working to strengthen cooperation and investment in digital connectivity with the Global South. In Africa, the EU-AU (African Union) Data Flagship initiative<sup>14</sup> plans to connect Mauritania with a new submarine cable, providing a backup solution to the existing African Coast to Europe (ACE) cable and increasing capacity. data Additionally, Europe is turning its attention to South America. To enhance **EU-American** communication and economic ties, a 6,000km submarine digital cable, known as BELLA.<sup>15</sup> was constructed and became operational in 2021.

Against this backdrop, the imperative to protect critical undersea cable systems from accidents, sabotage, and perceived threats posed by China's Digital Silk Road (DSR) initiative has prompted the launch of the Quad Partnership for Cable Connectivity and Resilience<sup>16</sup> in May 2023. The partnership which includes Australia, the US, India, and Japan-aims to strengthen cable systems in the Indo-Pacific By leveraging the Quad countries' expertise in designing, manufacturing, laving, maintaining and undersea cables, the initiative seeks to establish secure cable systems that enhance internet connectivity and resilience within the region.

The US's stance on China, along with regional initiatives such as those within the Quad framework, could hinder China's ambitions

to become a global leader in submarine data cables. The China Manufacturing 2025 plan<sup>17</sup> explicitly states Beijing's goal of capturing a 60-percent market share by 2025, backed by planned investments of US\$95 billion in its Digital Silk Road, the technology arm of the BRI. However, at present, partly due to US de-risking measures on critical digital technologies, China's global market share in the submarine cable sector remains stagnant at around 10 percent.<sup>18</sup>

# The Security Issue

The governance of submarine cables in recent years has increasingly focused on security concerns. On 26 September 2024, the EU endorsed a Joint Statement on the security and resilience of undersea cables during a United Nations General Assembly event in New York. Proposed by the US, the Joint Statement<sup>19</sup> outlines key principles to safeguard the infrastructure of undersea cables. These principles emphasise the importance of selecting low-risk sub-sea cable providers, adhering to cybersecurity best practices, enhancing route diversity, protecting cable networks from and unauthorised access to data in transit.

In 2023, the EU and NATO launched a joint task force focused on critical infrastructure resilience.<sup>20</sup> Additionally, in May 2024, NATO established the Maritime Centre for Security of Critical Undersea Infrastructure<sup>21</sup> in London. The current challenge is to expand cooperation on a global scale, particularly



within the G20, to develop a trustworthy international framework for the construction, operation, maintenance, and surveillance of digital cables that underpin global connectivity.

The growing concern is that geopolitical considerations, even within the submarine cable market, are taking precedence over efficiency and cost-effectiveness. This shift risks an overlapping of projects, resulting resources and fragmented in wasted infrastructure. However, the stakes are even higher at critical data-cable chokepoints, such as the Red Sea, the Strait of Gibraltar, and the Strait of Malacca, which are danger zones where any disruption could have severe consequences for global connectivity. In these areas, a single failure could cripple communications at a massive scale.

risks, diversification То mitigate these is essential. Building more resilient and diverse routes can ensure that the global network remains secure, while redundancy can minimise vulnerabilities. However, to truly safeguard the future of global data infrastructure, international collaboration is needed to establish a new, mutually agreedfield—one that balances upon playing geopolitical realities with the need for efficiency, security, and innovation.

- Alan Mauldin, "Do Submarine Cables Account For Over 99% of Intercontinental Data Traffic?," *TeleGeography*, May 4, 2023, https://blog. telegeography.com/2023-mythbusting-part-3
- 2. Pamir Consulting LLC, "The Protection and Democratization of Undersea Communications Networks," *PAMIR*, https://pamirllc.com/blog/ the-protection-and-democratization-of-underseacommunications-networks
- 3. Natalie Bannerman, "There's Something in the Water," *Capacity Media*, March 26, 2024, https://www.capacitymedia.com/ article/2d0twgtin8pt7e0z84a20/ news/theressomething-in-the-water
- Nancy Ross and Maggie Vencill, "Digital Silk Road Peace: Subsea Cable Connections to the ICT," *MITRE*, May 2, 2024, https://www.mitre.org/newsinsights/ publication/digital-silk-road-peacesubsea-cable-connections-ict
- 5. Submarine Cable 101, "Submarine Cable Frequently Asked Questions," *TeleGeography*, https://www2. telegeography.com/submarine-cable-faqsfrequently-asked-questions
- 6. The White House, "Memorandum on the Partnership for Global Infrastructure and Investment," June 26, 2022, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ presidential-actions/2022/06/26/memorandumon-the-partnership-for-global-infrastructure-andinvestment/
- 7. European Commission, "Global Gateway," https:// commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/ priorities-2019-2024/stronger-europe-world/globalgateway\_en
- Dale Aluf, "China's Subsea-Cable Power Play in the Middle East and North Africa," *Atlantic Council*, May 2023, https://www.atlanticcouncil. org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/ ChinasGrowingInfluence\_052423-1.pdf

#### Submarine Cables: A Crucial Infrastructure for Global Connectivity

- 9. Executive Office of the President, "Establishing the Committee for the Assessment of Foreign Participation in the United States Telecommunications Services Sector," Federal Register, April 8, 2020, https://www.federalregister. gov/documents/2020/04/08/2020-07530/ establishing-the-committee-for-the-assessment-offoreign-participation-in-the-united-states
- 10. Gross Anna et al., "How the US is pushing China out of the internet's plumbing," *The Financial Times*, June 13, 2023, https://ig.ft.com/subsea-cables/
- Joe Brock, "U.S. And China Wage War Beneath The Waves – Over Internet Cables," *Reuters*, March 24, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/investigates/ special-report/us-china-tech-cables/
- Gili Alessandro, "Imec: tra opportunità strategiche e complessità geopolitiche," *ISPI*, January 15.
   2024, https://www.ispionline.it/it/pubblicazione/ imec-tra-opportunita-strategiche-e-complessitageopolitiche-163513
- Delivorias Angelos, "EU-India Trade and Technology Council," *European Parliamentary Research Service*, 2024, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ RegData/ etudes/ATAG/2024/757587/EPRS\_ ATA(2024)757587\_EN.pdf
- 14. ACE Cable, "Submarine Cable," https://acesubmarinecable.com/en/submarine-cable/
- 15. European Commission, "BELLA Building the Europe Link to Latin America," European Commission
  International Partnerships, https://internationalpartnerships.ec.europa.eu/policies/programming/ projects/bella-building-europe-link-latin-america\_ en
- The White House, "Quad Leaders' Joint Statement," May 20, 2023, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefingroom/statements-releases/2023/05/20/quadleaders-joint-statement/
- 17. Bechis Francesco, "Undersea Cables: The Great Data Race Beneath the Oceans," *ISPI*, May 28, 2021, https://www.ispionline.it/en/publication/underseacables-great-data-race-beneath-oceans-30651

- Ting-Fang Cheng et al., "China's Subsea Cable Drive Defies U.S. Sanctions," *Nikkei Asia*, June 26, 2024, https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/The-Big-Story/ China-s-undersea-cable-drive-defies-U.S.-sanctions
- 19. European Commission, "The New York Joint Statement on the Security and Resilience of Undersea Cables in a Globally Digitalized World," September 26, 2024, https://digital-strategy. ec.europa.eu/en/library/new-york-joint-statementsecurity-and-resilience-undersea-cables-globallydigitalized-world
- 20. NATO, "NATO and European Union Launch Task Force on Resilience of Critical Infrastructure," March 16, 2023, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/ news\_212874.htm
- 21. NATO, "NATO Officially Launches New Maritime Centre for Security of Critical Undersea Infrastructure," May 28, 2024, https://mc.nato.int/ media-centre/news/2024/nato-officially-launchesnew-nmcscui

Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestations and Political Shifts



# Energy and Climate Change

# ISPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER



Getty Images/Phill Magakoe

# Upscaling Climate Finance in Africa

by Sabrine Emran

he road to 'net zero in 2050' requires greenhouse reducing qas (GHG) emissions by 55 percent by 2030 compared to 1990 levels, according to the European Green Deal roadmap. This, in turn, calls for an estimated additional €392 billion (US\$430 billion) investment each year into the energy sector, compared to investments made between 2011 and 2020.1 At the same time, the energy development goals of African countries will rely on doubling energy investment needs to over US\$200 billion per year by 2030. This includes both universal access to modern energy and being fully able to meet their Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) in time.<sup>2</sup>

The global net-zero goals could potentially receive a boost, as beginning in 2024, the world is aiming to invest almost twice as



much in clean energy as in fossil fuels.<sup>3</sup> Global energy investment is set to exceed US\$3 trillion in 2024, with US\$2 trillion going to clean-energy technologies and infrastructure.

In Africa, however, total energy spending is expected to be only US\$110 billion this year, nearly US\$70 billion of which will still be in fossil fuels.ª This underlines the lack of investment required to meet the continent's Development Goals Sustainable (SDGs). (Energy investments in Africa are currently only 1.2 percent of the continent's gross domestic product (GDP).4) A silver lining is that spending on fossil fuels is expected to decline to US\$36 billion by 2050, as African countries pursue lowered emissions under the net-zero scenario as well. Low-emission electricity investments, currently at US\$23 billion, are projected to reach US\$85 billion in the same year, though it will require substantial investment in clean energy sources.5

So far, Africa's share of global clean energy investments accounts for merely 2 percent of the total. More investment in its renewable energy will have to be found, and it must utilise the continent's abundant resources of solar and wind, prioritising regions with the greatest need.<sup>6</sup> Addressing investment barriers and scaling up clean energy financing are essential, or else Africa may miss a transformative opportunity to bypass outdated infrastructure and achieve sustainable economic growth.

# The New Collective Quantified Goal

At the historic Paris Agreement of 2015, the signatory countries had agreed to start a "new collective quantified goal" (NCQG) on climate finance to upscale the existing goal of US\$100 billion a year. But it is only now, at the 29<sup>th</sup> Conference of the Parties (COP29) to be held in Baku in November, that countries are expected to adopt the NCQG, directing increased funding towards critical climate action in developing countries.<sup>7</sup> This will facilitate the implementation of lowcarbon, climate-resilient solutions across essential and hard-to-abate sectors such as energy, transport, and agriculture. By boosting financial support, the NCQG aims to help developing countries elevate their climate ambitions in the next round of nationally determined contributions (NDCs) due in February 2025.

Extreme climate events are increasing in frequency and intensity, disproportionately impacting the African continent. On average, climate-related disasters result in a loss of 2-5 percent of GDP for African countries

a Of the US\$70-billion investment in fossil fuels, US\$65 billion will be in fossil fuel supply, US\$3 billion on fossil fuel power, and the rest on low-emissions electricity, grids and storage, clean supply, and end use.

each year. Some countries have had to allocate as much as 9 percent of their national budgets to address these challenges.<sup>8</sup>

Prior to the new round of NDCs, countries are expected to submit their Biannual Transparency Reports (BTR) by the end of 2024,9 and are being encouraged to submit National Adaptation Plans their (NAP) before COP29 to help build momentum. The African Group of Negotiators has already made its submission already,<sup>10</sup> with primary focus on establishing a fair, equitable and effective new finance goal.<sup>11</sup> The group is also eager to secure agreements on key aspects necessary to start implementing mechanisms already agreed upon at earlier COPs, such as the Global Goal on Adaptation, the Loss and Damage Fund, and Article 6 on carbon markets. However, as discussions earlier this year at Bonn revealed, countries have yet to begin formal negotiations on specific financial commitments.

The NCQG will focus on both mitigation and adaptation, with the potential to include financial support for loss and damage. Historically, adaptation funding has lagged behind mitigation, fuelling mistrust between nations. COP29 could be a pivotal moment for countries to pledge more significant resources for adaptation and rebuild confidence in climate finance.

One of the central debates in NCQG discussions is the quantum or overall funding target.<sup>12</sup> Developing countries have pushed for an annual goal of US\$1.1–1.3

trillion, with US\$400 billion dedicated to adaptation efforts. Developed nations have yet to propose specific figures.

Adaptation financing is delivered through multiple channels, such as UN climate funds, bilateral agreements, and private sector involvement. There is a crucial need to mobilise greater private sector investments, including more public-private partnerships, de-risking instruments, guarantees, green bonds, and debt-for-climate swaps.<sup>13</sup>

#### **Innovative Financing Mechanisms**

#### **Green Bonds**

While green bonds, climate bonds, and certified climate bonds do overlap, they also need to be distinguished from one another.14 Green bonds are those whose proceeds are used for all kinds of projects with environmental benefits. Climate bonds are a subset of green bonds, focused specifically on projects with climate-related benefits, while certified climate bonds are green bonds that have been verified under the Climate Bonds Standard, ensuring they meet specific criteria for use of proceeds and disclosure requirements for impact reporting. All three share the common goal of financing initiatives that promote sustainability and environmental resilience.

In East Africa, issuance of sustainable green bonds has been on the rise. The Tanga Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Authority (Tanga UWASA) in Tanzania,<sup>15</sup> for instance, issued a 10-year green bond in April 2024 to



fund water infrastructure projects. The bond raised US\$20 million in investments and has been listed on the Dar es Salaam stock exchange. Morocco too, has been pioneering issuance of different types of green finance instruments. It launched its first green bond in 2017 through the Moroccan Agency for Sustainable Energy (MASEN)<sup>16</sup> to help finance development of solar power. In 2023, the World Bank issued two Sustainable Development Bonds purchased by Bank Al-Maghrib (the Central Bank of Morocco) for its reserves management.<sup>17</sup> According to the 2030 climate finance vision, Morocco has allocated US\$1,385 million for climate finance-US\$ 1,035 million for mitigation and US\$350 for adaptation.

#### Debt-for-Climate Swaps

Africa suffers from high debt burdens and a limited fiscal space, so debt-for-climate swaps (DCS) can be useful for reducing debt while boosting climate funding. However, for these swaps to have wide impact, significant systemic changes are needed to expand participation and ensure meaningful results.<sup>18</sup> Key strategies to scale up DCS include transitioning from bilateral to multilateral agreements to provide broader debt relief, using credit guarantees to lower risk and attract private investors, and designing swaps that combine public and private investments for climate action.

#### **De-Risking Private Capital**

The primary tools for de-risking private capital are credit risk-mitigation instruments,

such as partial credit guarantees (PCGs) and first-loss guarantees (FLGs).<sup>19</sup> These instruments, however, are not fully utilised in most countries due to their high cost, complicated processes, and the sheer time taken by multilateral institutions to affirm them.

To scale up solutions and make them more attractive for private investors, they need to be flexible, and keep their costs down. As an example, off-grid solutions like the Africa Guarantee Fund (AGF) have shown promise in mobilising private capital for small and medium enterprises (SMEs).

Overall, bridging the finance gap in energy transition requires rebuilding trust in effective collaboration for a transition that is just, particularly in developing countries. The use of innovative financing mechanisms needs to be expanded, ensuring they are tailored to the specific needs of different markets.

#### Upscaling Climate Finance in Africa

- ECA, EU Climate and Energy Targets- 2020 Targets Achieved, But Little Indication That Actions to Reach 2030 Targets Will Be Sufficient, June 2023, Luxembourg, European Court of Auditors, 2023, https://www.eca.europa.eu/ECAPublications/SR-2023-18/SR-2023-18\_EN.pdf
- 2. IEA, *Financing Clean Energy in Africa*, September 2023, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2023, https://www.iea.org/reports/financing-cleanenergy-in-africa
- "Clean Energy Investment Set to Double That of Fossil Fuels – Here's How Developing Nations Can Also Benefit," World Economic Forum, August 28, 2024, https://www.weforum.org/ stories/2024/08/clean-energy-investmentjust-transition/#:~:text=The%20 International%20 Energy%20Agency's%20(IEA,to%20 coal%2C%20 gas%20and%20oil.
- 4. IEA, *World Energy Investment 2024: Africa, June 2024, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-investment-2024/africa*
- 5. "Past and Future Energy Investment in Africa in the Announced Pledges Scenario in the Net Zero Emissions by 2050 Scenario," International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea.org/ data-and-statistics/charts/past-and-futureenergy-investment-in-africa-in-the-announcedpledges-scenario-and-in-the-net-zero-emissionsby- 2050-scenario-2016-2030
- 6. "Africa's Energy Future is Renewable," RES4Africa Foundation, https://res4africa.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/06/Africas-Energy-Future-is-Renewables-Flagship2023.pdf
- 7. "What Could the New Climate Finance Goal Look Like? 7 Elements Under Negotiation," World Resources Institute, https://www.wri.org/insights/ ncqg-key-elements

- WMO, State of the Climate in Africa, 2023, September 2024, Geneva, World Meteorological Organization, 2023, https://library.wmo.int/viewer/69000/ download?file=1360\_State-of-the-Climate-in-Africa-2023\_en.pdf&type=pdf&navigator=1
- UNDP, "COP29 in Azerbaijan to Be a 'Truce COP'," July 21, 2024, https://www.undp.org/europeanunion/ press-releases/cop29-azerbaijan-be-trucecop
- 10. UNFCCC, "Submission By the Arab Republic of Egypt on Behalf of the African Group of Negotiators," https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ AGN%20Submission%20on%20matters%20 related%20to%20financing%20of%20actions%20 to%20address%20L%26D.pdf
- "African Group of Negotiators Put Forward COP29 Positions," African Climate Wire, https:// africanclimatewire.org/2024/08/african-group-ofnegotiators-put-forward-cop29-positions/
- 12. Katherine Brown, "Three Types of Adaptation Finance "Must-Haves" for the New Collective Quantified Goal (NCQG)," Stockholm Environmental Institute, https://www.sei.org/perspectives/ three-types-adaptation-finance-must-havesncqg/#fnref-1
- 13. "Climate Adaptation and Resilience Needs More Innovative Funding," World Economic Forum, https://www.weforum.org/stories/2024/02/ climate-adaptation-and-resilience-innovativefunding/
- "Africa Green Bond Toolkit: A Practical Guide to Issuing Green Bonds for Africa," FSD Africa, August 4, 2020, https://www.fsdafrica.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/08/Africa\_GBToolKit\_Eng\_FINAL.pdf
- Tom Minney, "Green Bonds Bloom in Africa," African Business, July 31, 2024, https://african. business/2024/07/african-banker/green-bondsbloom-in-africa

# Global Dynamics in a Year of Domestic Contestations and Political Shifts



- 16. Climate Bonds, "Moroccan Agency of Sustainable Energy," https://www.climatebonds.net/ certification/masen
- 17. World Bank Group, "Bank Al Maghrib Invests in World Bank Sustainable Development Bonds for Its Reserves Management," October 9, 2023, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/pressrelease/2023/10/09/bank-al-maghrib-invests-inworld-bank-sustainable-development-bonds-forits-reserves-management
- Karim Kalaki et al., "Three Ways to Scale Up Debt for Climate Swaps," European Centre for Development Policy Management, November 10, 2023, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/pressrelease/2023/10/09/bank-al-maghrib-invests-inworld-bank-sustainable-development-bonds-forits-reserves-management
- 19. Kalaki et al., "Three Ways to Scale Up Debt for Climate Swaps"

# SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



# Climate Action: The Limits of Democracy

by Lydia Powell

Getty Images/Sean Gallup

he year 2024 will set a record for the most voters in a single year.<sup>1</sup> With elections being held in 73 countries that constitute more than one-third of the world population, 2024 has been labelled the "election super-cycle year".<sup>2</sup> With 2024 also being the hottest year on record, climate change is expected to become a more prominent electoral concern for many Western democracies.<sup>3</sup> There is optimism democracies that will elect open committed to addressing governments climate change and strengthening democracy, calling for greater civic engagement, participatory planning, and government action.<sup>4</sup> There is also pessimism that expensive energy transitions will lead to public discontent that right-wing parties will exploit.<sup>5</sup> Trends in electoral outcomes in 53 countries that have so far held elections in



2024 suggest a mixed picture, with more support for the latter outlook than the former.<sup>6</sup>

# The Global North

Germany, despite being a climate champion, did not elect a government that would prioritise climate action. Indeed, the performance of the Green Party was the worst in its record, with right-leaning political parties that campaigned on issues of immigration and security winning broader support.7 Among reasons identified for the loss of support for the Green Party was the controversial policy to decarbonise household heating;8 while most German citizens said they favoured climate action, their willingness to pay for and accept alternative heating technologies mandated by policy did not match expectations.<sup>9</sup> The Green Party conceded that climate action was "too fast and too much" and that people rejected climate action that did not safeguard their social and economic security.<sup>10</sup>

In France, the ascendance of far-right parties as opposed to radical climate action could indicate limits to the adoption of radical decarbonisation plans.<sup>11</sup> Far-right political parties' campaigns that a centre-left government would reduce human activity as a whole, require people to change their boilers at a high cost, and ban the sale of cars with internal combustion engines that would reduce the competitiveness of the automotive industry and increase dependence on China found favor among many voters.<sup>12</sup> In the European Parliament elections, the centre held, but far-right parties gained ground, which means that Europe's fight against climate change, and in particular the European Green Deal, will have limited room for manoeuvre.<sup>13</sup> A climate-skeptical EU Parliament may weaken climate laws that are scheduled to be reviewed in the next few years. Overall, far-right parties in Europe have fashioned a new electoral weapon out of discontent over 'punitive' climate action.<sup>14</sup>

# The Global South

In India, the campaign for elections in 2024 was dominated by messages of material progress through economic growth and the prospect of preserving the prestige of religious identity, even as climate change and environmental protection were listed in the election manifesto of the two leading parties.<sup>15</sup> The Indian approach to climate action, which seeks to meet international obligations without compromising its domestic goals of economic and social progress, has hardly changed in the last three decades, even as governments have changed at the federal and regional level. The new government is not likely to alter course either.

Meanwhile, Mexico elected its first female president, a climate scientist, and the country's updated climate commitment is expected to push for a just, resilient, and lowemission economy.<sup>16</sup> While renewable energy investment may be strengthened, the change in leadership is expected to continue the populist policies of the outgoing leader rather than introduce radical change.
South Africa endorsed a second term for the government that has historically been a strong proponent of climate action and, specifically, a just transition. However, policy moves after the elections indicate support for the protection of coal mining, which is a significant part of South Africa's political economy and its energy basket.<sup>17</sup>

Indonesia elected new leaders in 2024 who are expected to continue to support existing climate policies. The new government's policy to domestically process critical mineral resources such as nickel may inadvertently increase its use of coal given that processing is an energy-intensive process.<sup>18</sup>

#### The Calculus of Climate Consent

The optimistic outlook that democracies will elect climate-friendly governments is based on the premise that collective choicemaking is a means of arriving at a version of "climate truth", discovered through reason or revelation, and which, once discovered, will gain the support of all humanity. This premise rationalist democracy of expects that individual conflicts of interest will, and should, disappear once the electorate becomes fully informed. However, people's electoral choices differ for reasons other than those of climate ignorance, as the outcomes of recent elections illustrate. If the elites cannot regulate the climate excesses of others within the constraints of democracy, we may need a new political paradigm, as Ophuls suggested five decades ago.<sup>19</sup>

- International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance, *The Global State of Democracy 2024*, 2024.
- 2. "The Global State of Democracy 2024, 2024"
- "State of the Climate: 2024 Now Very Likely to be Warmest Year on Record," *Carbon Brief*, July 24, 2024.
- 4. Steven R. Brechin and Seungyun Lee, "Will Democracy Survive Climate Change?," *Sociological Forum* 38, no. 3 (2023).
- Carissa Wong, "Far-Right Gains in European Elections: What They Mean for Climate Goals," Nature, June 10, 2024.
- 6. "The Global State of Democracy 2024, 2024".
- 7. Benjamin Wehrmann, "EU Election Defeat Bodes Ill for German Govt's Climate Ambitions Ahead of State Votes," *Clean Energy Wire*, June 10, 2024.
- 8. Wehrmann, "EU Election Defeat"
- Charly Heberer and Oldag Caspar, "Voters Demand Climate Remains High on Political Agenda," *Germanwatch*, June 20, 2024.
- Wehrmann, "EU Election Defeat Bodes III for German Govt's Climate Ambitions Ahead of State Votes"
- 11. Victor Goury-Laffont, "Macron Wins Shock Vote to Keep Coalition Hopes Alive," *Politico*, July 18, 2024.
- Matthieu Goar, "French Elections: Why Is the Rejection of Environmentalism a Driving Force Behind France's Far-Right Vote," *Le Monde*, June 20, 2024.
- 13. E3G, "Opportunities and Risks for Climate Action After the EU Elections," June 17, 2024.
- Goar, "French Elections: Why Is the Rejection of Environmentalism a Driving Force Behind France's Far Right Vote"
- 15. "India Election: Modi's Divisive Campaign Rhetoric Raises Questions," *BBC News*, October 10, 2024.



- 16. World Resources Institute, "Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) Explained," August 5, 2024.
- 17. Thokozani Chilenga-Butao, "South Africa's Move to Green Energy Was Slowed Down by Government to Protect Coal Mining," The Conversation, September 17, 2024.
- 18. Netra Naik, "Indonesia's President-Elect Has a Good Climate Policy, But Will He Implement It?," Climate Scorecard, April 8, 2024.
- 19. William Ophuls, Ecology and the Politics of Scarcity: Prologue to a Political Theory of the Steady State (W.H. Freeman,1977).



### The End of 2024: A Revolution in the Energy Arena

by Massimo Lombardini

Getty Images/Daniel Bosma

s the end of 2024 approaches, it is interesting to review the latest developments in the energy sector and assess progress in the energy transition. The International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) defines 'energy transition' as a "pathway toward transformation of the global energy sector from fossil-based to zero-carbon by 2050 (IRENA, 2023)."<sup>1</sup> Thus, it is not a quick shift away from fossil fuels and their emissions, but a long-term process towards a carbon-neutral economy by 2050.

Since the invention of the steam engine by James Watt in 1769, greenhouse gas emissions have increased year by year, with a few exceptions, such as in 2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic. The reduction in 2020 was driven by economic collapse due to confinement measures, which sharply



decreased oil demand. In 2021, as global economies recovered, energy use and global emissions rose again.

Another noteworthy aspect of energy transition is that history is filled with similar transitions. The widespread utilisation of the light bulb, invented by Thomas Edison in 1880, replaced kerosene lamps; Henry Ford manufactured his first Ford T in 1908; and by 1914 his company achieved a production of 500,000 units.<sup>2</sup> These transitions typically occur when new technologies replace less efficient methods of energy production or consumption.

Despite the increased efficiency of new technologies, however, energy consumption and associated emissions continue to rise. This trend is often magnified by the so-called Jevon paradox, which posits that greater efficiency in production can lead to an increased consumption.

In 2024, there are indications that greenhouse gas emissions may be nearing their peak, contrary to historical trends. This shift is primarily due to improved energy efficiency, and a massive deployment of renewable technologies, particularly in electricity generation.

In 2023, more than 44 percent<sup>3</sup> of electricity in the European Union (EU) was generated from renewable sources, mainly new solar and wind installations. The same year, approximately 22 percent<sup>4</sup> of electricity was produced by nuclear power, another lowcarbon technology. As a result, in 2023, twothirds of the EU's electricity consumption came from low-carbon sources.

Globally, renewables have not yet matched the growth seen in the EU. Nevertheless, the 2024 World Energy Outlook of the International Energy Agency indicates that by 2035, half of the global electricity will be produced from renewable sources.<sup>5</sup> Photovoltaic will be the primary driver of this increase, as the cost of solar panels has decreased by approximately 90 percent over the last decade.<sup>6</sup>

Besides low cost, solar panels offer several advantages, including having no breakable moving parts nor noise, and the relative ease of transporting, installing, and removing them. Furthermore, harnessing solar energy is free. Finally, solar panels have scalability, allowing for the installation of 10 or 10,000 panels using the same modules and technology.<sup>7</sup>

The increased deployment of solar panels has been impressive. In 2004, the world installed 1 GW of solar energy, whereas preliminary figures for 2024 indicate an installation of 600 GW.<sup>8</sup> The Economist foresees that by 2035, solar panels will become "the single biggest source of electrical power on the planet."9 At the same time, some analysts have raised concerns about the dependence on China for solar technology manufacturing, fearing a shift from dependency on oil suppliers to reliance on Chinese panels. However, the dynamic of utilisation is completely different because if oil supplies are cut off, economies will be stalled. In contrast, if the supply of Chinese panels is blocked, the current generation of panels will continue to function. In other words, while a malevolent supplier could interrupt the supply of solar panels, they cannot turn off the sun.

Another global trend led by China is a progressive electrification of road transport, both domestically and globally. In 2016, 1 million electric vehicles were registered worldwide, rising to10 million in 2022 and 14 million in 2023.<sup>10</sup> While statistics for 2024 are not yet available at the time of writing, in China, which leads in electric vehicles adoption, one in two new cars is already electric. The progressive electrification of road transport will eventually reduce oil demand.

#### **Accelerating Decarbonisation Efforts**

In 2024 Energy Transition Outlook DNV indicates<sup>11</sup> that global emissions are likely to peak by the end of this year. Although the peaking of greenhouse gas emissions would be a positive Copernican revolution, the outlook is not entirely positive, as the pace of reduction in the next decades will not be sufficient to achieve our long-term objective of carbon neutrality by 2050.

There are various reasons for this. While we have made progress in decarbonising the electricity part of our energy mix and will likely continue to do so in the next decade, only a quarter of our energy needs are currently covered by electricity. The remaining part is consumed as heat and steam in buildings, industries, and transportation—sectors that are hard to abate. The natural evolution of energy systems will help in this transition, as electricity is expected to increasingly cover half of our energy needs by 2050. By mid-century, we will probably have the first half of our energy mix largely decarbonised through low-carbon electricity. However, decarbonising the second half of the energy mix, which cannot be electrified, will be more difficult.

Low-carbon heat and steam will be required to abate sectors which are not electrifiable. Although there are different options to decarbonise heat and steam, such as green hydrogen, carbon capture and storage, and different renewable fuels, none of these currently seem adequate to achieve complete decarbonisation.

#### Conclusion

The world is heading in the right direction toward carbon neutrality, but the pace of transition needs acceleration. The challenge for the next decade will be to fully decarbonise electricity which, while not easy, seems feasible. In the following decades, the focus will need to shift to producing lowcarbon heat and steam, which will be more challenging.

The first industrial revolution was driven by the possibility of burning large quantities of fossil fuels for heat and steam. The upcoming green revolution will require significant amounts of low-carbon fuels to generate an adequate supply of heat and steam.



- 1. IRENA, "Energy Transition Outlook," 2023, https:// www.irena.org/Energy-Transition/Outlook
- 2. Automotive Training Centres, "Top Cars by Decade: The 1910s," https://www.autotrainingcentre.com/ blog/top-cars-decade-
- 3. Eurostat, "Renewables Take the Lead in Power Generation in 2023," June, 27, 2024, https:// ec.europa. eu/eurostat/web/products-eurostatnews/w/ddn- 20240627-1
- 4. Eurostat, "Renewables Take the Lead in Power Generation in 2023"
- 5. IEA, *World Energy Outlook*, October 2024, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea. org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2024
- 6. "ESSAY Solar Power Economist," *The Economist,* June 22, 2024.
- 7. "ESSAY Solar Power Economist"
- 8. "ESSAY Solar Power Economist"
- 9. "ESSAY Solar Power Economist"
- 10. EA, Global EV Outlook 2024, April 2024, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea. org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2024/trends-inelectric-carsa
- 11. DNV, Energy Transition Outlook China 2024: A National Forecast to 2050, 2024, DNV\_ETO\_2024\_ Main\_Report\_b (1).pdf



# Energy Transition: Are We on the Right Track?

by Mounia Boucetta

Getty Images/Tunvarat Pruksachat

Agreement in 2015, more than 70 countries committed to accelerating the pace of reducing their carbon footprint. They have formalised roadmaps towards this goal, referred to as 'Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)', setting out their strategies to achieve carbon neutrality.

Both the European Union (EU) and the United States (US) aim to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. The EU roadmap sets its first signpost as the reduction of emissions by 55 percent compared to 1990 levels by 2030. The US, for its part, is aiming for a 40-percent drop in emissions by 2030, with 2005 as reference year. China and India, which remain big greenhouse gas (GHG) emitters, accounting for 30 percent and 8 percent



of global emissions, respectively, have set longer timelines. China is targeting 2060, and India, 2070.

But what are the current trends? In 2023, far from declining, GHG emissions reached a record high, with an increase of 1.9 percent over 2022. Among the six biggest emitters i.e., China, the US, India, the EU, Russia, and Brazil—only the EU and the US recorded declines. Perhaps the only encouraging sign is that there has been a decline in carbon intensity per unit of GDP, although this decrease is insufficient to meet the targeted climate goals.

#### A Decade Since the Paris Agreement

Almost a decade after the conclusion of the Paris Agreement, it is worth evaluating the efficacy of the pathways followed to achieve climate goals and whether the resources deployed are adequate.

It is seen that there is concentration of energy transition efforts only in certain countries and regions. Deployment of established clean technologies such as solar and wind energy has made sustained progress, particularly in China, Europe, and the US, while less established technologies, such as clean hydrogen production or carbon capture and storage systems (CCSS), have very few projects—barely 15 percent of all clean energy projects announced—at the Final Investment Decision (FID) stage.

Electricity production has undergone a transformation, mainly due to the declining

costs of solar and wind energy. As early as 2018, the unit cost of electricity produced from these renewable energy sources became almost the same as that of electricity generated from fossil fuels, marking a turning point in global energy transition.

The installation of solar and wind equipment has grown by an average of 20 percent per year over the past decade. However, gaps have been observed between the capacities announced by states and their actual climate commitments, particularly in the EU and the US, due to challenges related to insufficient electrical grid infrastructure, delays in obtaining permits, and difficulties in raising financing. Only China is making investments in renewable energy at a pace that will enable it to meet its installed capacity targets ahead of schedule.

Overall, however, between 2020 and 2023, only 30 percent of the growth in energy consumption has been covered by renewable energy sources, though the target for this period was over 50 percent.

Electric vehicles (EVs) are also experiencing a positive dynamic, with an annual growth rate of nearly 80 percent in the last decade. However, the development of this market is highly dependent on the expansion of charging infrastructure and battery production, the latter of which is heavily dependent on availability of critical minerals.

Overall, China maintains its leadership in the execution of mega-projects in solar,

wind, and batteries. It ranks first in terms of installed capacity. And yet, it is still the largest emitter in the world, because nearly 80 percent of its power still comes from fossil fuels.

The US has a competitive edge in advanced technologies, innovation, research and development (R&D), energy sector startups, and venture capital. Europe too, is a significant player in the wind energy sector, and also stands out for its regulatory efforts and normative capacity.

#### Accelerating Energy Transition

Improvements in energy intensity (or the amount of energy required to produce a unit of GDP) have been limited to a few countries. While the Paris Agreement set a target of 4 percent improvement annually till 2030, the actual rate in 2023 was only 1.3 percent, lower than in 2022. A gigantic effort will be needed to meet the targets, particularly through construction of lowenergy buildings, adoption of heat pumps, and increased use of EVs.

Geopolitics plays a central role in the evolution of energy resource prices and prioritising of energy transition projects. New rivalries have emerged between global powers, notably the US and China, in technological leadership, control of global supply chains, and access to critical minerals, all of which are also reshaping the global energy security landscape. Developing countries, in particular, need to accelerate their energy transition. The investment gap between these countries and advanced economies continues to widen. In 2024, only 20 percent of the estimated annual clean energy needs of Africa received funding, representing just 2 percent of global investments.

Developing countries face challenges such as the lack of infrastructure, limited access to technology, and the financial burden transition. of They have to achieve affordable energy access and transition to a more sustainable energy model without compromising on economic development. Such a transformation affects not only economic and social development but also many sectors of activity. The transition must be fair and equitable, taking into account the inequalities and specific needs of each region.

It is clear that the success of energy transitions largely depends on the choice of technologies and deployment methods adopted. These not only influence efficiency of transition but also determine the economic, environmental, and social impacts they generate.



M. Crippa et al., *GHG emissions of all world countries*, Luxembourg, European Commission, 2024, https://data. europa.eu/doi/10.2760/4002897

IEA, *Energy Efficiency 2023, November 2023,* Paris, International Energy Agency, 2023, https://www.iea.org/ reports/energy-efficiency-2023, Licence: CC BY 4.0

IEA, *World Energy Investment 2024*, June 2024, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea.org/ reports/world-energy-investment-2024, Licence: CC BY 4.0

IRENA, World Energy Transitions Outlook 2023: 1.5°C Pathway, June 2023, Abu Dhabi, International Renewable Energy Agency, 2023.



Getty Images/Sean Gallup

# Climate as a Political Issue: A Double-Edged Sword

by **Aparna Roy** 

he global shift towards decarbonisation and cleaner energy has garnered momentum in recent years. However, this transition is unfolding amid highly contested domestic elections and complex political realignments that can either bolster or hinder progress. Climate action, a long-term goal, is now aligned with immediate political cycles, with the stakes heightened by public pressure and escalating climate risks.

Climate change has shifted from a technical policy challenge to a central political one, influencing elections as parties and leaders frame climate action as either an economic opportunity or a burden.

Progressive forces see the energy transition as a catalyst for economic growth, job creation, and innovation. They highlight renewable energy, technologies, reduced



fossil fuel dependence, and the mitigation of climate risks. For example, the European Green Deal<sup>1</sup> is positioned as a key to Europe's recovery, with green infrastructure investments generating jobs and advancing net-zero goals.

Conversely, opposition, often from populist and nationalist movements, frames energy transition as a threat to jobs, industries, and national identity, labelling climate policies as "elite projects"<sup>2</sup> disconnected from working-class needs. The electoral victories of leaders such as Donald Trump in the United States (US) and Jair Bolsonaro in Brazil, who reversed environmental regulations to boost traditional sectors like coal, oil, and agriculture, reflects this backlash.

#### The Risk of Policy Reversals

Climate policies are particularly vulnerable in democracies with frequent leadership changes. Elections often lead to the dismantling of previous climate and energy policies due to ideological shifts. For instance, in the US, the Trump administration withdrew<sup>3</sup> from the Paris Agreement, while Biden administration rejoined the the accord<sup>4</sup> as a cornerstone of its climate agenda. This policy vacillation creates uncertainty, deterring long-term clean energy investments and slowing the energy transition.

Similarly, Brazil's political shifts illustrate how leadership changes impact climate policy. Under Bolsonaro, environmental protections in the Amazon were relaxed, and deforestation rates soared.<sup>5</sup> With Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva's return to the presidency in 2023, Brazil has recommitted to combating climate change and assumed a leadership role at the 28th Conference of the Parties (COP28).<sup>6</sup>

In contrast, countries with stronger institutional frameworks—such as Germany—have managed to sustain continuity in their energy transitions. Despite political changes, Germany's commitment to the *Energiewende*,<sup>7</sup> its ambitious clean energy transition plan, has remained steady, supported by broad political consensus around climate action.

#### The Role of Emerging Economies

Political shifts in emerging economies, particularly in Africa, Asia, and Latin America, are crucial for global climate action. Although these nations have contributed less to historical emissions, they suffer the disproportionate brunt of climate impacts while also playing key roles in the clean energy transition. Yet, domestic politics and developmental priorities can complicate green policy implementation.

India's elections this year have highlighted the delicate balance between development and environmental sustainability. As the world's third largest carbon emitter,<sup>8</sup> India is facing tremendous pressure to expand its renewable energy basket while sustaining economic growth. The Indian government has pledged to ramp up solar energy, electric mobility, and green hydrogen,<sup>9</sup> but political considerations, such as energy access for its vast population and agricultural concerns, often shape electoral strategies. Similarly, in Africa, where millions continue to lack electricity access, leaders face the challenge of balancing fossil fuel-based energy development with climate action. Fossil fuel-rich countries like Nigeria<sup>10</sup> and South Africa<sup>11</sup> are working to integrate renewable energy into their energy mix, but elections can influence the pace and direction of these transitions. Campaign promises for affordable energy and economic growth frequently clash with longer-term climate goals.

#### Political Shifts in the Age of Energy Geopolitics

The energy transition is reshaping geopolitics, shifting power to countries endowed with critical minerals like lithium, cobalt, and rareearth elements. This transition influences domestic politics, as governments seek to secure energy supplies, manage energy price volatility, and navigate international trade tensions.

Europe, the war in Ukraine In has underscored the geopolitical risks of fossil fuel dependence, leading to accelerated efforts to diversify energy sources and reduce reliance on Russian gas. This energy crisis has sparked political debates within the European Union (EU) about the pace of the green transition, with rising energy prices emerging as a key electoral issue. Some political parties advocate for temporary return to coal and nuclear energy to ensure security, while others push for faster in renewables investment and energy efficiency.

In the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) reaion. political shifts and domestic contestations are heavily influenced by energy dynamics. Countries like Saudi Arabia and the UAE aim to lead the global energy transition by investing in clean technologies and diversifying their economies. Yet these efforts are linked with domestic political considerations, as leaders seek to maintain social stability and growth amid fluctuating economic oil revenues.

#### Looking Ahead

Elections and political shifts can either accelerate or derail the energy transition, impacting both national economies and global climate targets. To mitigate the risks of policy reversals and ensure long-term progress, it is crucial to build broad-based political coalitions that transcend electoral cycles.

Climate policies must be framed not only as environmental imperatives but as integral to economic resilience, job creation, and social equity. This requires forging alliances across political ideologies and engaging voters with a vision of a future where clean energy fosters inclusive growth. Only through sustained political commitment, even amid changing leadership, can the world hope to achieve its climate and energy transition goals.



- 1. European Commission, "The European Green Deal," https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/ priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal\_en.
- 2. Jean Phillippe Sapinski, "Climate Capitalism and the Global Corporate Elite Network," *Environmental Sociology* 1, no. 4 (2015), https://www.researchgate. net/publication/280080550\_Climate\_capitalism\_ and\_ the\_global\_corporate\_elite\_network.
- White House Archives, "President Trump Announces U.S. Withdrawal from the Paris Climate Accord," June 1, 2017, https://trumpwhitehouse.archives. gov/articles/president-trump-announces-u-swithdrawal-paris-climate-accord/.
- 4. U.S. Department of State, United States Government, https://www.state.gov/briefings/department-pressbriefing-february-19-2021/.
- 5. Deutsche Welle, "Brazil Under Bolsonaro Led Deforestation in Amazon Rainforest in 2022: Study," *The Hindu and Frontline*, July 1, 2023, https:// frontline. thehindu.com/news/brazil-underbolsonaro-led-deforestation-in-amazon-rainforestin-2022-study/ article67018608.ece.
- Government of Brazil, "Brazil at COP28: Climate Leadership and Expectations for a Sustainable Future," November 22, 2023, https://www.gov. br/planalto/en/latest-news/2023/11/brazil-atcop28-climate-leadership-and-expectations-for-asustainable-future.
- "Clean Energy Wire, Germany's Energiewende

   The Easy Guide," *Clean Energy Wire*,
   https://www.cleanenergywire.org/
   easyguide#:~:text=Glossary-,What%20is%20the%20
   Energiewende%3F,energies%20in%20the%20
   power%20sector.
- Johannes Friedrich et al., "This Interactive Chart Shows Changes in the World's Top 10 Emitters," World Resources Institute, March 2, 2023, https:// www.wri.org/insights/interactive-chart-showschanges-worlds-top-10-emitters.

- Ministry of Science and Technology, Government of India, https://pib.gov.in/PressReleaselframePage. aspx?PRID=1961797.
- 10. IRENA, *Renewable Energy Roadmap: Nigeria*, January 2023, Abu Dhabi, International Renewable Energy Agency, 2023.
- 11. Minister of Electricity and Energy Media Statement on 27 September 2024, South Africa Department of Energy.

### SPI @RF 1 POLICY CENTER FOR THE NEW SOUTH



Getty Images/picture alliance

### Green Hydrogen: Uniting the Mediterranean or Fuelling Rivalry?

by Rim Berahab

he Mediterranean region has historically served as a focal point for energy trade between Europe and its southern neighbours. Since the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, concerted efforts have been undertaken to integrate energy markets and ensure mutual benefits. However, the level of energy integration remains limited. In 2023, trade within the Mediterranean region was valued at less than US\$1 trillion annually, representing just one-third of the trade between the Mediterranean and the rest of the world. Of this regional trade, around a third was in energy.<sup>1</sup>



Both the Mediterranean Energy Ring, aimed at connecting the region's electricity grids, and DESERTEC,<sup>a</sup> which sought to harness North African solar energy for Europe, have failed to achieve the integration expected, mainly due to political instability, insufficient cooperation, and infrastructural challenges.<sup>2</sup> Thus, despite the clear potential of such cooperation, aligning the diverse interests of the southern Mediterranean countries and the EU has proved difficult.<sup>3</sup>

#### North Africa's Focus on Green Hydrogen

Global crises, includina the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022, have compelled the European Union (EU) to accelerate its strategy, energy notably through the European Green Deal (EGD). The EGD emphasises green hydrogen as a key solution to decarbonise energy-intensive sectors and reduce dependence on fossil fuels.<sup>4</sup> For the North African countries, these developments present both opportunities and challenges. With established energy infrastructures includina qas pipelines, electric interconnections. and significant energy reserves ranging from oil and natural gas to renewables, they are key partners in the EU's green energy ambitions and stand to benefit from the successes.

Morocco, for one, has been proactive in advancing green hydrogen initiatives, establishing a national hydrogen commission in 2019 and securing key agreements with Germany and the EU. By 2030, Morocco aims to capture 4 percent of the global hydrogen market.<sup>5</sup> These efforts build on the country's early focus on renewable energy, reinforced by favourable policies. Since launching its national energy strategy in 2009, Morocco has worked to increase the share of renewable sources in its energy mix, ensure access to affordable energy, and use resources efficiently while protecting the environment. Βv 2022, renewable energy contributed 7,483 Gigawatt hours (GWh), accounting for approximately 17 percent of total electricity generation, a significant increase from 782 GWh in 2000, reflecting an average annual growth of 11 percent over this period.<sup>6</sup>

In contrast, neighbouring Algeria, despite its vast renewable energy potential, remains cautious about committing to green hydrogen investments. Following the war in Ukraine, Algeria had signalled its interest in green hydrogen by creating a Ministry of Renewable Energy and Energy Transition and announcing a forthcoming national hydrogen strategy. However, in September 2022, the ministry was dissolved and the

a DESERTEC is a large-scale renewable energy initiative, founded in 2009 by the DESERTEC Industrial Initiative (DII), aimed at harnessing solar and wind energy from desert regions to generate clean electricity primarily for Europe. It now exists largely on paper.

hydrogen strategy is yet to be announced. Instead, Algeria has prioritised expansion of fossil fuels, including new contracts with Italian oil giant Eni to increase oil and gas production. Hydrogen is being explored only through a pilot project.<sup>7</sup> Its political tensions with Morocco further complicate the potential for energy cooperation.<sup>8</sup>

Further eastwards, Egypt, with its strategic location and growing renewable energy infrastructure, is also pursuing green hydrogen. It has signed several memorandums of understanding (MoUs) on hydrogen production with European and international investors. As the host of the global Conference of the Parties (COP27) on climate change at Sharm el Sheikh in 2022, Egypt has showcased its green and blue hydrogen<sup>b</sup> ambitions, hoping to attract more investment. Yet, challenges remain since Egypt has moved from being a net exporter of gas to a net importer in recent years, complicating its energy policy. Although the discovery of large gas fields in the Mediterranean Sea in 2014 raised hopes that Egypt could become a significant gas exporter, the expected production has not materialised so far.9

Tunisia represents a distinctive case within the broader North African green hydrogen landscape. While a partnership between the EU and Tunisia is underway and Memorandum of Understanding was signed with Germany in December 2020 to foster a green hydrogen alliance,<sup>10</sup> Tunisia has been slower to scale up renewable energy This is infrastructure. due to several challenges, including regulatory constraints, limited funding, and policy delays. Libya, meanwhile, is constrained in cooperating with the EU by ongoing regional instability. The following sections will therefore focus on Morocco, Algeria, and Egypt.

#### Challenges to Green Hydrogen Development in North Africa

Every country on the southern shore of the Mediterranean faces domestic hurdles in realising its green hydrogen ambitions. For Algeria, green hydrogen investment must contend with the dominance of fossil fuels in its economy, as well as financial and regulatory uncertainties. Egypt struggles with macroeconomic instability and regulatory challenges that hamper its ability to attract and retain foreign investment.11 Morocco, despite its many successes in renewable energy, still faces the immense challenge of scaling up hydrogen production to meet both domestic and export demand. A

b Green hydrogen is hydrogen produced through electrolysis (breaking up water molecules into hydrogen and oxygen) using renewable sources of energy. Blue hydrogen emerges when natural gas is mixed with very hot steam and a catalyst, which breaks it up into hydrogen and carbon monoxide, following which the latter is captured (preventing it from adding to emissions) while the hydrogen is used.



critical obstacle across the region is scarcity of water, essential for green hydrogen production via electrolysis.<sup>12</sup>

Geopolitical tensions pose additional obstacles. The rivalry between Algeria and Morocco continues to destabilise cross-border energy trade. Egypt, despite its potential, remains geographically isolated due to conflicts in neighbouring Libya, making regional cooperation more complex.<sup>13</sup>

There is also the likelihood that the EU's own green hydrogen strategy, while focused importina hydrogen from on the may create Mediterranean. competitive tensions for North African countries with southern European nations such as Spain and Portugal, which also have the potential to become green hydrogen hubs in their own right. The H2Med pipeline between Spain, France, Portugal and Germanyproposed in October 2022<sup>14</sup>—is an example of how internal EU dynamics can complicate partnerships with Mediterranean neighbours.<sup>15</sup> Further, the EU's Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) could inadvertently penalise southern Mediterranean countries by taxing carbon-intensive imports from them, even as these countries supply green hydrogen to the bloc.

#### **Avoiding Past Mistakes**

The EGD's external dimension must ensure that Europe's green transition does not come at the expense of its southern Mediterranean neighbours. A stark lesson comes from the failed DESERTEC project, which aimed to import solar power from North Africa but collapsed due to political instability in the latter, the lack of regional cooperation, and concerns over neo-colonial exploitation of resources. The EU's hydrogen partnerships must be based on equitable, mutually beneficial terms that go beyond merely serving Europe's energy needs. Investments should promote local industrial growth, create jobs, and develop domestic hydrogen value chains, rather than solely extracting resources for European consumption.

The question remains: will green hydrogen unite the Mediterranean in a shared vision of sustainability, or will it deepen existing divides? The answer is complex. It will depend on the EU and the ability of its southern partners to navigate challenges and demonstrate the political will to overcome regional tensions. A just energy transition must address the social, economic, and environmental challenges facing North African countries. This requires ensuring that green hydrogen investments do not exacerbate inequalities or create new forms of resource dependency. Europe's push for green hydrogen must not evolve into 'green colonialism', where the southern Mediterranean countries bear the environmental and social costs while Europe reaps the benefits. By integrating social and climate justice into its green hydrogen partnerships, the EU can help foster a transition that benefits all parties and creates a sustainable, secure energy future for the Mediterranean.

- Ferid Belhaj, "Accelerating Mediterranean Integration Through Energy," World Bank, January 3, 2023, https://blogs.worldbank.org/en/arabvoices/ accelerating-mediterranean-integration-throughenergy
- Gabriele Cassetti and Filomena Annuziata, "Integrated Electricity Grids in The Mediterranean? A Bridge For Energy Cooperation Between Europe And North Africa," ECCO The Italian Climate Change Think Tank, December 4, 2023, https:// eccoclimate.org/ integrated-electricity-grids-in-themediterranean-a-bridge-for-energy-cooperationbetween-europe-and-north-africa/
- 3. Veronica Ertl and Yassine Zegzouti, *Securing Energy, Reshaping Decarbonisation: Reconciling Mediterranean Transitions with Energy Security and Regional Stability, Morocco*, Policy Centre for the New South, 2023, https://www.policycenter. ma/publications/securing-energy-reshapingdecarbonisation-reconciling-mediterranean-energytransitions
- 4. Belhaj, "Accelerating Mediterranean Integration Through Energy"
- 5. Rim Berahab and Afaf Zarkik, *The case of green hydrogen in Morocco*, Morocco, Policy Center for the New South, 2023, https://www.policycenter.ma/ publications/case-green-hydrogen-morocco
- International Energy Agency, "What is the Role of Renewables in Electricity Generation in Morocco?," https://www.iea.org/countries/morocco/ renewables#what-is-the-role-of-renewables-inelectricty-generation-in-morocco
- 7. Giulia Sofia Sarno and Lorenzo Colantoni, A Changing Energy Diplomacy: The External Dimension of the REPowerEU Plan, Rome, Istituto Affari Internazionali, 2023, https://iai.it/en/pubblicazioni/ changing-energy-diplomacy-external-dimensionrepowereu-plan

- 8. Nora Aboushady and Alexia Faus Onbargi, Green Hydrogen Partnerships between the EU and the Southern Mediterranean: Challenges and Opportunities for Coherent and Just Energy Transitions, IEMED, 2023, https://www.iemed.org/ publication/green-hydrogen-partnerships/
- Laura El-Katiri, Sunny Side Up: Maximising the European Green Deal's Potential for North Africa and Europe, European Council on Foreign Relations, 2023, https://ecfr.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2023/01/ Sunny-side-up\_Maximising-the-European-Green- Deals-potential-for-North-Africaand-Europe.pdf
- 10. "Sunny Side Up: Maximising the European Green Deal's Potential for North Africa and Europe"
- "Green Hydrogen Partnerships between the EU and the Southern Mediterranean: Challenges and Opportunities for Coherent and Just Energy Transitions"
- 12. "The case of green hydrogen in Morocco."
- "Green Hydrogen Partnerships between the EU and the Southern Mediterranean: Challenges and Opportunities for Coherent and Just Energy Transitions"
- 14. H2Med Project, "The H2Med Project: Supplying Europa with Affordable Carbon-Free Energy," 2024, https://h2medproject.com/the-h2med-project/
- 15. "Green Hydrogen Partnerships between the EU and the Southern Mediterranean: Challenges and Opportunities for Coherent and Just Energy Transitions"



### Climate Mitigation and Critical Minerals in an Age of Geo-economic Fragmentation

by Alberto Prina Cerai

Getty Images/NurPhoto

The pace of energy transition has to be such that the world reaches netzero emissions by 2050. This will call for a great deal of multilateral cooperation. The Conference of the Parties (COP 29) in Baku, Azerbaijan in November is expected to be a pivotal one for global climate action. However, in the absence of a strong political consensus, and taking into account the current deteriorating global economic outlook, high expectations are uncalled for.

The question is: How will the changing priorities of nations due to the economic situation shape the agency of key actors? Statistics from the International Energy Agency (IEA) show impressive deployment of solar and wind capacities worldwide in 2023,<sup>1</sup> but even this pace will not be enough to reach the intermediate target of reduced

global emissions set for 2030. Renewable energy capacity has to be trebled before 2030—a pledge made by 133 countries at the COP28 in Dubai last year. (Two of the biggest polluters, China and India, however, refused to sign on, setting their net-zero targets at 2060 and 2070, respectively.) A lower fossil fuel-dependent economy could reap great benefits, but achieving this hinges on the affordability and availability of renewable technologies, both increasingly dependent on their manufacturing and capital costs.<sup>2</sup>

The costs of solar panels, wind turbines, and lithium-ion batteries are decreasing due to massive industrial capacities having been built up, especially in China. However, while the adoption of these technologies is spreading, national concerns about the geo-economic implications of dependence on China-a country with the major share of the value chain of materials, components, and assembly for high-tech renewable energy products-are mounting. Its dominance is clearly benefiting China's trade balance and technological prowess.<sup>3</sup> Western governments allege, however, that China has achieved this dominance by subsidising solar, wind, and lithium ion battery manufacturing to the point of overcapacity.

In response, the United States (US) and the European Union (EU) have resorted to protectionist measures. They are framing policies—such industrial as the US's Inflation Reduction Act (IRA)<sup>a</sup> and the EU's Net Zero Industry Act (NZIA)<sup>b</sup>— to lessen this dependence, despite lagging behind China in technology, commercialisation and development of supply chains. Framed also as an opportunity for economic growth and innovation, 'de-coupling' or 'de-risking' from China in these sectors will depend on having stable and competitive access to critical raw materials (CRMs) essential for making solar panels and lithium ion batteries.<sup>4</sup>

The global demand for these minerals will skyrocket by 2040 with various consequences. Chinese industries are already the largest consumers of these minerals: lithium, nickel, cobalt, copper, graphite, manganese, and rareearth elements, which are all among the raw materials classified as 'critical'. Except for the last three—which it possesses domestically and of which it already controls several steps in the supply chain, from mining to refining— China is not particularly endowed with CRM deposits, but has been actively procuring them from overseas.

a The US Inflation Reduction Act, passed in August 2022, comprises a combination of grants, loans, tax provisions and other incentives to accelerate carbon emission reduction. Among its key objectives are further developing domestic clean technology manufacturing to reduce dependence on offshore manufacturing.

b Similarly, the EU Net Zero Industry Act, adopted in May 2024, is a regulatory framework to boost the competitiveness of EU industry, especially the development of clean energy manufacturing, but lacking EU public funds.



In the last decade, Chinese industries, supported by state-owned banks, have heavily invested in acquiring and developing mineral deposits from countries such as the Democratic Republic of Congo (which has 76 percent of the world's mined cobalt),5 Chile (the world's second largest producer of lithium), Argentina (the fourth largest biggest producer),<sup>6</sup> and Indonesia (the producer of nickel). In these and other key countries, the level of China's geopolitical influence and commercial leverage has grown with Chinese public and private capital boosting their metals' supply on global markets, which was restricted earlier due to lack of adequate investment. With economic. technological. and geopolitical friction mounting between the US and China, the risks of increased weaponisation of these resources should not be underestimated. Beijing has already set controls on its own exports of gallium, germanium, and graphite.

Naturally, the CRM-rich countries are also increasingly viewing their geological wealth valuable assets to diversify their as economies and increase local added value, while negotiating their geopolitical posture vis-à-vis Western countries trying to match the Chinese globalising strategy (such as its Belt and Road Initiative). According to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the number of export restrictions on industrial raw materials has increased worldwide from 396 measures in 2009 to 507 in 2021, signalling the fragmentation of trade in these valuable resources.7 Indonesia banned unprocessed nickel exports in 2020, followed by bauxite and raw copper (both in June 2023); Namibia and Zimbabwe took similar measures in 2023 with mined lithium. Significantly, these protectionist policies are also becoming common in Western countries. Canada and Australia have blocked Chinese attempts to acquire domestic rare-earths projects for national security reasons.

The effort to reduce exposure to supplies from China, as well as from politically unstable countries in Africa and elsewhere, is leading the US, the EU, Japan, and South Korea to diversify their supply chains with different sometimes and overlapping strategies. The European Critical Raw Materials Act, for instance, aims to boost critical minerals security by improving domestic mining and processing, while strengthening global partnerships sustainable production on with mineral-rich countries. The Mineral Security Partnership (MSP), led by the US Department of State and joined by other G7 countries, is supporting the implementation of mining projects around the world. Canada and Australia are investing in their mining industries with public incentives to position themselves as alternatives to the Chinese controlled market. The US IRA is currently the most sought after public funding scheme by North American producers seeking to localise their manufacturing, whereby they can access minerals or metals from Canadian suppliers and thus reduce exposure to Chinese industry.

Despite all these attempts, global mineral supply chains "are not well diversified, and recent progress on diversifying supply sources has been limited," as an IEA report notes.<sup>8</sup> Successful energy transition requires reducing dependence on single suppliers, which makes the economics of 're-shoring' (shifting US and other Western manufacturing facilities out of China to other countries) stages of the value chain some of understandable. Still, there is clear evidence that these alternatives being pursued will not be economically viable as long as all political, social, and environmental risks are not addressed and shared.

Economic security is difficult to measure, especially for technologies that have an existing global manufacturing supply chain, or for governments with very different energy policies, priorities, and financial capabilities. The twin objectives of building both a political consensus to pursue decarbonisation efforts. and viable а industrial base that excludes China, could prove conflicting for the West. If each G7 country were to conceive more aggressive industrial policies to manufacture lowtechnologies carbon according its to needs (basically, its National Determined Contributions or NDCs and economic security), or alternatively, if every resource rich-country were to seek more added value from its mineral resources-it is likely that these fragmented policies would harm global decarbonisation efforts.9

Critical minerals are no doubt enabling resources for a low-carbon economy, but they are also in demand for their strategic value. Increased efforts to meet this demand are required, which includes both public and private investments, a new and shared consensus on the urgency on climate action, and an open trade system—three conditions that cannot be taken for granted in this new geo-economic context.



- IEA, *Renewables 2023*, January 2024, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea. org/reports/renewables-2023
- 2. L. Boer et al., "Energy Transition Metals," International Monetary Fund, October 12, 2021, https://www.imf. org/en/Publications/WP/Issues/2021/10/12/ Energy-Transition-Metals-465899
- 3. L. Bian et al., "China's Role in Accelerating the Global Energy Transition Through Green Supply Chains and Trade," London School of Economics, February 2024, https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/ wp-content/uploads/2024/02/Chinas-role-inaccelerating-the-global-energy-transition-throughgreen-supply-chains-and-trade.pdf
- 4. IRENA, Geopolitics of the Energy Transition: Critical Minerals, July 2023, Dubai, International Renewable Energy Agency, 2023, https://www.irena.org/ Publications/2023/Jul/Geopolitics-of-the-Energy-Transition-Critical-Materials
- 5. Andrew L. Gulley, "China, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and Artisanal Cobalt Mining from 2000 Through 2020," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 120, no. 26 (2023), https://www.pnas. org/ doi/10.1073/pnas.2212037120
- A. Prina Cerai, "Geography of Control: A Deep Dive Assessment of Criticality and Lithium Supply Chain, " Mineral Economics 37, 2024, https://link.springer. com/article/10.1007/s13563-023-00414-x
- 7. P. Kowalski et al., Raw materials critical for the green transition: Production, international trade and export restrictions, Paris, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2023, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/trade/ raw-materials-critical-for-the-green-transition\_ c6bb598b-en;jsessionid=d74mGRE5goSq-OYpibHxJ4RhfgBXHsf5v8DeHo7Lip-10-240-5-35
- 8. IEA, *Global Critical Minerals Outlook 2024*, May 2024, Paris, International Energy Agency, 2024.
- 9. Panagiotis Fragkos et al., A Race at All Costs? Economic and Environmental Effects of Industrial Policy Nationalism, ndc aspect, 2024, https://www.ndc-aspects.eu/sites/default/ files/2024-03/20240313\_NDC%20ASPECTS\_D6-3\_ paperB.pdf



Rethinking Global Governance for Climate Migration

by Mehdi Benomar

Getty Images/Luke Dray

s climate-related disasters intensify, the world faces an unprecedented surge in migration driven by environmental factors. In 2023, environmental disasters triggered 26.4 million internal displacements across 148 countries and territories—the third highest figure in a decade.<sup>1</sup> This emerging mobility adds complexity to global migration dynamics, raising a crucial question: how can this challenge be effectively governed to balance environmental, social, and political dimensions?

Climate migration arises from environmental changes that render the livelihoods of vulnerable populations unsustainable. Contrary to the common perception of the South-to-North movement, most climate migrants relocate short distances due to limited resources.<sup>2</sup> For many, especially



farming communities, migration has become a livelihood strategy in response to increasing climate pressures.

The existing legal framework on climate migration is insufficient. Despite years of international negotiations, the result has been mostly non-binding, comprising statements with minimal legal obligations. The 1951 Refugee Convention excludes climate refugees from its definition, denying them the protection and rights accorded to refugees by the 1951 Refugee Convention. While the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) acknowledged, albeit briefly, climateinduced displacement in the 2011 Cancun Agreements, this did not lead to substantial legal commitments. Recent regional initiatives, such as the African Union's Climate Change and Resilient Development Strategy (2022–2032) and the Kampala Convention adopted in 2009, incorporate human mobility into climate policies but a comprehensive international legal framework still requires aligned policies and stronger governance across levels.

#### Governing and Reframing Climate Migration

Despite the growing discourse on establishing legal status for 'climate refugees', international law has yet to recognise those displaced due to environmental factors. However, recent waves of climate litigation suggest that the legal landscape may not be more adaptable than it previously appeared. developments underscore These the imperative for novel governance solutions that acknowledge present legal limitations and extend protections to those who suffer the worst impacts. This raises the question of how we can govern climate migration more effectively to ensure the protection and rights of those most affected.

climate displaces millions As change current response globally, measures are insufficient to address the scale and complexity of climate migration. Governing this issue requires going beyond short-term, crisis-driven responses to embrace more integrated strategies that incorporate human mobility into larger climate adaptation and disaster risk management efforts. This shift demands proactive governance, where global, regional, and national frameworks work together to protect vulnerable populations, offer safe migration pathways, and build resilience against future displacement. Such an approach would be more sustainable and coordinated in tackling climate-induced migration challenges.

To effectively govern climate migration, it is crucial to integrate it into existing global environmental governance frameworks, such as the Paris Agreement of 2015 and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), through an acknowledgment of climate migration as a key aspect of climate action. International agreements should include provisions that address the unique needs displaced populations and support of countries most affected by climate-induced displacement. Incorporating climate migration policies into nationally determined contributions (NDCs) within the Paris Agreement would help countries prepare for and mitigate the effects of displacement. Additionally, linking climate migration to the SDGs, particularly Goal 13 on climate action and Goal 10 on reduction of inequalities, would foster a comprehensive approach toward the root causes and consequences of climate-induced migration.

International and regional cooperation is essential for addressing the complexities of climate migration, enabling the development of comprehensive strategies that consider both immediate and long-term impacts of displacement. Strengthening governance frameworks through collaboration will bring together resources and expertise, allowing for a coordinated, multidimensional response to the challenges of climate-induced migration.

Accurate and timely data is essential for addressing climate migration. A Global Climate Migration Observatory could serve as a centralised platform for monitoring migration patterns, tracking environmental changes, and predicting future displacement hotspots. By consolidating data from governments, research institutions. and international organisations, the observatorv would provide valuable insights to policymakers, informed decision-making enablina and early interventions. This initiative would help enhance coordinated responses and resource allocation, ultimately strengthening the resilience of vulnerable communities worldwide

Reframing climate migration as a form of adaptation rather than failure of resilience can revolutionise our approach to managing displacement. By establishing dedicated support networks, or 'climate mobility centres', we can facilitate safe and organised pathways for those compelled to relocate. These centers would serve as regional hubs, providing essential resources such legal assistance, skill development as programmes, and temporary housing, helping displaced individuals in transitioning into new environments. Integrating these centres into regional adaptation strategies would alleviate the pressure on sensitive areas, making development sustainable by turning migration into an active and controlled process.

current state of climate-induced The displacement highlights the pressing need for stronger governance frameworks and enhanced international cooperation. As climate change intensifies, it is imperative existing to reassess and adapt the international structures to effectively manage the evolving dynamics of global migration. This recalibration is essential to ensure that the global community can respond proactively to the multifaceted challenges of climate migration in a fair and sustainable manner.



- IDMC, Global Report on Internal Displacement (GRID) 2024, May 2024, Geneva, Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, 2024, https://www.internaldisplacement.org/global-report/
- 2. Abdulaziz I. Almulhim et al., "Climate-Induced Migration in the Global South: An in Depth Analysis," *npg Climate Action* 3, no. 47, June 14, 2024, https:// www.nature.com/articles/s44168-024-00133-1



# New Technologies and Digital Transition



# Elections at Risk: The Perils of Online Disinformation

by Anirban Sarma

Getty Images/Stefani Reynolds

The year 2024 has been extraordinary for democracy and technology, with nearly 70 nations holding elections at various levels and "more countries and people lvoting] for their elected leaders than in any year in human history."<sup>1</sup> The internet has been inundated with views and counter-views about political candidates and campaigns, but the digital public sphere has often risked being overrun by a cacophony of polarised voices and a flood of disinformation designed to influence opinions and election outcomes.

The UN Secretary-General had warned of the "grave global harm" caused by the spread of "hate and lies in the digital space".<sup>2</sup> Indeed, disinformation—or information that is not merely inaccurate but intends to deceive and is spread to inflict harm—has continued to damage reputations and destroy public trust in online content. In 2024, 60 percent of online media consumers worldwide believed that news outlets regularly reported false stories, 94 percent of journalists internationally considered fake news to be a significant threat, and 66 percent of consumers in the United States felt that 76 percent of the news on social media is biased.<sup>3</sup>

#### 2024 in Retrospect

Most people today consume news online, particularly through social media, making the latter an especially powerful vector for disinformation. For instance, ahead of the European Parliament elections in June 2024, large-scale coordinated efforts to spread disinformation and promote far-right narratives on social media were prevalent across European Union (EU) member states, chiefly in France and Germany, with multiple social media accounts disseminating fake narratives and pro-Russian, anti-vaccine, and anti-LGBTQ+ discourse in a bid to influence the elections.<sup>4</sup>

The Indian national elections, held from April to June 2024, also witnessed a surge in disinformation. Claims about rigged elections in certain states began to circulate on social media platforms, fake endorsements of politicians from actors in the Hindi film industry went viral, misogynistic posts about female candidates garnered thousands of impressions, and calls for violence against certain communities became widespread.<sup>5</sup> These incidents have raised concerns about the poor enforcement of community guidelines and contentmoderation mechanisms on tech platforms.

Globally, the widespread use of deepfakes was a defining phenomenon of the 2024 elections. The ease of merging audio, video, and images create conflict to highlights the flip side of the strides made by generative Artificial Intelligence (AI). There were several examples of political deepfakes in late 2023, including an audio recording of a Slovakian party leader discussing how to rig the country's general elections.<sup>6</sup> The deployment of deepfakes has grown steadily since. In January 2024, robocalls were made to thousands of American voters in New Hampshire with an audio deepfake of President Joe Biden discouraging them from voting in the state's primary election.7 More recently, Russian trolls used deepfakes of Democratic presidential candidate Kamala Harris, along with fabricated Al-powered imagery and posts that seemed credible at cursory glance, to smear her campaign.8

#### **Fighting Back**

In February 2024, 20 global tech giants and social media platforms signed the 'Tech Accord to Combat Deceptive Use of AI in 2024 Elections' at the Munich Security Conference.<sup>9</sup> Signatories to the Accord committed to work together to develop and implement new technologies to mitigate the risks stemming from deceptive election content and to better police their platforms for fake and harmful content.



However, digital platforms do not appear to be doing enough to fight disinformation. Some social media platforms such as TikTok, Pinterest, and LinkedIn have imposed a blanket ban on political advertising, and others such as Meta and Google now require politicians and political advertisers to disclose any use of digitally altered content or synthetic, Al-generated material in their ads.<sup>10</sup> However, self-regulation will always have inherent limitations, particularly when social media algorithms are themselves designed to inundate user feeds with content-often political disinformation—that sparks suspicion and outrage and thus generates an avalanche of comments, shares, and retweets.

The onus for combating disinformation is by no means on tech companies alone. National laws and policies provide the regulatory undergirding for addressing online threats, and a number of well-established frameworks are in place globally. For instance, India's Technology Information (Intermediary Guidelines and Digital Media Ethics Code) prohibits social Rules, media 2021 intermediaries from uploading or publishing "information which is patently false or untrue or misleading in nature",11 the EU's Digital Services Act requires online platforms to remove disinformation and hate speech; and the United Kingdom's relatively new Online Safety Act 2023 places obligations on platforms to take down illegal content when they become aware of it.12 A combination of more stringent self-regulation, responsible design of algorithms, and more robust enforcement of domestic laws. along with an adherence to their letter and spirit by digital platforms could go a long way towards addressing disinformation.

#### The Road Ahead

As the world steps into 2025, governments, businesses, and citizens must ramp up their efforts to curb disinformation, both during elections as well as with the broader objective of promoting a safer, more ethical cyberspace. This could be done in several ways.

First, the scope of "intermediary liability" must be broadened, and online intermediaries ought to be held more accountable for the content they host. The human and technological resources deploved bv platforms should work towards removing disinformation more proactively. Second, a stronger culture of fact-checking and information verification should be instilled media ecosystem. across the digital Putting in place related capacity-building programmes, codes of conduct, and standard operating procedures at digital media outlets could make a difference. Third. implementation of the antidisinformation laws such as the ones outlined in the previous section should be continually strengthened, and opportunities for adapting them elsewhere must be explored. Finally, AI-driven disinformationdetection solutions should be better attuned to local languages. This can be achieved by building an ecosystem of training data and content in local languages; while it would be a large-scale, long-term undertaking, it could pay rich dividends.

#### Elections at Risk: The Perils of Online Disinformation

- Brad Smith, "Meeting the Moment: Combating AI Deepfakes in Elections Through Today's New Tech Accord," Microsoft, February 16, 2024, https://blogs. microsoft.com/on-the-issues/2024/02/16/aideepfakes-elections-munich-tech-accord/.
- "Online Hate and Lies Causing Grave Global Harm: UN Chief," United Nations Sustainable Development Group, June 12, 2023, https://unsdg.un.org/latest/ stories/online-hate-and-lies-causing-grave-globalharm-un-chief.
- Anton Konopliov, "Key Statistics on Fake News and Misinformation in Media in 2024," *Redline*, June 26, 2024, https://redline.digital/fake-news-statistics/.
- 4. James Thomas, "Huge Disinformation Networks Ensnared France and Germany Ahead of EU Elections," *Euronews*, July 18, 2024, https://www. euronews.com/my-europe/2024/07/18/hugedisinformation-networks-ensnared-france-andgermany-ahead-of-eu-elections.
- David Klepper and Krutika Pathi, "As India Votes, Misinformation Surges on Social Media: 'The Whole Country is Paying the Price'," *AP News*, May 2, 2024, https://apnews.com/article/india-electionmisinformation-meta-youtube-703a56c73f9341393f 05400ea218b87d.
- 6. Seb Butcher, "2024 May Be the Year Online Disinformation Finally Gets the Better of Us," *Politico*, March 25, 2024, https://www.politico.eu/article/euelections-online-disinformation-politics/.
- Alex Seitz-Wald and Mike Memoli, "Fake Joe Biden Robocall Tells New Hampshire Democrats Not to Vote Tuesday," *CNBC News*, January 22, 2024, https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/2024-election/ fake-joe-biden-robocall-tells-new-hampshiredemocrats-not-vote-tuesday-rcna134984.
- Courtney Rozen, "Russia Smears Kamala Harris with Deepfake Video, Microsoft Says," *Bloomberg*, October 23, 2024, https://www.bloomberg.com/ news/articles/2024-10-23/russia-smeared-kamalaharris-with-deepfake-video-microsoft-says.

- Annapurna Roy, "Munich Al Accord: Global Tech Companies Forge Alliance to Combat Misinformation in Elections," *The Economic Times*, February 26, 2024, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/ tech/technology/munich-ai-accord-globaltech-companies-forge-alliance-to-combatmisinformation-in-elections/articleshow/108015508. cms.
- Ki Hong, Tyler Rosen, and Aanchal Chugh, "Deep Concerns Over Political Deepfakes," *Reuters*, May 20, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/legal/ legalindustry/deep-concerns-over-politicaldeepfakes-2024-05-20/.
- 11. Ministry of Electronics and Information Technology, Government of India, *Information Technology* (*Intermediary Guidelines and Digital Media Ethics Code*) *Rules*, 2021, https://www.meity.gov.in/ content/information-technology-intermediaryguidelines-and-digital-media-ethics-coderules-2021.
- 12. Butcher, "2024 May Be the Year Online Disinformation Finally Gets the Better of Us"



### How Artificial Intelligence Will Affect the Economy

by Otaviano Canuto

Getty Images/Yuichiro Chino

rtificial Intelligence (AI) is the name given to the broad spectrum of technologies by which machines can perceive, interpret, learn, and act by imitating human cognitive abilities. With its impressive rate of evolution, AI can produce new content-texts, images, new medical computational codes, possibly diagnoses, and interpretations of data. Automation, meanwhile, was created to better fulfil repetitive tasks, thereby increasing productivity.

Jesús Fernández-Villaverde of the University of Pennsylvania illustrates the fundamental difference between automation and AI: "Artificial intelligence is not designing a robot that will put a screw in a car on a production line when the time comes, but designing a robot that knows how to interpret

**Otaviano Canuto** is Senior Fellow at the PCNS. He is a former Vice President and Executive Director at the World Bank, a former Executive Director at the IMF, and a former Vice President at the Inter-American Development Bank.

that the car arrived crooked to the left or that the screw is broken, and that will be able to react sensibly to this unexpected situation."<sup>1</sup> Artificial intelligence embeds levels of discretionary choice that are absent in automation.

Al will have consequences in areas beyond the economy, including national security, politics, and culture. Government functions are also bound to be reshaped by Al.<sup>2</sup>

In the economy, it promises to reshape many professional functions, in addition to the division of labour and the relationship between workers and physical capital.<sup>3</sup> While the impact of automation has been on repetitive work, the impact of AI tends to be on tasks performed by skilled labour.

What effect will AI have on productivity and economic growth, and on social inclusion and income distribution? The impact on work processes and the labour market will be a key element in answering these questions.

It can be anticipated that, in segments of the work process where the human supervision of AI will continue to be necessary, the trend will be a substantial increase in productivity and the demand for work. In other segments, AI could lead displacements significant to or the elimination of jobs. As Daron Acemoglu and Simon Johnson wrote, "To support shared prosperity, AI needs to complement workers, not replace them."4

The systematic increase in aggregate productivity could, in principle, reinforce

economic growth and, thus, underpin increases in aggregate demand and generate employment opportunities that would compensate for the destruction of jobs. This evolution could also lead to the emergence of new sectors and professional functions, while others disappear, in a dynamic that will go beyond mere intersectoral reallocation.

In addition to the effects on employment and wage-income distribution, income distribution will also depend on the impact of AI on capital income. This will tend to grow in activities that create and leverage AI technologies or have stakes in AI-driven industries. Depending on the implications in terms of the 'market power' of firms, there will be effects on the distributions of capital income and between capital and labour.<sup>5</sup>

In January this year, the IMF released the results of exploratory research into the impact of AI on the future of work.<sup>6</sup> An estimated 60 percent of jobs in advanced economies will be affected, with the percentage falling to 40 percent in emerging economies and 26 percent in low-income countries, because of differences in their current employment structures

The report estimates that half of the jobs impacted will be affected negatively, while the other half may see increases in productivity. The lesser impact on emerging and developing countries will tend to lead to fewer benefits in terms of increased productivity. The report also highlighted how a country's level of preparedness for AI will be relevant when it comes to



maximising the benefits and dealing with the risks of the technology's negative effects. The report includes an index to measure the state of preparation of countries, taking into account digital infrastructure, economic integration and innovation, levels of human capital, labour market policies, and regulation and ethics. In a set of 30 countries evaluated in detail, Singapore, the United States, and Germany rank in the top positions, while middle-income countries appear alongside low-income countries at the bottom.<sup>7</sup>

As such, increasing each country's level of Al preparedness should clearly be considered a policy priority.

- Jesús Fernández-Villaverde, "La economía de la inteligencia artificial: unas ideas básicas," El Confidenvial, May 1, 2023, https://blogs. elconfidencial.com/economia/la-manovisible/2023-05-01/economia-de-la-inteligenciaartificial-ideas-basicas\_3620152/
- Tiago C. Peixoto et al., "AI and the Future of Government: Unexpected Effects and Critical Challenges," Policy Center for the New South, March 2024, https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/ files/2024-03/PB\_10-24\_C.%20Peixoto%2C%20 Otaviano%20Canuto%2CLuke%20Jordan.pdf
- Nassira Abbas et al., "Artificial Intelligence Can Make Markets More Efficient—and More Volatile," International Monetary Fund, October 2024, https:// www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/ files/2024-03/ PB\_10-24\_C.%20Peixoto%2C%20 Otaviano%20 Canuto%2CLuke%20Jordan.pdf
- 4. Daron Acemoglu and Simon Johnson, "Rebalancing Al," International Monetary Fund, December 2023, https://www.policycenter.ma/sites/default/ files/2024-03/PB\_10-24\_C.%20Peixoto%2C%20 Otaviano%20Canuto%2CLuke%20Jordan.pdf
- Philip Yang and Otaviano Canuto, "Capital, Labor, and Land in the Digital Transition," Policy Center for the New South, October 2024, https://www. policycenter.ma/sites/default/files/2024-10/PP\_17-24%20%28Otaviano%20Canuto%20%26%20Philip%20 Yang%29.pdf
- Mauro Cazzaniga et al., "Gen-AI: Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Work," International Monetary Fund, January 14, 2024, https://www.imf.org/ en/Publications/Staff-Discussion-Notes/ Issues/2024/01/14/Gen-AI-Artificial-Intelligenceand-the-Future-of-Work-542379
- 7. Cazzaniga et al, "Gen-AI: Artificial Intelligence and the Future of Work"



Getty Images/NurPhoto

# Securing Elections in the Digital Age

by Sameer Patil

igital technologies have ushered in tremendous benefits for democracies worldwide. enhancing citizen engagement and improving governance. They have also impacted the conduct of elections—universally regarded as the central institution of democratic representative governments—as political parties seek to exploit cyberspace and social media for their campaigns and authorities leverage technological tools in executing election processes. These same technologies. however, have also created new vulnerabilities as foreign interest and interference grow, undermining the very spirit of democratic polls. Therefore, this year, in what is a pivotal year for elections, democracies worldwide have been preoccupied with preserving the integrity of the election process and, thereby, upholding the social contract.



#### Harnessing New Technologies

The advent of digital technologies, including social media, has provided new avenues for political parties to communicate their ideas to both their own cadres and potential voters. Indeed, social media has now become an intrinsic part of election campaigning.<sup>1</sup> In recent years, data science and computational analytics, including artificial intelligence (AI), have provided political parties with tools to execute sophisticated and targeted election campaigns. The advent of commercial generative AI applications now provides another potent instrument for political campaigning. Almost all influential political parties worldwide use them in various activities, including to generate synthetic (alternatively termed 'deepfake') videos.<sup>2</sup> This has mainly benefitted political parties at the fringes. For instance, far-right parties in Europe utilised generative AI tools in this year's elections to amplify their political messaging.<sup>3</sup> As expected, this also caused a flood of disinformation in the run-up to the polls.4

The other side of new technologies is their use by poll officials to improve election processes. A number of countries are now embracing electronic voting—34 of 178 countries in the ICTs in Elections Database with almost half of them using electronic voting machines.<sup>5</sup> In 2024, officials also explored the utility of other emerging technologies such as blockchain, whose decentralised and distributed nature potentially makes it a helpful technology for voting. In one experiment a few years ago, India developed a proof of concept of a blockchain-based remote voting system.<sup>6</sup> While some studies have speculated on the technology's potential to increase voter turnout and reduce fraud, others have voiced concerns.<sup>78</sup>

#### Cyberattacks Targeting Election Infrastructure

Even as tech use in elections expands, rogue actors and adversaries, particularly authoritarian regimes, have sought to weaponise technology by targeting the election ecosystem, including poll officials and infrastructure.<sup>9</sup> In June 2024, for instance, hackers launched distributed denial of service (DDoS) attacks on the websites of French political parties<sup>10</sup> According to the cybersecurity firm Cloudflare, such DDoS attacks often distract IT teams while looking for other types of vulnerabilities.<sup>11</sup> In another high-profile instance, authorities in the United States blamed Iran for hacking into the 2024 campaign of the then Republican party nominee, and now newly elected president, Donald Trump.<sup>12</sup>

Yet, this phenomenon is not unique to Western democracies. Other countries, too, have experienced such breaches. For instance, in February this year, a data breach in Indonesia revealed a leak of voter information that could have been used to launch foreign disinformation campaigns during the presidential elections.<sup>13</sup> Earlier, in January, Bangladesh's Election Commission claimed a DDoS attack on its services.<sup>14</sup> Overall, according to cybersecurity firm Resecurity, the proportion of global elections targeted by cyberattacks skyrocketed from 10 percent in 2015 to 26 percent in 2022.<sup>15</sup>

These attacks adversely impact democracies in two critical ways: they diminish the sanctity of elections and undermine citizens' trust in their countries' ability to protect the fundamental process that separates them from non-democracies: and have also caused a flood of misinformation and disinformation around the election process, suppression, claiming voter election engineering, and misuse of voting machines. For instance, in the past year, American billionaire Elon Musk has often stoked speculations about the hacking of electronic voting machines.<sup>16</sup>

#### Focus on Resilience

The growing use of digital technologies in elections and the accompanying vulnerabilities have prompted governments to take active domestic measures to protect their electoral processes and allay concerns about the integrity of voting machines. Many of them have focused on strengthening the cybersecurity of election infrastructure, as seen in the US, UK, Canada, and Taiwan.<sup>17,18,19,20</sup>

Other countries have looked to combat misinformation and disinformation to ensure the integrity of the electoral process. For example, during the Lok Sabha elections in April and May this year, the Election Commission of India (ECI) launched a dedicated portal to combat fake news and misinformation.<sup>21</sup> The Ministry of Electronics

and Information Technology also issued an advisory to generative AI companies, asking them to take central government's permission to generate outputs from undertesting or unreliable AI systems.<sup>22</sup> In addition, the ECI undertook awareness campaigns about the basic features of electronic voting machines and other parts of the voting process.<sup>23</sup> Similarly, before the National Assembly Elections in South Korea in May 2024, tech giant Naver Corp declared restrictions on its AI chatbot services from generating inappropriate content that could potentially violate domestic elections laws.24

#### Conclusion

New and emerging technologies have raised the stakes for election integrity, and democracies have taken steps to secure elections. However, this challenge cannot be tackled by countries on their own. Likeminded democratic states must collaborate to secure their election processes and protect their citizens from disinformation. At the heart of this cooperation is the cybersecurity of election infrastructure and safeguarding against foreign interference. There is a corollary imperative to engage in deeper reflection about the evolving role of generative AI tools in political campaigning, as it can further diminish already weakening citizens' trust in democratic polities. With authoritarian regimes and rogue actors determined imperil democracies, to securing elections in the digital age requires democratic governments to think and act decisively.



- Ralph Schroeder, Social Theory After the Internet: Media, Technology, and Globalization (London: University College London Press, 2018), pp. 60–81.
- 2. Rohan Whitehead, "The Impact of Data Science on Political Campaigns," *Institute of Global Analytics,* August 15, 2024, https://ioaglobal.org/blog/impactdata-science-political-campaigns/.
- 3. Anna Desmarais, "Far-right, Including France's National Rally, Use AI to Support Political Messaging, Reports Say," *Euronews*, July 7, 2024, https:// www.euronews.com/next/2024/07/04/far-rightincluding-frances-national-rally-use-ai-to-supportpolitical-messaging-reports-c.
- "Dealing with Far-right Radicalisation and Disinformation," Friends of Europe, 2022, https:// www.friendsofeurope.org/events/dealing-with-farright-radicalisation-and-disinformation/.
- "Use of E-Voting Around the World," International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance, February 6, 2023, https://www.idea.int/newsmedia/ multimedia-reports/use-e-voting-aroundworld.
- Ministry of Electronics and Information, Government of India, "Remote Voting Chain – PoC," https:// blockchain.gov.in/Home/ CaseStudy?CaseStudy=rem otevotingchain.
- Kevin C. Desouza and Kiran Kabtta Somvanshi, "How Blockchain Could Improve Election Transparency," *Brookings*, May 30, 2018, https://www.brookings. edu/ articles/how-blockchain-could-improveelection-transparency/.
- Sunoo Park et al., "Going from Bad to Worse: from Internet Voting to Blockchain Voting," *Journal of Cybersecurity*, 2021:1–15, https://static1.squarespace. com/static/59aae5e9a803bb10bedeb03e/t/615c75 f9eaae697e540f5c4f/1633449465655/VotingPaper-Rivest,+Narula,+Sunoo.pdf.

- Kelli Vanderlee and Jamie Collier, "Poll Vaulting: Cyber Threats to Global Elections," *Google Cloud*, April 25, 2024, https://cloud.google.com/blog/ topics/threat-intelligence/cyber-threats-globalelections.
- João Tomé, "First Round of French Election: Party Attacks and a Modest Traffic Dip," *Cloudflare Blog*, July 3, 2024, https://blog.cloudflare.com/firstround-of-french-election-2024-party-attacks-anda-modest-traffic-dip/.
- João Tomé, "French Elections: Political Cyber Attacks and Internet Traffic Shifts," Cloudflare Blog, July 8, 2024, https://blog.cloudflare.com/2024-frenchelections-political-cyber-attacks-and-internettraffic-shifts/.
- 12. David E. Sanger and Michael Gold, "The Hacking of Presidential Campaigns Begins, With the Usual Fog of Motives," The New York Times, August 11, 2024, https://www.nytimes.com/2024/08/11/us/politics/ trump-campaign-hacking-iran.html.
- 13. "Vast Voter Data Leaks Cast Shadow Over Indonesia's 2024 Presidential Election," Resecurity, January 12, 2024, https://www.resecurity.com/blog/ article/vast-voter-data-leaks-cast-shadow-overindonesias-2024-presidential-election.
- 14. Tribune Desk, "EC Secretary: Cyber Attack on Smart EC App from 2 Countries," *Dhaka Tribune*, January 7, 2024, https://www.dhakatribune.com/ bangladesh/336109/ec-secretary-cyber-attack-onsmart-ec-app-from-2.
- 15. "Global Malicious Activity Targeting Elections is Skyrocketing," Resecurity, February 12, 2024, https:// www.resecurity.com/blog/article/global-maliciousactivity-targeting-elections-is-skyrocketing.
- Elon Musk (@elonmusk), "We should eliminate electronic voting machines. The risk of being hacked by humans or AI, while small, is still too high.," X Post, June 15, 2024, https://x.com/elonmusk/ status/1801977467218853932.

- 17. Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency, "Election Security," https://www.cisa.gov/topics/ election-security.
- 18. Cabinet Office, "Guidance: Security Guidance for Elections," March 25, 2021, https://www.gov.uk/ government/publications/security-guidance-formay-2021-elections.
- 19. Election Canada, "Election Integrity and Security," https://www.elections.ca/content.aspx?section=vot &dir=int&document=index&lang=e.
- 20. David Klepper and Huizhong Wu, "How Taiwan Preserved Election Integrity by Fighting Back Against Disinformation," *PBS News*, January 27, 2024, https://www.pbs.org/newshour/world/how-taiwanpreserved-election-integrity-by-fighting-backagainst-disinformation.
- 21. Election Commission of India, "Myth vs Reality," https://mythvsreality.eci.gov.in/.
- 22. Soumyarendra Barik, "For 'election Integrity,' Centre Asks GenAl Firms to Seek Nod Before Use," *The Indian Express*, March 3, 2024, https://indianexpress. com/article/technology/artificial-intelligence/ lok-sabha-polls-2024-centre-ai-companiesnotice-9191893/.
- 23. Election Commission, Government of India, https://pib.gov.in/PressReleaselframePage. aspx?PRID=1997544.
- 24. Seungmin (Helen) Lee, "AI and Elections: Lessons From South Korea," *The Diplomat,* May 13, 2024, https://thediplomat.com/2024/05/ai-andelections-lessons-from-south-korea/.



0

Via Clerici 5 20121 Milan Ph: +39028633131 www.ispionline.it ispi.segreteria@ispionline.it



20 Rouse Avenue New Delhi-110002 Ph: +91-11-43520020 www.orfonline.org info@orfonline.org



Rabat Campus of Mohammed VI Polytechnic University (UM6P) Rocade Rabat-Salé 11103 Sala Al Jadida Morocco Ph: +212 537 54 04 04 www.policycenter.ma contact@policycenter.ma